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Wednesday, March 22, 2023
--- On commencing at 9:30 a.m.

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, everyone.  Welcome to day one of the technical conference at EB-2022-0200, the Enbridge rebasing proceeding.

My name is Michael Millar, and I'm counsel for OEB Staff, and along with my co-counsel, Ian Richler, I will be your master of ceremonies for the next eight days.

Before we continue, Cherida, could I ask you to do the land acknowledgment.
Land Acknowledgement:


MS. WALTER:  The Ontario Energy Board acknowledges that our headquarters in Toronto is located on the traditional territory of many nations, including the Mississaugas of the Credit, the Anishnabeg, the Chippewa, the Haudenosaunee, and the Wendat peoples.  This area is now home to many diverse First Nations, Inuit, and Métis Peoples.  We also acknowledge that Toronto is covered by Treaty 13 with the Mississaugas of the Credit.

We are grateful for the opportunity to gather and work on this land, and recognize our shared responsibility to support and be good stewards of it.  Thanks.

MR. MILLAR:  Great.  Thank you, Cherida.

We have a very full schedule over the next week and a half.  The OEB added three days to the technical conference, but I note that we are still about five hours over time, so this is time we're going to have to make up somehow.

We are going to see how things play out over the next couple of days, but if we haven't made up any time, we are going to have to start looking at cutting people's time proactively, so we'll see how that works out.

All of which is to say we don't really have any time to waste, and I know I can count on the cooperation of intervenors and the applicant alike to work cooperatively and efficiently to get us through all the questions in the time that we have allotted.  And I hope you will forgive me if from time to time I hector and cajole you to keep things moving.

A reminder that you generally should keep your camera off and your mute on if you aren't speaking.  Please raise your hand if you feel the need to interject, and state your name before you speak to assist the court reporter.  That's quite important in these virtual sessions.
Appearances:


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I'm going to do  a roll call for appearances.  I'm just going to go through the whole list of intervenors and maybe some folks who aren't here, and that's fine.  But I'm just going to call out the names.  If you are here representing that party, let me know.  Hopefully just one party can speak on behalf of everyone.

So I'll just start with Staff again.  My name is Michael Millar.  My co-counsel is Ian Richler.  Most of you will know that Khalil Viraney is the case manager for this file.  There will also be various other staffers in and out asking questions and keeping an eye on things.  I won't introduce all of them right now because I'm actually not sure who is in the room with us, but of course you will also know Cherida Walter, who is assisting us with putting all of this together.

So let me start with the applicant.  Can I turn to you, David?

MR. STEVENS:  Thanks very much, Michael, and good morning, everybody.  My name is David Stevens.  I'm assisting Enbridge Gas as counsel in this proceeding.  With me is my colleague, Dennis O'Leary, who is also acting as counsel, and from --


MR. O'LEARY:  Good morning.

MR. STEVENS:  -- from time to time, Dennis and I will be joined by Tanya Persad and Henry Wren, who are lawyers with Enbridge Gas.  Along with us today are members of the Enbridge Gas regulatory staff.

Today we have with us Mark Kitchen, Vanessa Innis, and Patricia Squires.  From time to time there will be other regulatory- group representatives joining us, and I'll try to remember to introduce them at the appropriate time.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Great.  Thanks, David.

I'm going to go through the list alphabetically, so let's start with the Association of Power Producers of Ontario.

MR. YAUCH:  Yup, Brady Yauch, I'm here.

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Brady.  Anyone --


MR. YAUCH:  Good morning.

MR. MILLAR:  Anyone here from Atura Power?  Not seeing -- Brady, could I ask you to go on -- just a reminder again for people to go back on mute if they're not speaking.  Next up, Building Owners and Managers Association?

MR. JARVIS:  Yes, Ian Jarvis here, representing BOMA.


MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Ian.  Canadian Biogas Association?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Good morning, Michael Buonaguro, counsel for the Canadian Biogas Association.  I am also here as counsel for the Ontario Greenhouse Vegetable Growers, so you can see me --


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Great.  Thank you, Mike.

The City of Kitchener.

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Good morning, is (inaudible), senior vice-chair representing Kitchener Utilities.

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning.  Next I have Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.

MR. POLLOCK:  Good morning, Scott Pollock, counsel on behalf of Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning.  The Coalition for Renewable Natural Gas.  Not hearing anyone, I will move to the Consumers Council of Canada.

MS. GIRVAN:  Julie Girvan on behalf of the Consumers Council of Canada.

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Julie.

MS. GIRVAN:  Good morning.

MR. MILLAR:  Enercare Home and Commercial Services.  Moving on to Energy Probe.

MR. LADANYI:  Good morning, Tom Ladanyi, here for Energy Probe, and with me is Dr. Roger Higgin, who is also representing Energy Probe.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Environmental Defence.

MR. ELSON:  Good morning, Kent Elson for Environmental Defence.

MR. MILLAR:  The Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario.

MR. QUINN:  Good morning, Michael.  Dwayne Quinn on behalf of FRPO.

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning.  Ginoogamin First Nation.

MR. VOLLMER:  Good morning, Daniel Vollmer, counsel for Ginoogamin First Nation.

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning.  Next I see the Green Energy Coalition.

MR. POCH:  David Poch for the Green Energy Coalition.  Joining us for part of this will be Chris Neme, who is writing an expert report sponsored by both ED and GEC, and I will be asking Chris to do some of the questioning later today or tomorrow just to speed things along.

MR. MILLAR:  Great, thanks, David.  Anyone here from the Independent Electricity System Operator?  Let's move on to the Industrial Gas Users Association.

MR. MONDROW:  Good morning, everybody.  Ian Mondrow, counsel for IGUA.

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Ian.  Next, Koch Canada Energy Services.  I will move on to London Property Management Association.

MR. AIKEN:  Good morning, Michael and everyone.  Randy Aiken for LPMA.

MR. MILLAR:  Oh, hello, Randy.  Long time no see.  Welcome.

I have next the Ontario Association of Physical Plant Administrators.  Next I have OGVG.  I already took Mr. Buonaguro's appearance for that.  So next is the Otter Creek Cooperative Homes Inc.

MS. LEADBETTER:  Good morning.  Stacy Leadbetter.  Good morning.  I'm here for Otter Creek.

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning.  Pollution Probe.

MR. BROPHY:  Good morning, everybody.  Michael Brophy on behalf of Pollution Probe.

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning.  Quinte Manufacturers Association.

MR. McLEOD:  Good morning, everyone.  My name is Michael McLeod for Quinte Manufacturers.

MR. MILLAR:  The School Energy Coalition.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Good morning, Mark Rubenstein, counsel for the School Energy Coalition, and I will be joined during the technical conference from time to time by my colleague, Jay Shepherd, and SEC consultant, Jain Scott.

MR. MILLAR:  Oh, I see Jain there.  Hello, Jain.

Six Nations Natural Gas Company Limited.

MS. WAINEWRIGHT:  Good morning, everyone.  Linda Wainewright here.  I am also joined by Tracy Skye, who is the general manager of Six Nations Natural Gas.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Linda.

Three Fires Group?

MR. DAUBE:  Hi, there.  Nick Daube, here for Three Fires [audio dropout]


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Daube.  TransCanada Pipelines Limited.

MR. MUSIAL:  Good morning, it's Kevin Musial for TCPL.

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning.  Anyone here from Unifor?  Moving on to the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.

MR. GARNER:  Mark Garner for VECC.  Good morning, Mike.

MR. MILLAR:  Hi, Mark.  And last but not least, I have the Ontario Petroleum Institute.  I'm not sure why they came after V, but here we are.

MR. LEWIS:  Good morning, Scott Lewis with the OPI.

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Scott.

Okay, that's all I have on the list.  Have I missed anyone who will be asking questions on behalf of an intervenor, or an individual, for that matter?

Okay.  Not hearing anyone, David, I'm going to pass it over to you to -- I'm not sure if there are any preliminary matters, but otherwise you could introduce your panel and we can get right to the questions.
Preliminary Matters:


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you, Michael.

I am going to turn it over to Dennis in a moment to introduce the panel and proceed with the examinations, but before that, just a few sort of housekeeping or introductory comments that we hope will be helpful to everybody.

First of all, as we noted when some people were on the call earlier, most of the witnesses for Enbridge will be appearing in panel style, as you can see.

The witnesses are all on same camera and all speaking through the same microphone.  From time to time -- in order to help the reporter, the witnesses will hold up or will try to remember to hold up a green card when they are about to speak, to draw attention to the person who is speaking.

I think if people keep their view on speaker view the witnesses should appear fairly large on the screen so you can see who is talking.

The witnesses will also endeavor to introduce themselves as they're speaking so it is obvious who is talking.

From time to time, the witnesses may take the opportunity to conference amongst themselves.  What they will do in that scenario is hit mute on the microphone but the camera will stay on, and the witnesses will confer amongst themselves and when they're ready to proceed, will turn the microphone back on.

The exception there is that Enbridge will from time to time have witnesses who are appearing remotely.  For example, here for this first panel, that Ms. Pennington is appearing remotely.  So those folks will show up as a separate participant in this Zoom meeting.

Where a conference is required involving the Enbridge witnesses who are sitting together as well as the remote witness, then the witnesses will request that they be allowed to move into a breakout room.  We're hoping, though, that to the extent that most of the questions are flowing through the folks in the room, that we can save a little bit of time not having to actually move in and out of breakout rooms.

I want to note just so people understand what's happening, that counsel, as well as the Enbridge regulatory staff, are in the same room as the witnesses,  but we're appearing on our own screens through a separate Zoom connection.  We are, however, all using the same audio connection.  We couldn't figure out any different way to do that without terrible feedback.  And so it results in the oddity where I'm speaking but the window is lit up around the witnesses'.

Whether it's counsel or regulatory staff, when any of us have something to speak about we will turn on our camera so hopefully it will be obvious that we're about to speak or that we are speaking.

A couple of requests for parties just to make this run smoothly.  First, we expect that there will be lots of references to interrogatories and we make our away through the technical conference.  You may have noted that the interrogatories are indexed by evidence, rather than by intervenor, and so as Angela Monforton helps us by putting the documents up on the screen, it will be most helpful if the questioners can refer to the full descriptor for the interrogatory so, for example, 1.10.SEC-point-whatever number, rather than simply saying SEC-dot-number.  So please use the full descriptor.

And our second request is that where parties have compendia or items to bring to the attention of the witness panel, we'd ask that at a minimum those be sent to the EGI regulatory proceedings email.  It may be that person sending materials chooses to include others, but it is important for us in terms of quick distribution that at the very least that email address be used to send materials.

Those were the introductory remarks I have.  I'm not sure if Dennis has anything to add but I will turn it over to him now.  Thanks very much.

MR. O'LEARY:  Thanks, David.  I just have a couple of introductory matters.  One is to identify the fact that the CV for the virtual witness this morning, Catherine Pennington, was filed this morning.  And as well, in the same filing there was an attachment exhibit I.1.10.Staff.27 part (a) to attachment one was also filed.  So just an update on that.

So with that, unless there are any questions may I ask the panel to introduce themselves.  I'm going to ask Ms. Lindley who hopefully appears on the left-hand side of your screen to start and we'll go down, across the entire group of panelists, and then I'll ask Ms. Pennington to introduce herself as well and then we can commence with the questions.

MS. LINDLEY:  Thanks.  Trinette Lindley, manager, portfolio management, with accountability for the portfolio of integration initiatives.

MS. FERGUSON:  Tanya Ferguson, EP financing business partner for Enbridge Gas Inc.

MS. DREVENY:  Danielle Dreveny, manager of capital financial planning and analysis for Enbridge.

MS. SWEET:  Karen Sweet.  I'm the supervisor of the customer and market insights team.  I'll be speaking to the customer engagement in terms of the work that Enbridge Gas did.

MR. LYLE:  Greg Lyle with innovative research.  We conducted the customer engagement activities.

MS. PENNINGTON:  Good morning.  Catherine Pennington, manager of community and Indigenous engagement for EGI.  Thank you.
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MR. MILLAR: Mr. O'Leary, is the panel ready for questions?

MR. O'LEARY:  We are, Mr. Millar.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you very much.

Mr. Vollmer, I think you are up first and I have you down for up to 45 minutes and we're starting right at 9:46, so I will turn it over to you volume great.
Examination by Mr. Vollmer:


MR. VOLLMER:  Great.  Thank you, Daniel Vollmer for Ginoogaming First Nation.  I guess I'll jump right in.

I guess the reference will be 1.1.GFN.2 interrogatory response.

In Enbridge's response to our question about the policy, internal policy frameworks and guidance including the Indigenous Peoples Policy, they noted that the over-arching principles in the IPP, including the recognition of the importance of reconciliation between Indigenous Peoples and broader society will continue to guide Enbridge Gas' interaction with Indigenous communities and peoples.

So I guess my first question is:  Would it be possible to just unpack what you mean by over-arching principles in the IPP will continue to guide Enbridge Gas interactions with Indigenous Peoples and communicate in relation to the application?


MS. PENNINGTON:  I will answer that first question, thank you.  I think I would just note in terms of trying to unpack what we mean that that the Indigenous Peoples Policy is effectively a policy framework that governs how it is that we operate and work with Indigenous Nations, communities, and groups across the enterprise.

So of course this includes items like respect for UNDRIP and governing laws, as well as legal and constitutional rights, additionally equity and inclusion, and education more broadly.


So it does guide Enbridge in how we operate and engage with Indigenous Peoples.

MR. VOLLMER:  And just -- would you be able to provide a bit more context of how that has guided the application from, I guess, the beginning and then how that moving forward throughout the application and as it gets approved in whatever form it does, if it does; what that's going to continue to look like and how Enbridge will be guided by these frameworks?


MS. PENNINGTON:  Well, as it relates to the application, although we included Indigenous engagement as part of the overall arching community and customer engagement program for the application, the way in which we engage with Indigenous Peoples is fundamentally guided by this document.

So that includes our activities in the future and of course during this process.  But as we look to consult on specific programs and operations and projects, then those principles are also included in our interactions.

MR. VOLLMER:  Great.  I was just wondering if you could just maybe speak to any specifics of how these principles are currently guiding interactions with Enbridge's Indigenous customers.

MS. PENNINGTON:  Well I think it's fair to say that as we engage with Nations and we look to employ these practices, we talk about early engagement, open engagement, two-way dialogue, information-sharing, capacity support, as we consult and engage on projects and operations.

On policy items that are more broad, that are outside of specific consultation requirements, such as this application, we would look to ensure that information is distributed and shared, as it was as part of this proceeding to customers that are utilizers of gas.

MR. VOLLMER:  Great, thanks.

My next question, I guess reference, is 1.6 GFN.4, and the responses (c) to (e).

Great.  So in the application Enbridge Gas stated that it conducted an extensive customer engagement process throughout 2021 and early 2022 in support of the application, and in addition EGI noted that the objective as customer engagement was to integrate customer feedback into the business planning process, as this would ensure the application adequately reflects and is responsive to customer needs and preferences.

And then in Enbridge's response to your question, they noted the concerns and views of affected First Nation members are combined with the views of all customers who participated in the customer engagement.

So my first question is, were there any concerns raised by First Nations customers that were not raised by any other customer group?

MS. SWEET:  So se gave participants of the customer engagement the opportunity to identify as being part of an Indigenous group.  That was done for sample-checking purposes, and we did not look at the results for that group of respondents specifically.

MR. VOLLMER:  All right.  Is it possible to pull out those responses and separate them from, I guess, the other responses that you received, or has that all just been aggregated together?

MS. SWEET:  It's been aggregated together in all of the reports.

MR. VOLLMER:  All right.  Is it also -- would it be possible to -- I know that it's -- I think it was in Three Fires, one of their responses, that you noted the two percent of the residential workbook sample identified themselves as Indigenous.

Are you able to provide any kind of geographic breakdown of where those people were located, whether there was groupings in northern Ontario or southwestern Ontario, just to get an idea of the Indigenous participation and how that kind of was geographically spread?

MS. SWEET:  It might be possible to do that.  We haven't done that to date.

We did look for the overall sample at the geographic distribution, so for all customers that participated we were looking for that, but not for that specific group.

MR. VOLLMER:  If it is possible, would it be able to provide that to us as an undertaking response?

MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Vollmer, my interpretation of what I'm hearing is that it wasn't done in the past and therefore wasn't relied upon at all by the company, so I am just wondering if you can help me understand how that would be at all helpful.

MR. VOLLMER:  For us it would be helpful to be understand the views that we are taking from Indigenous customers, if they're located -- where they're located from.  There could be varying views that are -- could be used that could be -- that would have different views from a First Nation in northern Ontario versus southern Ontario, what they actually would want to know and have their views and concerns addressed, and so understanding the customer engagement that actually occurred and what groups of First Nations and individuals participated would help us better understand that.

If it's not possible, it's not possible.  I understand that as well.

MR. O'LEARY:  I think we'd have to take it away, because it does sound a like a lot of work.  You've got to recall that there were thousands of responses, and so it is a massive undertaking that you are referencing, but we can take it away and talk about it and get back  to you.

MR. VOLLMER:  Great.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Vollmer, sorry, just to interject.  Mr. O'Leary, we will mark that, and then if you come back and say it can't be done or something, it can be filed under that, but I just -- just so we don't lose track of it I'm proposing to mark that as Undertaking JT1.1.

And Mr. Vollmer, could you just repeat what the undertaking is.

MR. VOLLMER:  The undertaking would be providing a geographic breakdown of the 2 percent Indigenous respondents based off of geography, I guess, so whether they're -- just I guess, the geographic breakdown of that 2 percent Indigenous breakdown.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.1:  TO PROVIDE A GEOGRAPHIC BREAKDOWN OF THE 2 PER CENT INDIGENOUS RESPONDENTS BASED OFF OF GEOGRAPHY.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  And we did hear Mr. O'Leary's comments that they'll report back on that, so it's not a guarantee you'll get the answer, but we have marked it as JT1.1.

MR. O'LEARY:  Just so we're clear, Mr. Millar.  It is really not an undertaking, it's an under advisement.  That's the technical term we use as counsel.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I'm going to mark it as JT1.1, but I think we understand what you are undertaking to try to do.

MR. VOLLMER:  I guess my next question may have already been slightly answered, but were the concerns and views of Enbridge's Indigenous customers similar to other customer groups and, if not, we'd be interested in knowing if there are any differences in priorities between Enbridge's First Nations' Indigenous customers compared to comparable non-Indigenous customers.

MS. SWEET:  Karen Sweet again.  So we asked about -- we gave the participants an opportunity to identify as belonging to Indigenous group for sample-checking purposes, and we did not look at their responses as a separate group.

MR. VOLLMER:  Are you able to tie those responses together, or is that not possible?

MS. SWEET:  It would be possible, I think, and the concerns would be similar to what was discussed about that, checking the geographic regions.

MR. VOLLMER:  All right.  I guess then if it is possible we'd be -- if you could do a similar, I guess, under advisement or undertaking to provide those responses just so we have an idea of what the views and concerns of Indigenous people that you engaged with would be helpful.

MR. O'LEARY:  You heard from the witness that it is going to be a large undertaking.

I will discuss it with the panel at a break, and perhaps, Michael, you could just include this is part of the JT1.1.

MR. MILLAR:  I'm content to do that.  I'll let you speak with your witnesses.  You can report back to Mr. Vollmer, either on the record or offline, and if we need to do something more you can let us know.

MR. O'LEARY:  Thanks.

MR. VOLLMER:  All right.  My next question is reference 1.10.GFNl.5(c).

So Enbridge responded when we asked if they consulted with First Nation customers, including Ginoogaming First Nations, in developing the energy transition plan.

And Enbridge Gas noted that it consulted with customers in the development of specific proposals within the ETP through the customer engagement process for the application, which included questions about the ETP.

The customer engagement was completed with Enbridge Gas ratepayers, including Indigenous customers.

And maybe based on your previous answers, but hopefully maybe you can get something else:  Would you be able to expand on the views of First Nation customers regarding the ETP that were provided as part of the customer engagement process?

MS. SWEET:  Karen Sweet again.  So this is referring to the same customer engagement that the previous questions are, so the situation is the same, where we have --


MR. VOLLMER:  Right.

MS. SWEET:  -- the data tag, and we will have to see if we can break that out.

MR. VOLLMER:  Okay.  Great.  And then just, maybe if it's not typed out, but if it's possible to note if -- or you can provide any specific examples of where and how the views of First Nation customers were incorporated into the ETP.

MS. SWEET:  Karen Sweet.  So I'll speak a bit in terms of the customer engagement that I worked on.  So we were looking at the rate -- all of our customers as a whole, the entire group, and so the feedback that was provided through the customer engagement was used quite extensively, in terms of shaping those proposals that are part of the energy transition plan.

So specific investments such as the technology fund and whatnot, the design of those investments is based in part on feedback that was received through the customer engagement.  But all customers were together, represented together in those results that we shared with the energy transition team.

MR. VOLLMER:  All right.  Thanks.  Then my next question is still GFN-5, but response (d) (inaudible) noted that:

"Where it is feasible it is meeting and discussing the interests and priorities of Indigenous groups in an effort to explore opportunities to advance innovative partnerships and economic inclusion."

And then my first question is, has Enbridge met with any First Nations to discuss their interests and priorities related to this response, and could you provide for the details that you have heard from Indigenous groups.

MS. PENNINGTON:  It's Catherine Pennington here, responding, and just to clarify you are looking for information and discussions around economic participation more broadly?


MR. VOLLMER:  Yes.

MS. PENNINGTON:  Thank you for that clarification.  So to answer the question, yes, we have met and we are continuing to meet with Nations in Ontario through our routine projects and operation engagement, as well as through our existing relationships, to learn more about economic interests that those Nations would have as it relates to our business.

I don't know that I can get into specifics but what I can share generally is we are interested to learn what's important to Indigenous Nations economically, participating not only in the supply chain but also their investment interests more broadly.  Enbridge as a corporation is working with a number of Nations across the enterprise to advance economic participation and partnerships.

It is an important part of our business, as is laid out in our Indigenous Reconciliation Action Plan.  So those conversations are early and are ongoing for us here.

MR. VOLLMER:  Thank you.  I wondered if you could maybe explain or give some details on what you mean by "Innovative partnerships" and give maybe any examples of the types of innovative partnerships that Enbridge has been pursuing.

MS. PENNINGTON:  Maybe I'll start with an innovative partnership example.  Although it is an Alberta example, it is a concept for us at Enbridge enterprise.

That would be the partnership that we undertook with 23 First Nations and Metis groups in Alberta as part of an equity opportunity ownership structure, And that of course includes the ownership of a number of assets in northern Alberta.


That was an equity opportunity that was drafted to develop an innovative partnership for an ownership structure.

We also have been conversing with Nations across the enterprise in their interest in carbon capture or other partnerships opportunities, ownership or west coast connector projects as an example in British Columbia.  And a number across the U.S. and eastern Canada.


So that's part of what we would consider to be innovative.  Thank you.

MR. VOLLMER:  That is all my questions.  Hopefully I said some time for everybody.

MS. WALTER:  Thank you very much, Mr. Vollmer.  Next we have Three Fires.
Examination by Mr. Daube:


MR. DAUBE:  Hi, everyone.  It is Nick Daube for Three Fires.  I am going to start, please, with Exhibit 1.1.6.Three Fires.1, and specifically question and answer (b).

So just to give the witnesses a sense, my intention here is to spend about half my time on questions related to the Indigenous Peoples Policy and the Indigenous Reconciliation Action Plan, so mainly centred on answer (b) here.

And then about half of my questions are going to have to do with the work that Innovative did in terms of customer engagement.


The original question here was a request for a description of how Enbridge has applied the principles, policies and commitments in the IRPA and the IPP.  Some of this has been addressed by my friend in the previous discussion.

I guess what I'm struggling with is -- I guess what I'm struggling with here is are there specific examples where the principles have been applied in this application, and I don't want to repeat the previous discussion.

I heard the specific example of the customer engagement, the customer survey, so I guess question number 1 is whether that reference was to the work that Innovative has done.

MS. PENNINGTON:  Catherine Pennington here with Enbridge, and just to clarify, you are asking if my prior answer was specific to the work that Innovative has undertaken as part of the engagement program?


MR. DAUBE:  Yes, please.

MS. PENNINGTON:  Yes, so part of the customer engagement program or the customer engagement program included connecting with and researching customer opinions and perspectives, and part of that was inclusive or always inclusive of Indigenous customers.

MR. DAUBE:  Okay, am I understanding right that, as I read the evidence and what you've provided, there aren't additional examples of application of the principles in the IPP and the IRAP?


And if that's incorrect, could you please provide those examples?

MS. PENNINGTON:  So I think it is important to note up front that for the purposes of this application we did not undertake a specific consultation program, and that would be, because we would see this as a regulator application, that would not have a specific impact.

As we engage on projects, specific projects or facilities, then we would be undertaking a very detailed consultation program as required by the contents of that application that would be separate from this filing.

So we did not undertake a distinct consultation program; however, Indigenous customers were part of the larger program.


And so to give a specific example of how we employed would be challenging, because the customer engagement program was an overarching program.

However, I can say with confidence that with the customer engagement program, lives the spirit of Indigenous engagement and I think it's fair to say that, you know, respect, open and honest feedback, those principles are similar, if not exactly the same.

MR. DAUBE:  Okay, thank you.  Maybe the fairer way or a fair way to ask the question, then, is -- I mean is what's going on here that Enbridge's engagement, ongoing engagement and previous engagement with Indigenous partners, communities and customers has informed what you're proposing in this application, but aside from the work that Innovative has done and your general answers just now?  There are no additional specific examples that were undertaken for the purposes strictly of this application?


MS. PENNINGTON:  That is correct and I would add that this process, you know, this process that we're undertaking now, is part of that consultive process.

So we would be very open, as always, and welcoming for feedback from Three Fires as well as through Ginoogaming and other gas customers, gas Nations.  I believe we service approximately 24 that would have an interest in this.  And we would be willing to share information and take down those specific considerations.

MR. DAUBE:  Okay.  Thank you.  I think that actually answers a couple of these here, so let me just cross them off.

When does Enbridge expect to deliver its 2023 sustainability report?

MS. PENNINGTON:  That would be subject to check.  I will need to get back to you on that.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Daube, would you like an undertaking for that?

MR. DAUBE:  Well, let me ask this as well, because I think I'd like to fold it in:  Could you also -- I assume that the same answer applies if I ask what the current status of the sustainability report is?

MS. PENNINGTON:  I would need to undertake to provide that information to you, because I'm not certain of the release dates and where the reporting is at this time.

MR. DAUBE:  Yeah, for sure, so, yes, please, could I please get an undertaking for that.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Yes, it is JT1.2, and that is a status update, including the projected release date of the sustainability study.

MR. DAUBE:  Yes, please.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  JT1.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.2:  TO PROVIDE A STATUS UPDATE, INCLUDING THE PROJECTED RELEASE DATE OF THE SUSTAINABILITY REPORT.  ALSO TO ADVISE WHAT ENBRIDGE CURRENTLY EXPECTS WILL BE INCLUDED IN THE SUSTAINABILITY REPORT, IN TERMS OF MATTERS THAT ARE SPECIFICALLY RELEVANT TO INDIGENOUS CUSTOMERS AND PARTNERS IN THE CONTEXT OF THIS APPLICATION.  ALSO TO ADVISE OF THE HIGH-LEVEL PROCESS SUMMARY OF WHO THE COMPANY HELD DISCUSSIONS WITH IN PREPARING THE REPORT.

MR. DAUBE:  Sorry, sustainability report.

Now, this may be another undertaking.  Could you please tell me what Enbridge currently expects will be included in the sustainability report, in terms of matters that are specifically relevant to Indigenous customers and partners in the context of this application?

MS. PENNINGTON:  Yes, I would say I would like to undertake that to provide that, thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Daube, if it is okay with you can we just wind that up with JT1.2?

MR. DAUBE:  Yep.  Sorry, this may be me piling on.  Sorry, it was on the next page.  I'd like to know what sorts of internal discussions inform any sections that are identified as part of the previous answer.

MS. PENNINGTON:  Perhaps just to clarify, internal discussions, meaning?

MR. DAUBE:  So what's the process for -- that leads up to the final version for any relevant sections that you identified?  Like, who talks to whom, you know, is it a six-month long process?  What's the general flow of work?  Who do they talk to outside the organization, anything like that.

MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Daube, it's Dennis O'Leary.  If you are simply asking for a high-level description of the process that we followed internally leading up to ultimately the release and filing of the 2023 sustainability report, that's fine.

But I think beyond that, you know, if you're looking for the details of what specific individuals by name are doing and their thoughts on it, that goes way beyond.  Yeah, okay.  Just so we're clear on that.

MR. DAUBE:  Yeah, general description, please.

MR. O'LEARY:  You can add that to the Undertaking JT1.2.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So that'll be -- it's become a bit of an omnibus undertaking relating to the sustainability report, but I understand this new addition relates to kind of a high-level process summary of who the company held discussions with in preparing that report?  Is that right, Mr. Daube?

MR. DAUBE:  Yes, please.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. O'LEARY:  Just so we're clear on that.  I was trying to exclude any specific names as to who would be involved.  It was a high-level description of the process that's followed leading up to the ultimate finalization of the 2023 sustainability report.

I believe that would be all that would be necessary and, frankly, relevant.

MR. DAUBE:  Well, I mean, I'm really -- these are all arising from the answer that Enbridge provided to question (b) and the specific reference to the sustainability report, so I'm just trying to understand what's going in there.

I assume it's not finalized, so what's the state of discussions, those general descriptions, you are exactly right --


MR. O'LEARY:  Status report.  Yeah, we can do that.

MR. DAUBE:  Could we please go to the IRAP, which is Exhibit I1.6, attachment 1.  And it's page 18 of 36.

Now, in the second row here my first question is, what does engagement priorities mean?

MS. PENNINGTON:  Just looking.  Second row under the details?

MR. DAUBE:  Sorry, community engagement, and then under the "commitment" column.

MS. PENNINGTON:  Mm-hmm.

MR. DAUBE:  First question is --


MS. PENNINGTON:  Oh, yes, okay --


MR. DAUBE:  -- and --


MS. PENNINGTON:  -- sorry, thank you, thank you for that clarity.

So I won't read the screen here but, you know, what we're stating here is that this -- this funding is really designed to support community priorities.  So looking at working with Nations, Indigenous groups, to understand what their priorities are to support capacity and well-being.

So in addition to Indigenous supply chain and contracting, this would be otherwise known as corporate citizenship or community investment.

MR. DAUBE:  Okay, and what does "community capacity building" mean?

MS. PENNINGTON:  Well, I think we really defer to the Nations and organizations to tell us what capacity means to individual Nations, so it could include things like support for health and wellness services.  It could be support for youth programs.  It could include on projects, which is separate from this, could involve technical support and review.

So capacity, from our perspective, is really defined by what the Nations and Indigenous groups tell us is needed.

MR. DAUBE:  Okay, has there been any discussion in this bucket of funding and initiatives, has there been any discussion about how the identified funds could support Indigenous customers or communities in the review or the response to this application or the matters that are addressed in the application?

MS. PENNINGTON:  No, there has not been, and this funding is specific to community investment, so non-project-specific.

MR. DAUBE:  Okay, can we go to 28 of 36 in this same attachment, please.  In the sustainability row, under "commitment", my questions relate to -- I want to get the wording right here -- the thought leader roundtable.

Can you explain in a general sense the considerations that led Enbridge to include this commitment?

MS. PENNINGTON:  Well, in general I would say that -- well, actually, I'll back up a little bit.  As part of the development of the Indigenous Reconciliation Action Plan, we engaged with, I think, over 50 individuals across the nation for input and feedback, as well as Indigenous employees and a number of employee groups across our organization.

What we identified through that engagement helped to inform the Indigenous Reconciliation Action Plan and of course the Six Pillars and 22 Commitments.  One of the themes that came from that discussion dialogue was the importance of inclusion of the development of a roundtable to support perspectives and strategy and really policies on sustainability.

We have heard from our engagement that this is an area that Indigenous Peoples would like to have more visibility on and participation in with Enbridge and within the industry more broadly.

MR. DAUBE:  Was there any effort to deliver on or, you know, stand up this commitment -- maybe the better way to put it:  Was there any effort to ensure this roundtable would be ready so that it could participate in this application or somehow inform the conversations?

MS. PENNINGTON:  So the Indigenous Reconciliation Action Plan is a very new document and it was released in late 2022 and really for the year of 2023 we're undertaking a lot of efforts to move through all of these commitments and establish work plans and start our efforts to deliver on these.

So as you will see on the timeline, we have 2023 there as a timeline.  And we will begin to report on our efforts in 2023 and beyond at the end of 2023 and beyond.

So, I would say that this is really, you know, happening live time, and so at this time, you know, as we're in these proceedings, this committee is not yet established - -or this roundtable.

MR. DAUBE:  And what you're expecting at the moment, I think I heard you say end of 2023?


MS. PENNINGTON:  Well our timeline is to have the thought leader roundtable work plan established by the end of 2023, as we have identified here and we are, you know, working on this is a part of the overarching enterprise-wide strategy for the execution of the Indigenous Reconciliation Action Plan.

And again, this, you know, would look at a number of items across the enterprise, not just (inaudible) alone.

MR. DAUBE:  Do you have a sense at this point of how the roundtable will engage in the energy transition issues at issue in this application?

MS. PENNINGTON:  Not yet.  Again this committee is, you know, early days just underway of work plan internally.  We are beginning to process externally shortly and that would be an item that we would be happy to consider.

MR. DAUBE:  Can we turn to the polling questions.


So this is arising out of -- it's the same -- it's the same set of questions, but questions (f), (g), and (h).  So I think the best thing to do is probably take the witness's back to Exhibit I-1-6-Three Fires-1.

And thank you, Ms. Pennington.

So we are at (f).  I guess -- and I have a hunch that a lot of these may be questions for Innovative.  So I guess I want to understand or want to make sure I'm understanding correctly.  When we talk about Indigenous representation, is this answer intended to describe the general process that includes making sure that specific groups are adequately represented as part of the survey.

MS. SWEET:  Hi, Karen Sweet.  I can help with you this one.  So what we're describing here in (f) is the efforts to ensure that the results of the surveys and other forms of engagement are representative of all customer -- all customers.

MR. DAUBE:  Okay, so there's no specific effort undertaken beforehand or during?


What you're describing here in terms of Indigenous engagement is verification after the survey has taken place to ensure, among other things, that there was a sufficient number of Indigenous respondents; is that correct?


MS. SWEET:  So, the inconclusion of the option for respondents to self-identify as Indigenous, that is there for sample checking purposes, yes.

MR. DAUBE:  Okay.  And aside from is my characterization accurate?


MS. SWEET:  It might help if you repeat that again, if you don't mind.

MR. DAUBE:  So you've identified the inclusion of the self-identification as Indigenous.

Aside from that is there anything that takes place in advance of the survey or during the survey that goes to ensure adequate Indigenous representation?


MS. SWEET:  So the -- that question that allows the self-identification is there to check after the fact, yes.

So if it was found to be a number that didn't seem right, there would be potentially other actions taken, but in this case, it did seem right.

MR. DAUBE:  Okay, how do you determine whether it seems right?

MS. SWEET:  So for this specifically we looked at some Stats Canada data and of course we don't know exactly what percentage of our customers, meaning account holders, belong to a Indigenous group, but we use Stats Canada for a gauge if we if the 2 percent felt right.

MR. DAUBE:  What specific data did you use?

MS. SWEET:  So we would be using the latest census.

MR. DAUBE:  But I guess I'm asking, did you use Ontario data?  Did you use Canada data?  Did you use something else?

MS. SWEET:  So we used Ontario data from the most recent census.

MR. DAUBE:  Why didn't you know what the percentage was among -- I think you said this, and correct me if I'm wrong -- why didn't you know what the percentage was of Enbridge customers that are Indigenous?

MS. SWEET:  It's just not something that we track.

MR. DAUBE:  That Enbridge tracks; is that correct?

MS. SWEET:  that's correct, yes.


MR. DAUBE:  Sorry, it is -- everyone is small on the screen so it is difficult to see which company.  Was there any sort of threshold?  Can you say a little bit more about -- I mean, you get this census data and you compare it to the number that's identified in the context of the survey, like how much of a discrepancy would be allowable before you'd start to say this isn't right?

MS. SWEET:  Karen Sweet again, and I am with Enbridge, just so that's clear.

MR. DAUBE:  Sorry.

MS. SWEET:  Yeah.  So because we don't know exactly how many of our customers belong to an Indigenous group we are working with estimates, so we're really just looking for confirmation that what we're seeing is that in terms of representation in the survey sample is consistent with that Ontario census data.

So if -- I'm not sure, you know, if it had been wildly different, exactly what threshold that would trigger something, but in this case it did appear very consistent with those Ontario census numbers.

MR. DAUBE:  Okay, so it sounds like it's more a smell test than anything else?  Is that fair?

MS. SWEET:  I think it's fair to say that it's hard for us to identify exactly the percent for our customer base.  So, yes, we're really relying on the census data to help us confirm that we're in an appropriate range.

MR. DAUBE:  Okay, are you able to dig up the number that you relied on by way of an undertaking?

MS. SWEET:  In terms of the census data?

MR. DAUBE:  Yeah, sorry, the Ontario number that you identified.


MS. SWEET:  I can give it to you right now.  Are you looking for total numbers?

MR. DAUBE:  The percentage, I think, as compared with the 2 percent that shows up in Innovative's work.

MS. SWEET:  Oh, in terms of how many specific people get you the 2 percent, or are we talking about the census data?

MR. DAUBE:  I apologize.  So what I take you to be saying is that you compared the percentage showing up in the census data against the 2 percent that shows up as self-identifying as Indigenous in Innovative; is that correct so far?

MS. SWEET:  Yes.

MR. DAUBE:  So what I'm looking for is what number you took from the census data that you compared to the 2 percent?

MS. SWEET:  Oh, sure, okay, so we looked at people aged 15-plus.  So this is not at the household level.  This would not be the population.  And the percentage is 1.05 percent.

MR. DAUBE:  Okay.  Was there any weighting applied to the Indigenous responses?

MS. SWEET:  No.

MR. DAUBE:  And I take from your answers -- well, am I right to assume that there was never any intention to rely on the responses given by people self-identifying as Indigenous on their own?  The only reason you were tracking Indigenous -- or responses from self-identified Indigenous customers was to ensure there was appropriate representation in the survey; is that correct?

MS. SWEET:  That's correct.

MR. DAUBE:  Okay.  I can take you to the page references if it's helpful, but if it's -- if you don't need it then it may go quicker if I just ask the questions.

Am I correct that there were 5,400 residential respondents to Phase III of the customer engagement?

MS. SWEET:  Karen Sweet here again.  Subject to check, yes.

MR. DAUBE:  Do you know what the margin of error was?

MS. SWEET:  I don't, top of mind.

MR. DAUBE:  Would it be possible to get me that, please?

MS. SWEET:  Yeah, we could get that in break, I think.

MR. DAUBE:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  Why don't we mark it as JT1.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.3:  TO ADVISE OF THE MARGIN OF ERROR.

MR. DAUBE:  Does the 2 percent Indigenous participation figure or self-identification figure apply only to Phase III?

MS. SWEET:  The 2 percent that we've been talking about applies to Phase III, correct.

MR. DAUBE:  Was there any effort to identify the percentage of participants that self-identified as Indigenous in Phase I or II?  Is there any way to know?

MS. SWEET:  No.

MR. DAUBE:  And was there any specific effort, aside from that, given to ensuring Indigenous participation in Phase I or II?

MS. SWEET:  So for all the phases, participants were recruited from samples that were pulled from our systems in the random fashion, so with that methodology we're really trying to -- trying to make sure we have representation from all.

MR. DAUBE:  Okay.  Aside from that, no specific efforts?

MS. SWEET:  Correct.

MR. DAUBE:  Is the figure of 2 percent that we've been discussing a rounded number?

MS. SWEET:  I think it is.  Umm...

MR. DAUBE:  Could I please get the -- this can be an undertaking -- the precise figure?

MS. SWEET:  I think we can get it to you at break.

I think I actually do have it with me, so we could do that at break.

MR. MILLAR:  I'll mark that as JT1.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.4:  TO ADVISE OF THE PRECISE FIGURE THAT LED TO THE ROUNDED 2 PERCENT.

MR. DAUBE:  I was going to ask similar questions to the ones that -- that the previous line of questions was asking for, so this is no way a criticism of his questions.

I was going to ask for production of specific responses given by people self-identifying as Indigenous.  So this is piggy-backing a little bit off of those questions.

You don't have to agree with this.  This is just my rough math.  But if I take 2 percent, 5,400, to be a little bit more than 100 survey participants self-identifying as Indigenous, but whatever the number, my question is:  Is it fair to say that there's no way to get survey responses that Enbridge would consider reliable from that relatively small number of respondents?

MS. SWEET:  Hi, Karen Sweet again, and I can actually give you the percentage, the non-rounded percentage.  I found it.

MR. DAUBE:  Yep.

MS. SWEET:  Okay, so it is 1.8 percent, so that is 98 customers total when other weightings are applied.

MR. DAUBE:  My math shockingly wasn't --


MS. SWEET:  Yeah, you were really good.  Okay, now, to answer the question, it was not -- we did not approach this in a way that would -- expecting to analyze those results separately, and so there are not many responses, I think it's fair to say, and that there would be a large margin of error associated with looking at that group.

MR. DAUBE:  It's going to be huge, isn't it?

MS. SWEET:  Yeah, so we didn't design things with that intention in mind.

MR. DAUBE:  Yeah.  So there is nothing really in here that would give you the confidence to say that those views reliably reflect the views of Enbridge's Indigenous customers; is that fair?

MS. SWEET:  With respect to the customer engagement, we are presenting it as a representative of all customers in total.

MR. DAUBE:  What about, sorry, what about your confidence in the quality of Indigenous responses or the reliability of Indigenous responses on their own?

MS. SWEET:  So we didn't conduct the data collection with that purpose, so the represent -- the 98 that responded, if we're looking at the total sample, it reflects the population in Ontario in a way that we think also suggests that it is representative of our Indigenous customers in our franchise area.

MR. DAUBE:  Yeah, I'm not quibbling with that.

I guess what I'm asking is, there is nothing in here that gives you with any degree of reliability a read on the views of Indigenous customers; is that fair?

MS. SWEET:  As a separate group, I think that is fair.

MR. DAUBE:  Did the work here examine the views of Indigenous persons or communities who are not Enbridge customers but whose lands are affected by Enbridge's operations?

MS. SWEET:  Karen Sweet here again.  No, all -- all of customers that were invited to participate had an account with Enbridge Gas.

MR. DAUBE:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Daube.

I see we are right up against the scheduled morning break, so why don't we take that now.  I have us at 10:40, and we have a 15-minute break, so I will see everyone at 10:55.  And then I believe it is a CME who is up next.

So we will see you all in 15 minutes.
--- Recess taken at 10:41 a.m.
--- On resuming at 10:55 a.m.

MR. MILLAR:  I do want to thank Mr. Vollmer and Mr. Daube.  Their efficiency is appreciated.
Examination by Mr. Pollock:


MR. POLLOCK:  Thank you, Mr. Millar, and thank you to the panel of witnesses.  Can you all hear me okay?


Perfect, thank you for your time.  I'd like to start if I could and I'll are.  I will get the citation right.  Exhibit I.1.2-CC3-3 attachment 2, page 9.  Which is a mouthful.

To give you a little bit of context before it's pulled up, I believe that this is in response to --


MS. WALTER:  I'm sorry, this is Cherida.  Some of the intervenors are still in the intervenor breakout room.

I am just going to close that room.  If you could pause for a moment.


MR. POLLOCK:  Certainly.


[Pause in proceedings.]


MS. WALTER:  I see that most people have been brought back in.  We are just waiting on a few.

MR. POLLOCK:  I should keep holding, Cherida?

MS. WALTER:  Yes, just 12 more seconds.  Everyone is back.

MR. POLLOCK:  Sorry about that everybody.

We have the page up.  I think by and large my first sort of set of questions will be for Innovative, although I certainly don't want to discourage anyone on the panel from jumping in.

I'd like to draw your attention to the first paragraph here, which states, "the final reports."  This is talking about the statement of work that you are doing, so you are describing the reports that you will create "will focus on (inaudible) critical to ensure that we are asking the right questions and providing the right information to customers in a manner that's easy to understand.  To that end we strongly recommend that senior Innovative consultants test the workbook with the target customer segments prior to the start of any data collection."

Do you see that?


UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Yes, we do.


MR. POLLOCK:  Perfect.  So I guess the first question is sort of a straightforward practical question, but since this is forward-looking as a statement of work, as a matter of sort of practice did you, in fact, have these sessions where you sort of looked over the workbook and worked them over?

MR. LYLE:  Greg Lyle, with Innovative.  Yes, what we did is we had -- and I actually did most of these -- we had the participants in a Zoom call where they were able to take control of my computer and go through the workbook at their own speed.

Then we went back through a PowerPoint version of the workbook with them, and just had them stop, as anywhere they said I was confused here, this was challenging, I wasn't sure what this meant.  Those sorts of issues.

MR. POLLOCK:  Understood.  And as I understand it, and you did correct me time wrong, the sort of -- the rough cut of the workbook comes from Enbridge; is that correct?


MR. LYLE:  Yes; that's correct.

MR. POLLOCK:  So can you walk me through, you gave me the specifics of doing the workbook testing.  Could you describe from stem to stern the iterative process?


You get a rough cut of the workbook from Enbridge, but I guess sort of starting with, do you provide them with a template?  Do you provide them with any guidance to begin with?  All the way through to the final product?  Tell me who's doing what inputs.


MR. LYLE:  Greg Lyle, again.  So to start with, both Enbridge and Innovative had, for lack of a better word, a running start at this.  We've done about 40 of these engagements, including the last Union Gas engagement, and so we had a good idea of what needed to be in the workbook.  And Enbridge, in their RP, set out a process that was open to suggestion but very much followed along the lines of the type of proceedings that we had done in the past.

So right from the beginning in terms of design think we started out with fairly developed ideas of what a workbook would do, which starts by ensuring people understand who Enbridge is, what Enbridge does, what the different costs on their bills are, and then moves into prices.

In this particular case, this was what bit more complicated than the average customer engagement we do, because it dealt not just with making choices about cost, but it also dealt with some rate design issues and some issues that could impact the cost of the commodity.

And so generally speaking, the way that we work this is rather than go through a process of emails where there's multiple people on the email and someone says something and someone responds to the thing that that person said but in the meantime someone else has just responded to the first email, we have working sessions which in this case were on Zoom, because we're in the middle of a pandemic for some of this.

We would sit down and start with, okay, what's the outline of the workbook going to look like?  Enbridge would then go away and start to draft it and we would sort of identify what type of questions do we need to ask.

So one thing that we knew we would want to have is a question about the overall rate impact.  And so that was something that we all agreed to.  And we knew that that had to show the total costs of the impacts as was known at the time, whether we dealt with specific issues or not ahead of time.

In terms of the things that impact costs over time, not just us but collectively within the industry, there has been an approach developed on sort of how do we lay out options.

What we're focused on are not things that you would have to become an accountant or an engineer to answer, but on questions where there are trade-offs, where, you know, we can do more of this thing, which might be safety beyond the basic minimums required by codes and standards; could be environmental benefits, could be customer service benefits, and looked at the incremental cost of those changes.

We know in developing options that we should not be offering options that could not actually be done, either because they're too aggressive and resources are not available, or because they require spending less than Enbridge can responsibly present as an option.

Then we had rate design issues and thus a lot of time was spent on rate design because that was new territory.  Trying to develop language where customers were able to meaningfully speak to questions about fixed costs versus variable costs took quite a bit of time and, for instance, in Phase I where we started to explore that, we found after the first night or so that we really needed a diagram, that it wasn't good enough to just explain.  We needed to be able to do some show and tell.  So we did some show and tell in that process.

It is also important to understand that the three phases of the project, they each build sequentially on each other.

So for instance, we found the challenge of having to develop a chart, an image, to help people understand the issues -- some of the issues in rate design was developed in Phase I when we were doing qualitative work.

In Phase II, where we are focused primarily on needs and priorities, we note in the report that there are sort of three different ways of getting at people's priorities.  You ask them to rate, you ask them to rank, and then you provide illustrative choices.

And so in Phase II we provided some illustrative choices, and you can see some learning going on between Phase II and Phase III.

So for instance, we looked -- I think the issue was a research fund, where we had an initial costing that was suggested in Phase II, and the public said no to that.  And so in Phase III a reduced costing option was provided.

MR. POLLOCK:  Sorry, should I just stop you there.  I think we might go going further afield from the --


MR. LYLE:  Yeah, yeah, please.  Don't ask me -- I heard "exhaustive", so...

MR. POLLOCK:  Fair enough, fair enough, that was my fault.

So I guess I will sort of take our focus back to the first paragraph here, and I want to -- maybe you touched on this a little bit, but you're talking about the right questions and providing the right information to customers.

What are the metrics or what are the hallmarks that you would use to say, yes, we have got the right questions and the right information?

MR. LYLE:  Well, you can see it, actually, in the diagnostic questions that is we asked, but basically, we are looking for, is there too much or too little information, and are we addressing the topics that they would like to address.

So rate again -- if you look at the very first thing we do in the initial qualitative research, we start with literally a blank state, and so we will say, you know, are you satisfied or dissatisfied with the service you are receiving, and then we probe deeper and say, what could Enbridge be doing better?  And we are doing that to identify unmet needs that might exist in the public.

You can see that carried through right to the workbook to the end, so when we do all the substantive trade-off questions, there is always an open-ended opportunity for people to make comments if they want to say something outside the bounds of the options we give them.  And there's also an opportunity at the end to identify topics that may be missed.

So that's -- so that's -- that's really critical to us.  And we need to make sure that, for each question, people say, "I got enough information to answer the question but not so much information that I felt like it was, you know, a book report and so I just gave up because there's just too much information here."

MR. POLLOCK:  Understood.  Understood.

So you mentioned the diagnostics, and I've heard you talk about sort of the quantity of information.  Is there anything -- you know, I hate to trot out this phrase, but "unknown unknown".  So you are not, as I understand it, a distribution system subject-matter expert.  Obviously, the people that you are surveying aren't distribution system subject-matter experts.

They may not know what they don't know.  So how would you deal with that issue or how does the survey deal with an issue where they may not be able to say whether or not they got the quality of information that they needed?

MR. LYLE:  Well, and that's really the function of the hearing, right?

So the engagement exists within the context of the OEB process.

MR. POLLOCK:  I see.

MR. LYLE:  There is only one element of that.

MR. POLLOCK:  I see.  So this process that we're going through right now is to try and fill in some of those gaps, like did they receive the quality of information that they needed to make an informed choice?

MR. LYLE:  For example, we were able to look at how people reacted to the previous engagements that Enbridge and Union Gas have done and look at those to say:  Were there any comments that came out in the hearing process that we should address in this workbook compared to others?

So, for example, in this particular workbook you will see a breakout by people that are LEAP-qualified, right?  And we have a sample of somewhere in the range of 450 to 500 people that are leap qualified in the third phase.

When we first started doing workbooks we didn't do that, but one of the intervenors, who is actually on this call, raised the issue of, did you look at this and, if not, why not?  So in the following workbooks we've always ensured that we've included that.

MR. POLLOCK:  Gotcha.  So could you describe for me, just from your experience doing surveys and engagements, what's the danger if you don't get people the right questions or the right information?

MR. LYLE:  Well, the single biggest danger is that they just won't participate.  They'll say, this doesn't make sense, or, I feel like I'm being pushed one way, or have some sort of comment like that, and they will just quit and not participate, or they'll participate, but at the -- they'll make comments about, I didn't feel I had enough information, or I felt the information was one-sided, or I didn't feel that there was a response category that I could respond to.

And again, that's a big reason why we have the open-ended questions, because they provide a quality check in real-time.

MR. POLLOCK:  Does it have any impact, so if you were to give them the wrong information or the wrong question, does that impact how you view the results?  Like, does it is have an impact on the results themselves, or just, people will choose not to show up and you won't get as many responses?

MR. LYLE:  Well, in that case -- and you will have seen on occasion where panels have not felt -- have not agreed with the information that was shared, and there will be comments about whether or not the evidence can be relied upon.

MR. POLLOCK:  Is that also your view, or is that just the OEB panel's view?

MR. LYLE:  Well, essentially, we are servants of the process so, you know -- but I think it makes sense.

MR. POLLOCK:  Okay, I understand.  I was wondering if we could turn to Exhibit 1, tab 6, Schedule 1, attachment 1, page 29 of 550.  And this is, as I understand it, part of the questioning.

This is a report, I guess, that you generated sort of at a summary level, and it talks about a difference between how you phrased a question in Phase II and Phase III about the single rate zone, and in the Phase III question you reminded customers which rate zone they are in, and then the level and pattern of support shifted when customers more clearly understood the direct impact of their own bill.

Is this an example of the getting people the right information and how it impacts their answers?  Would you agree with that?

MR. LYLE:  Yeah, it is an illustration, actually, of the process, as I said before, each step builds on the previous step.

So in Phase II we raise the general principle.  In Phase III we were able to be more specific about it.

MR. POLLOCK:  So I guess coming around -- circling back to my question:  Is this an example of getting people different information that will turn out a different or somewhat different response?

MR. LYLE:  Well, part of the issue in this question is just the work of figuring out what the rate impacts would be by rate class, and I'm not sure that the information that we had in Phase III was even available in Phase II.

MR. POLLOCK:  Okay, so it is not necessarily that you got them the wrong information before, but you could have got them more granular information when it became available and that changed the outcome?

MR. LYLE:  Yeah, it is really important to remember that the direction that makes sense from the OEB was to make sure the planners had information about customer needs and priorities at the start of the planning process, but the nature of that is that much of the planning work is not completed when you first go out and talk to the public.

So then in the later stages, when the planning work is able to be done, you are able to add more detail.

So again, in this particular case we had a question of principle in the Phase II workbook, and then we had an actual proposal in Phase III.

MR. POLLOCK:  Understood.  And when it says it's probably sort of in the engagement itself, but the way this is phrased, the question specifically reminded customers which rate zone they were in.

So even in the Phase II, do I understand it correctly that the information on which rate zone they were in was available, it just wasn't sort of put upfront in that same sort of reminding fashion?

MR. LYLE:  Well, we didn't know the implications, we didn't know what the impacts might be by rate zone, so it didn't seem relevant to the question at that point.

MR. POLLOCK:  Okay.  To --


MR. LYLE:  To tell people -- right.  So it's just, it's all about space and time.

Is it worth telling someone what rate zone they are in if it doesn't change the nature of the question they were asked.  Our judgment was no.

MR. POLLOCK:  So there are actually two things at play:  You remind them of which rate zone they're in and you provide them the specific impact on that rate zone of the proposal?

MR. LYLE:  Yeah, I mean, I wouldn't get too carried away with the word "specific".  We provided the range of impacts.

MR. POLLOCK:  Fair enough, fair enough.

If I could now change gears and go to -- it will be Exhibit I.1.2-CME-1.

And for some context for the panel in this interrogatory, I was asking about what, at least from my perspective, seems to be a tension in the answers between the respondents' desires for lower rates and the specific things that were put as far as trade-offs were concerned.

And I want to go to page 2 of the response, if we could.

And you can let me know if this is better handled by a later panel, but I don't want to miss my chance in case it's for you.

But about halfway through, it discusses that "the Phase III results that reflect customer choices when presented with specific trade-offs and other contextual information are the most relevant results for assessing customer preference for the specific investments tested."

And I want to know how did this specific trade-off inform the investment process.  So for instance, if you are doing investment planning and you know customers prefer these to you know, lower rates, are those projects sort of locked in?  Are you definitely doing those or are they the same as any other projects?  How does that work?

MS. SWEET:  Karen Sweet here.  So we tested some specific investment options in Phase III, so any information that was collected in terms of customer preferences for the choices concerning those investments, that was given back to the planning teams.

And they used those and in their evidence it is discussed, you know, what direction they took from the customer engagement results.

Does that answer your question?

MR. POLLOCK:  I may need to get down into more granularity, but if that's better done in a future panel then that's fine.  I didn't want this have this be the panel and not ask the questions.  So if you feel like you are at the edge of your ability to answer, that's fine.  I can save the question.

MS. SWEET:  It is fair to say that I can't give you very detailed information about things like compressor stations and vintage steel, other than we did test them and passed that information on to the planners so they could reflect those customer preferences in terms of their decisions.  And the customer support was a major factor in determining how they went about with the specific proposal that they have in the application.

MR. POLLOCK:  Okay, understood.

And if we go to the bottoming of the paragraph -- I may save those questions for a future panel, but at the bottom of the paragraph it discusses that:
"Reasons for not including investments in the customer engagement process vary.  Please see this exhibit for an overview of these reasons."

I went to that reference, and I didn't really see what I would have described as sort of the overview of why things weren't included.  So maybe I can just ask you and we can go to that exhibit, if you need.


But describe for me -- there was certain investments that were chosen and obviously part of it was, as Mr. Lyle has described, an accessibility for people to understand what the investment is, but were there any other things that went into choosing which specific investments were presented to people?

MS. SWEET:  Sure, so another reason would be just the complexity of the issue and how much time it would take to explain it to respondents for them to be able to respond meaningfully.  So there were some investments that we did not include questions for, because it would just take up too much space for us to be able to meaningfully gauge their support.

MR. POLLOCK:  Okay, so where -- am I correct in thinking that having applied the accessibility and the, sort of the availability of information in the complexity of the program, that these are the only investments left?  Or was there a pool of more than three investments and you chose three from amongst them?

MS. SWEET:  Are you specific -- sorry, Karen Sweet -- are you specifically talking about the asset management plan investments?

MR. POLLOCK:  Yeah, so the vintage steel mains and et cetera.

So I wanted to drill down into, you know, you picked these examples of trade-offs for peopling to discuss and then you, as I understood it, there were various criteria that you used to say, well, you know, this type of investment is too complicated or people won't understand, and you landed on these three.


But I wondered if these were the only three that were left after you, you know, exercised all these criteria or whether there was a broader pool and you picked these three for some other reason or some additional reason?

MS. SWEET:  Oh, another reason that those were picked was because of the spend, just them being a large -- they are all large projects that had meaningful impact to rates.

MR. POLLOCK:  Understood.  Do you -- if it is in the evidence already you can simply point me there, but do you map to know as a percentage of the total spend how much are these as a percentage?

MS. SWEET:  Those three investments?

MR. POLLOCK:  Yeah.

MS. SWEET:  I definitely don't know that.

MR. POLLOCK:  Could I ask you to undertake to just sort of do the quick math on that and let me know?

MR. O'LEARY:  This is Dennis O'Leary, we will undertake to do that.

MR. MILLAR:  JT1.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.5:  TO ADVISE, AS A PERCENTAGE OF THE TOTAL SPEND, HOW MUCH ARE THE THREE PROJECTS.


MR. POLLOCK:  If I could move on to CME 2 and I will give you the correct.  Exhibit I.1.6-CME-2.  Oh, you're there.

In this question I had a couple of things that I wanted to follow up on.  One is in response (e) you mentioned that you used a 2 percent inflation factor as sort of the assumption or placeholder for your engagement.

Is that -- I think it's safe to say, but is that sort of Enbridge's expectation for the inflation going forward?

MS. SWEET:  Hi, Karen Sweet here.  That question would be better addressed to a different panel.

MR. POLLOCK:  Okay, then I will take that up with a different panel.  I guess the question for you is:  Did you ever do a subsequent or mini-engagement with new inflation at any point?

MS. SWEET:  No, we did not.

MR. POLLOCK:  Okay, with respect to the 1.9 percent increase that I discussed in response (a), and we can also go to Exhibit 1, tab 6, schedule 1, attachment 1, at page 247, if we could, please.

MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Pollock, it is Dennis Leary.  Sorry to interrupt, but at times I think you are looking at the other screen and your voice is dropping off, and we're having trouble understanding you.  So I --


MR. POLLOCK:  I apologize for that.  They have recently come in and changed my monitor and webcam, so I am a little bit new to this.  I will keep that in mind.

If we could scroll down the page a little bit.  Oh, no, sorry that, was too many.  Just at the bottom of this page.

So here is one representation of the 1.9 percent, and at the top it talks about annual forecasted bill impacts and it has a star, and the star talks about that these estimates are preliminary.  It doesn't include any potential changes in the fuel cost or federal carbon charge and the other assumptions.


My question is, is the 1.9 percent change on a total-bill basis or a delivery-charge basis?  Do you know?

MS. SWEET:  I believe it is -- Karen Sweet, sorry.  Subject to check, I believe it's on the delivery.

MR. POLLOCK:  Okay, so when it's -- I'm just trying to understand.  So when it says, "This does not include any potential changes in the fuel cost", those are just sort of off to the side?  They are not part of your -- it's not that you are including them in the total and just holding them steady; they are not even part of the base denominator for which you are deriving the 1.9 percent?

MS. SWEET:  It's Karen Sweet.  This is an area that's not -- I'm not incredibly familiar with so -- but the grey does include commodity.

MR. POLLOCK:  So it is -- it's not -- obviously the green is the federal carbon charge, but the grey is both the delivery charge and the commodity together?


MS. SWEET:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. POLLOCK:  Can I could ask you to undertake and check that?  I don't want to get it wrong in case, you know.  I appreciate that this is not necessarily your area of expertise.

MR. MILLAR:  That will be JT1.6 and Mr. Pollock, just to note, you are getting very close to your time.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.6:  TO CONFIRM CHARGES USED IN THE CALCULATION OF THE GREY AREA, THE 1.9 PERCENT.


MR. POLLOCK:  I appreciate that, although we had a bit of a pause at the beginning.  I think I'm okay to take the rest of my questions to the future panel, as instructed.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, so that's -- thank you so much.  Up next we have FRPO.  Mr. Quinn, are you there?


MR. QUINN:  Yes, I am, Michael, and before we leave that slide -- and Scott, I hope you're comfortable with so please stay on -- I heard that it included delivery and a commodity.  What assumptions were made about the commodity price over that range of years would be helpful to include in that undertaking, if it's acceptable to Enbridge.

MR. O'LEARY:  That's fine.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Not hearing any objections, we'll mark that as the same undertaking.

Mr. Quinn, you have up to 20 minutes.

MR. QUINN:  Yes.  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  Good morning, panel.  Dwayne Quinn, on behalf of FRPO.  And if I may ask, we could turn up Exhibit I.1.6-FRPO-7.  If you could start there, please.  Great.  Thank you.

And there is a table on the second page, if -- just for -- to orient the witnesses.  We had been asking about the Hydro-vac services, I think, through the correction of the error that I had in my interrogatory, but the purpose of my questions was to understand how Enbridge evaluates providers of services, especially if they are companies that are owned by Enbridge.

So just clarifying again, Ontario Excavac Inc. is owned by Enbridge, correct?

MS. FERGUSON:  Tanya Ferguson.  Yes, that's correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  And so in that context -- and you don't have to do the math.  I've done some math -- but you take it subject to check, Ontario Excavac gets about two-thirds of the work identified in this table?

MS. FERGUSON:  Tanya Ferguson.  Subject to check.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.

So if we just now scroll down to the next page, page 3, in response to (b), it reads:
"Enbridge Gas assesses market prices by leveraging the competitive bid process through a request for proposal or a Request for Quote based on the value and scope of work."

Reading that, I wanted to understand, what are some of the metrics that Enbridge uses for performance to evaluate the value part of the work?

MS. FERGUSON:  Tanya Ferguson.  I think that might be best handled by the O&M panel, because they would be involved in any RFPs or requests for quote.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, I'll take the specifics to that panel.  I wanted to start here and then move up.

Okay.  I'll accept that.  So that would be O&M panel.  That's Exhibit 4, panel -- I'll figure it out later.  Let's keep moving.

So if we could just scroll up.  The simplest way is to scroll up, because the previous interrogatory-6 we have Lakeside.  Thank you.

So in this case, thank you, we asked about Lakeside Performance Gas Services.

Now, my understanding is Lakeside was acquired fully by Enbridge during the period of this last rebasing period; is that correct?

MS. FERGUSON:  Tanya Ferguson.  Yes, that's correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  And so we see over time, you know, the numbers go down initially in 2016 for O&M, but -- and then stay stable for a period of time, and the capital increases over time.

Now, as we scroll down to the answers in (b).  I believe that -- can you just scroll down just a little bit?  There.  That leaves the table up also, so you can see the table, if you just scroll back two or three -- thank you very much.  That's what I was looking for as I have it on my screen.  Thank you.

Again, I got a similar answer in (b):
"Enbridge assesses the market prices by leveraging the competitive bid process through a Request for Proposal or a Quote based on the value and scope of work, contract terms, and resourcing needs."

How do you do that if you only have one provider?

MS. FERGUSON:  Tanya Ferguson.  Not being involved in the actual RFP proposals, I would have to defer to the O&M panel again.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, I'm going to -- I'm going to try to ask questions that maybe are more financially-based then.

And sorry that I skipped over, because I believe you folks would have read the interrogatory responses.  You didn't create all of them.  But Enbridge does not have contracts with yet other companies that does similar work for Lakeside.

So its sole source is what I'm reading here, for me to work in emergency response; do I have that part correct?

MS. FERGUSON:  Tanya Ferguson.  Yes, believe that's correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, do you know if Lakeside does any work for other organizations?

MS. FERGUSON:  Tanya Ferguson, and, yes, I believe they do, do work for other.  I mean, I think Enbridge Gas Inc. is the majority of it, but they do work for others.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And this is a more specific question, so it may have to go by undertaking:  What percentage of the work is Enbridge work versus other companies?

MS. FERGUSON:  I would have to undertake --


MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Quinn, I'm just curious as to how you think a response to that would be of any assistance?

MR. QUINN:  Well, Mr. O'Leary, before we take -- before you consider taking the undertaking, maybe I'll ask the follow-up question to that then is:  This is a sole-source company for which Enbridge is getting some services, and I respect there's been an evolution over time, including the acquisition, but what I wanted to ask is if Enbridge can provide the financials for its affiliate company to demonstrate that it is getting value for service financially in terms of how Lakeside's financial performance has been over the time since the acquisition, because the sole-sourcing makes it difficult for rate-payers to see the value proposition without understanding the value for service that's being provided.

MR. O'LEARY:  It sounds like all these questions would be better put to the O&M panel, and they may be able to respond to them right at that point in time, but as a result, I think that's the appropriate time to request any undertaking.  You can assess whether or not it is appropriate in the line of questioning at that point.

MR. QUINN:  Well, Mr. O'Leary, this is a question about the financials, not the O&M, and there may be specificity around performance metrics, which I asked earlier, and so can and will Enbridge provide the financials from the year before and then subsequent years for which it has owned Lakeside Performance Gas Services?

MR. O'LEARY:  Again, Mr. Quinn, I think the appropriate time is to have you ask for these questions of the O&M panel, and we can assess at that point the relevance of them and whether or not the undertaking should be given, so my respectful suggestion is that you move along and elicit it as part of, I think it's panel 6.

MR. QUINN:  Well, Mr. O'Leary, this is a financial question; this is financial performance.  This is not O&M-based.

Is there not a -- I thought this panel was responsible for affiliate transactions?

MR. O'LEARY:  This panel is responsible for speaking to customer engagement and the utility consolidation, and it, as indicated through the response that Ms. Ferguson gave that she is not a person that is versed in the areas that you are specifically asking questions about, so that's why we think it is inappropriate to request the financial information at this point in time.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, I will take that as a deferral, but frankly, we were directed as 1.6 exhibits and (inaudible) financial services to this panel, this is a financial question.

I don't want to get to panel 6 and find out I should have asked my financial question to panel 1.

So we'll do -- we'll follow the process you're outlining, but we are asking, and I expect the company to consider its ability to provide the financials for its affiliate company.

MR. O'LEARY:  We will fully entertain your request again at that time.  We are not saying -- we won't ask it again and at that point we will not say that you should have asked it today.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  If we can scroll up one more again to FRPO-5, please, 5.

So again, Tidal Energy marketing is a hundred percent owned company of Enbridge Inc; do I have that correct?


MS. FERGUSON:  Tanya Ferguson.  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, so we asked some questions about the transactions with the affiliate company, and there is a table on the third page that I -- just to orient the witnesses again, I just wanted to scroll down to that so you can see the transactions and the scope of transactions that have occurred over time.

Sorry, there is some attachment.  Yes, thank you.

So these are the transactions with Tidal Energy and again, to clarify, there's the revenue line, so this, our services, that Tidal is providing to Enbridge Gas Inc.; is that correct?


MS. FERGUSON:  Yes, Tanya Ferguson.  That would be correct.

MR. QUINN:  And then further on in that side, there are costs, EGI costs with Tidal.  So these are services including commodity that Enbridge Gas Inc. would be getting from Tidal, correct?


MS. FERGUSON:  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  So now if I may, if we can scroll back up to the responses that were provided.  That's great, thank you.

So, in question (b) it says that EGI "Total revenue" with Tidal "outlined in attachment 1 contains transactions negotiated directly with Tidal and transactions awarded as a result of competitive bidding processes through RFP open seasons."

Can this panel provide what percentage of those transactions were RFP versus negotiated with Tidal?


MS. FERGUSON:  Tanya Ferguson.  Again, that would be best supplied by the gas supply panel.  They would have that level of detail.

MR. QUINN:  I don't want to read into this, so I have to ask the question for you to tell me if it's for the next panel, but in the "further", the second paragraph -- if we scroll down two sentences, thank you -- it goes on to say:
"All gas purchases from Tidal was completed by RFP whereby bids were awarded... for the lowest price."

So I would like the gas purchases to be broken out from those revenues for Tidal cost to Enbridge Gas Inc.  Is that something this this panel can do or do I need to ask the gas supply panel?

MS. FERGUSON:  You need to ask the gas supply panel.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, Mr. Millar, I don't know how we negotiate the time but in reality, that's the end of my questions for this panel.  But clearly I've got questions I've got to defer to other panels now.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you, Mr. Quinn.  We'll see how it works out.

MR. QUINN:  Yeah.

MR. MILLAR:  But we will move on now to.  We have Schools up next.  I'm not sure if it's Mr. Rubenstein or Mr. Shepherd, but we have you down for up to 20 minutes.
Examination by Mr. Rubenstein:


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I can start by asking, and just before I begin there are a number questions relating to exhibit 1.2 that I had asked your counsel Mr. Stevens last week, how do address those since they didn't exactly fit into the schedule and I was told to attempt -- attempt them on the first two panels, as they relate to those issues.  So let's try that.

If I can ask you to turn to 1.2 SEC 77.

So in this interrogatory we ask for third-party benchmarking studies and analysis that Enbridge has undertaken or been included in -- since 2017 and that are not already on the record.

And in the response there is a number of -- there is a discussion about the benchmarking studies that you have undertaken that not in the evidence and reasons why they cannot be provided.  And I just want to, before I go through them, I just want to -- I just want to make sure I understand.

So if we take a look at the first -- the second paragraph, it says:
"Enbridge Gas participates in annual benchmarking studies for its membership in the Canadian Gas Association and the American Gas Association."


And then it references that the American Gas Association also addresses special topic areas, and it lists those.  Do you see that?


MS. FERGUSON:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I want to make sure there are those separate things.  So there is annual benchmarking studies that are undertaken through the CGA and the AGA, and then on top of that, there is that list of special studies that have I guess been undertaken since 2017.


MS. FERGUSON:  Tanya Ferguson, I believe that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I'm going to ask that you do provide a copy of the annual benchmarking studies from the CGA and the AGA, as well as those listed.  And I know you have refused, as I understand it, based on confidentiality agreements.  But I'll ask against since the OEB has said on countless times that confidentiality agreements with third parties are not reason for nondisclosure of relevant information.

MR. O'LEARY:  We're going to stand by the position taken in the interrogatory response, Mr. Rubenstein.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I ask, so at least if we're going to have an argument at some later stage that we at least know what we are arguing about, if that by way of undertaking Enbridge is able to provide, with respect to the annual benchmarking studies that are undertaken with the CGA and the AGA that they could provide list of what is benchmarked, what is measured so we have a better sense of what is actually the contents of those benchmarking studies?


MR. O'LEARY:  Let me take that back and discuss matters, and we can give you a response to that.  It is something that I think we have to inquire further, to be able to determine whether or not I can even respond to it.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, I understand.  I guess we can mark that as an undertaking obviously prefaced with your comments, Mr. O'Leary.

MR. MILLAR:  Let's mark it, Mr. O'Leary.  Let's mark it as JT1.7, again with the understanding that the response may not be much other than it can't be provided.  But I will mark it.  JT1.7.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.7:  WITH MR. O'LEARY'S CAVEATS TO THE INQUIRY, TO PROVIDE A COPY OF THE ANNUAL BENCHMARKING STUDIES FROM THE CGA AND THE AGA, AS WELL AS THOSE LISTED; TO PROVIDE A LIST OF WHAT IS BENCHMARKED, WHAT IS ACTUALLY THE CONTENTS OF THOSE BENCHMARKING STUDIES.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I now move to 1.2 SEC 79.

So in this undertaking you were asked to provide corporate scorecards or similar documents that set internal targets and track performance of the regulated business.

And you do provide a copy of the internal gas distribution storage business units scorecards for 2019 to 2020 in the attachments.

And just so I understand, you provide with respect to 2019 through 2021 the, I guess, the end of year or the final scorecards which shows the targets and the results, but the 2022, and this may just be a function of when the interrogatories were produced, does not show the year-end results.

Do those -- does that version exist and can you provide it?

MR. O'LEARY:  My understanding is that it does not exist, so it can't be provided.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And when would it exist and why doesn't it exist at this time?


MR. O'LEARY:  Our understanding is it is still being finalized.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right; and is the 2023 scorecard, is that available?

MS. FERGUSON:  Tanya Ferguson.  I believe the 2023 scorecard has just been finalized.  I'll have to take that back.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are you able to provide it then or can you provide it, please.

MS. FERGUSON:...targets, yeah, yeah.

MR. MILLAR:  That's JT1.8.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.8:  TO FILE THE 2022 AND 2023 SCORECARDS.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I ask about --


MR. O'LEARY:  I just wanted to correct -- it appears that I misspoke.  It may be that we were mistaken.  Ms. Ferguson, can you advise whether or not the 2022 is available?

MS. FERGUSON:  Right, Tanya Ferguson.  I believe the 2022 results were just finalized literally within the last week or so, so we probably have that as well.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right, can you provide that under the same undertaking, please.

MS. FERGUSON:  Yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And can I -- if we can maybe go to page 4 of the attachment 1, just use the scorecard for 2022 as an example.

Just so I understand, this is for the gas distribution and storage unit, and that is, as I understand, includes Enbridge Gas Inc, the regulated entity, so essentially what's at issue in this proceeding, the unregulated entity, as well as Gazifère?

MS. FERGUSON:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is there any other entities that would be included within this scorecard -- or business -- sub-business units?

MS. FERGUSON:  No, that's the majority of them.  That would be it.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so there are others?

MS. FERGUSON:  Subject to check, but I believe that is it, the three of them.  But there are some smaller entities that are, you know, non-sequential, non-consequential.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And so for certain of these measures, for example, let's take the financial measures, so the maintained -- the adjusted EBIDTA measure and then the EBIDTA generated by gross capital measure.  Internally when the gas distribution storage business unit receives the targets for the year, do they then break those down into the sub-components, so the Enbridge Gas-regulated, Enbridge unregulated, Gazifère internally?  Do you do that?

MS. FERGUSON:  The storage revenues themselves?  That's what you're asking about?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, so -- no.  So when the gas distribution storage business unit, which is my understanding.

MS. FERGUSON:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  When it receives this scorecard for the year and there are targets, does the -- internally within the gas distribution storage business unit, do you then internally break those down into the regulated Enbridge Gas business, the unregulated Enbridge Gas business, the Gazifère business?

MS. FERGUSON:  We effectively roll them all up to determine the results.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, I understand for the results, but you get targets, and I'm just trying to say, do you then break those targets down internally to determine the regulated business needs to meet this and so on.

MS. FERGUSON:  No, I -- I see where you're going now.  No, we do not break those targets out.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Thank you very much.

Could I ask if you could to go 1.2 SEC 81.

So you were asked in this interrogatory to provide Enbridge's most recent business plan or similar document if there is no formal business plan, and you provide as a response a gas distribution and storage presentation that was provided as part of Enbridge Day Investment Conference; do I have that correct?

MS. FERGUSON:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So do I take it you -- is that what you consider a business plan?

MS. FERGUSON:  I would say it's the -- it's the -- I guess it's the communication of the business plan.

That's what we would use to communicate what our business plan is.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But is there a, I mean, a...

MS. FERGUSON:  That is effectively what it ends up being, is that Investor Day presentation.  That's...

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But internally is there an internal business plan?  As I understand, the document you provided is essentially a public document that you obviously provide publicly to your investors, but is there an internal business plan that is either -- that is used internally within the gas distribution storage component or Enbridge Gas Distribution or that is sent to Enbridge Inc.?

MS. FERGUSON:  There is no other document that we would have produced as part of a business plan.  That would be it.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Thank you.

Can I ask you to go to -- I won't ask you to pull this up, but -- I will explain it in a moment.  In 1.9 SEC 88 we had asked you in relation to the integration savings for each of the initiatives to provide a breakdown of the initiatives, the details of the methodology used to calculate it, and provide the underlying calculations.

In response you point parties to -- or you point the reader to 1.9 CCC 25(a) to (c), so maybe we can pull that up.  That's 1.9 CCC 25.

So when I review the response as well as the -- there is an attachment to that response -- what I don't see is what was requested in the SEC interrogatory, which is for each of the initiatives a detail of the methodology used in the underlying calculations.  Can you please provide that?

MS. FERGUSON:  Tanya Ferguson.  I can.

So I guess the challenge is, with respect to certain costs we captured them at a portfolio level.  So any of our O&M costs were made up of employees and contractor or consultants that would have been involved in many different initiatives, so we did not allocate those costs to specific initiatives.  That's the challenge in providing the details.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But then how did you determine then for each?  Because you have specific numbers for each initiative.

MS. FERGUSON:  For the synergies we -- I'm just thinking back.  We have significant more detail on the synergies, and on the capital we have provided that.

It is the O&M teams within each VP group that were involved in migrating the two legacy companies.  They worked on multiple initiatives, so we didn't split out -- an FTE tied into integration led to three different initiatives, and we didn't allocate their time to these three different initiatives.  That's where I'm going.  That level of detail does not exist.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  In the evidence there are tables where you have -- maybe initiative category levels is maybe the best way to put it.

MS. FERGUSON:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And there are specific numbers there, and obviously to derive these specific numbers you undertook calculations of some form, and so can you provide them at that level?  I mean, at some point -- I'm trying to understand how you got to the numbers, and so if you can't find it at the initiative level, somehow you were -- at some level you were able to make -- you did calculations to get to those numbers, and I would like to understand those numbers and the methodology used.

MS. LINDLEY:  Trinette Lindley.  Mr. Rubenstein, the way that the calculations were made, they were removed from the budget.

The savings that were identified by specific initiatives were removed from our budgets, so I'm not sure that it was a calculation per se.  If it was an organizational change, for example, that specific salary would have been removed from that specific budget, and that's the item that you would see deriving the total number that you see that builds up the category level. So it is not an inferred calculation; it is a direct removal.

I hope that helps clarify.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, a little bit.  I mean, you do explain some of that in the response at -- sort of at a high level.  But you presumably -- and I take it -- Ms. Ferguson's comments.  I just want to make sure I understand and what is available.

Presumably, somewhere sitting underneath those tables there is a -- you have much greater detail of how those numbers are derived, correct?  And it may be that it was a -- the answer to one initiative is, well, the business unit told us that's less people -- I'm using a very simplistic example here -- the business unit told us that they have four less people, so it's a saving of four times some number, but that can't be the case for all of them, and including in your response you talk about labour and non-labour and all these other things, so presumably underneath there's some greater detail that you can provide.

MS. LINDLEY:  Yes, Mr. Rubenstein, we he can provide a greater granular list. Where I wanted us to be clear was a question around how they were derived.

It wasn't a question of how it was derived; it was a question of that the saving was actually removed from a budget.  There won't be a type of methodology that you see; it will be X amount of dollars attributed to this initiative removed from their O&M budget.  Just to be clear.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay, well I mean I guess that could be -- it would be in response that that's -- for initiative X, that is how it was calculated.  And I guess the question is how the business unit derived that that's what it was removing out of its budget, related to that integration saving.  If that makes sense.

MS. LINDLEY:  Correct, I believe that's the case.  Can we just clarify exactly what you're looking for us to undertake, so I'm clear?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's fair.  I'm looking essentially to the request that we had asked you in the SEC interrogatory, to the best of your ability, I'll use this, or best available information that you have, is for each of the integration activities, how the savings were calculated, what the calculations were.  How it was done.


MS. LINDLEY:  Yes, we can provide that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.


MR. MILLAR:  That was JT1.9.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.9:  TO THE BEST OF ENBRIDGE'S ABILITY OR USING THE BEST AVAILABLE INFORMATION, FOR EACH OF THE INTEGRATION ACITIVITES, TO ADVISE HOW THE SAVINGS WERE CALCULATED, WHAT THE CALCULATIONS WERE.  HOW IT WAS DONE.


MS. LINDLEY:  Yes, thank you.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Could I ask you to go to 1.9 SEC 90.

In this interrogatory we had asked:
"In addition to integration-activity-related savings what other productivity and efficiency measures has the Applicant taken since 2018 and plans to take through the end of the test year, and to quantify those savings and explain the calculations."

And you provide a table in attachment 1.


I just want to understand.  There are really two components as I -- or two types, as I read this table.  One is you have specific initiatives or, you know, that are listed, as well as, and in addition to that you have what you call embedded productivity.  So that, as I understand, is, at least at the time of preparing the table and budgets you had not determined how you were going to meet those savings.  They are not initiative-specific.  Do I have that correct?  Those are the sort of two categories?


MS. FERGUSON:  Tanya Ferguson.  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  With respect to the initiatives that you have actually undertaken, so for example, the largest one being process optimization under the customer care line item, you point to the evidence that essentially provides more details, but I -- similar to my questions before, it's note clear how those numbers were derived, what is the basis of those savings.

And so could I ask you to similarly provide -- and we can -- we can leave it to the process optimization under customer care, just because of its magnitude as compared to the rest how those numbers were derived.  Is that something you can do?


MS. FERGUSON:  -- Ferguson.  We he could do that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's JT1.10.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.10:  TO PROVIDE THE CALCULATION OF THE PROCESS OPTIMIZATION UNDER THE CUSTOMER CARE LINE ITEM.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  Could I ask you -- if I could ask you to go to 1.6 SEC 84.  This is with respect to customer engagement.

In this interrogatory we had asked for the versions of the workbooks and the surveys that were provided to the participants, and you provided a number of the documents in attachment 1.

Can I ask you to go, for example, let's go to page 50 of attachment 1.  This is 50 of 152.

This is for residential, but there is a similar -- there is a similar table on page 77 as relates to GS for the business customers in that version of the workbook.

But as I understand this page, this was with respect to the -- you were asking about moving to a single rate zone and the impacts of that.

Do I have that correct?

MS. SWEET:  Karen Sweet.  But -- umm... the purpose of this page is to give background information for questions concerning rate zone -- or questions -- sorry, concerning rate consolidation.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so you provide a table on this page, if you scroll down a bit, it shows the current rate zone, current average annual bill based on 2,400 metres cubed and then the average cost adjustment at current rates.

And then you  provide on page 77 there is a similar table that just, as I understand it, it's in the workbook for the business customers.

I just want to understand how you derived the average cost adjustment at current rates.  What does that include?

And you may want to do this by way of undertaking, because when I look at the bill impact -- and this is both for residential and for the business customers, business general service customers and those customers -- they don't -- at least as it relates to specifically and especially on Union South customers, they don't match the bill impacts that you provided in this application.  And they are quite far off, in some regards.


I'm just trying to understand, what were the inputs to the cost adjustment numbers, at least at the time you were preparing this.

MS. SWEET:  Karen Sweet here.  So it may be helpful to clarify that when we tested -- sorry, when we did the engagement, when we fielded this workbook, the final rates hadn't been developed.  so what we were using here were the best estimates that were available at the time.  So it would have been the best that was available as of November 2021.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay, but -- I understand that part.  But I just want to understand what this is supposed to include.  So is this including -- is this the adjustment between what would be the 2014 rate harmonization proposal?  Is this supposed to represent through to 2028, the average cost adjustment?  I'm just -- that's the information I'd like to understand better.

MS. SWEET:  Okay.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Because that's not clear reading this, but I don't know what were the inputs to the average cost adjustment on page 50 and 77 of the attachment.

MS. SWEET:  Okay.  Karen Sweet.  It is fair to say that I wouldn't be able to get into the very technical details there, and I think that's what you're looking for.  So I think we're okay with that as an undertaking.

MR. MILLAR:  I think that's JT1.11.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.11:  TO ADVISE THE DERIVATION OF THE AVERAGE COST ADJUSTMENT AT CURRENT RATES.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Panel, those are all my questions.  Thank you very much.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein.  A number of people have dropped off with their questions, and in fact we only have one party left, and that is CCC, which is Julie.  Julie, I see your name there, but are you actually in the room.

I think we had an indication from Julie that she might have to drop off for another meeting.  So Julie are you there?  I am not seeing Julie there.

What I am going to suggest is we take our lunch break a little bit early.  We will still break for 45 minutes and hopefully we will have tracked down Julie by that time.

In the event that we are unsuccessful, I think we're going to be calling up Panel 2.  We don't really have a lot of time to waste so we'll have to plow forward but we will of course try to get do our best to get in touch with Julie.  I'm not sure if she actually has any questions left.  She wasn't down for very much time.


Kent, I see you have come up on the screen.


MR. ELSON:  I just had a quick question because we planned to be asking some questions on some documents that Enbridge provided yesterday, and just hoping that those are going to be provided so that we can ask questions on the sort of official versions.

I'm happy to follow up with David over email, but now that we'll be up a fair bit earlier than expected, I just wanted to flag that that's where I'm planning on starting, and so I don't want to have any delays and so I wanted to flag that now.

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  I will pass that message along to David.

MR. ELSON:  Thanks.

MR. MILLAR:  So with that we will break for 45 minutes, so to about 12:50.

So again, we may have questions for panel 1 so I will ask panel 1 to stick around.  If we can't find Julie or she indicates she doesn't have questions we will move to Panel 2.

So unless there are any questions, enjoy your lunch, everyone, and I will see you in 45 minutes.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:05 p.m.
--- On resuming at 12:50 p.m.

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, to Mr. Quinn's questions that related to, I believe it was FRPO 5.

As one might expect, some of the numbering in an application this size may get a little mixed up here within the interrogatory responses that were referred to as Exhibit I.6, but I think really the evidentiary references were to Exhibit I.8.  But if it would be of any assistance, what we'd like to suggest to Mr. Quinn, if it would be helpful, his questions relating to the various RFP processes, that's something that he could direct to panel 6, which is the O&M panel.

For FRPO 5, the questions in the response under (a) would go to panel 5.  And the responses to -- his questions in respect to responses to -- response at (b) go to panel 7.  I hope that's a little assistance.

Then we just have one subject to check that Ms. Ferguson had gone by and had an examination of the GDS percentage that is utility versus unregulated.  Do you have a response?

MS. FERGUSON:  Yes.  Tanya Ferguson.  The scorecard for GDS is in excess of 99 percent, EGI, and Gazifère, so the other smaller entities are very, very tiny, so it is largely EGI and Gazifère.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. O'Leary.  And with that, I will turn it over to you, Ms. Girvan.
Examination by Ms. Girvan:

MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you, panel.  Julie Girvan, on behalf of the Consumers Council of Canada.  I apologize if you hear some construction sounds.  It is very loud outside, despite the fact my window is shut.

But anyway, if you could please refer to I. -- sort of I.1.9, CCC 25.  I think Mr. Rubenstein took you to this earlier.

And I'm just trying to get a sense of the integration savings through the term plan and also -- so if you could turn to page 3, that would be helpful.

Through the term plan and then what is embedded in rates for 2024.

So in this first schedule what I understand is you are proposing that within 2024 rates there is $86 million worth of integration savings; is that correct?

MS. FERGUSON:  Tanya Ferguson.  Yes, it is.

MS. GIRVAN:  Can you explain to me what the 328 million is?

MS. FERGUSON:  That would be the total term savings, so it would be the equivalent of 2019 through to 2023, the addition of.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  But then at the end of the day on an annual basis you are saying that the total is 86 million.

MS. FERGUSON:  Yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So of that 328, did that flow through to the shareholders?

MS. FERGUSON:  It would have been included in EGI's earnings throughout the term, subject to ESM filing as well --


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  I don't -- I'm not aware that there was any ESM during the term of the plan; do you know if there was?

MS. FERGUSON:  No, there was not.  We did not have any -- we didn't reach the sharing.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So that benefit flowed [audio dropout] the shareholders.

So the second number I am just trying to understand a little bit better is the 252 million, so that's the capital expenditures over the term of the plan that specifically relate to interaction; that's correct?

MS. DREVENY:  Danielle Dreveny.  That's correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And what you are proposing in this case is that the net book value of that amount is to be recovered from rate-payers going forward?

MS. DREVENY:  That's correct.  Danielle Dreveny.  Yes, that's correct.

Okay.  And can you explain to me the calculation of that amount?  And I've seen it in a few places.  I can't remember the number.  It is 178.5, but I am not entirely clear whether that's been updated or not.

MS. DREVENY:  Danielle Dreveny.  Yes, that's correct.  The amount is 178.5.

That is the difference between the total capital expenditure and the depreciation that is calculated on the assets --


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So --


MS. DREVENY:  -- by the end of 2023.

MS. GIRVAN:  So the majority of the capital that was expended during the deferred rebasing period is to be recovered from rate-payers, the capital expenditure amount.

MS. DREVENY:  Danielle Dreveny.  That's a fair comment.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And then can I take you to -- it's SEC 1.9 SEC 89.  And if you just scroll down.  I just want to make sure I understand the numbers.  That's really what I'm getting at.  If you scroll down -- that's right, at that table.

So you have the 163 million.  How does that relate to the 100 -- that's the 178.5.

MS. DREVENY:  If we could take a moment to confer.
[Witness panel confers.]


MS. DREVENY:  Danielle Dreveny.  Thank you, Ms. Girvan.  I think we have to take this as subject to check.

This is based on a TBDA question.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, if you can just help me just reconcile.  I'm just trying to understand the full calculation.

And the second question -- and maybe can you add that -- it says there that the total revenue requirement would reduce to 34 million upon the implementation of the proposed depreciation rates as per the new depreciation study, and I'm just not clear, because it says the 2020forecast revenue requirement related to integration capital is the 54 million, but I would assume that that would include the new treatment of depreciation, because that's what's being proposed for 2024; is that correct?

MS. DREVENY:  Danielle Dreveny.  I think I'd have to take that subject to check.  So the new depreciation rates are implemented as of January 1st, 2024 for purposes of the rebasing application.

MS. GIRVAN:  That's right.  So I don't know why it wouldn't be included in that calculation.

MS. DREVENY:  I'll take that as subject to check, along with the first part of the question.

MS. GIRVAN:  And really what I'm looking at is I'm trying to understand the calculations and the relationships between those numbers and also specifically what's being asked for by Enbridge to be recovered from rate-payers related to the integration capital.

Okay?  And then just one other question on that specific interrogatory.  The TBDA balance.  Is that for another -- is that for the DVA panel?

MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Millar, just in the interest of organization and efficiency, might we suggest that these responses be the formation of a further undertaking?

MR. MILLAR:  Yeah, I'm happy to do that.

I just, I am conscious that it is difficult for the court reporters to summarize these properly.  Is it possible we have a single pithy sentence or two that will describe these?

MS. GIRVAN:  I can try.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Go ahead.

MS. GIRVAN:  I think the first part is to reconcile the relationship between the 178.5 million and the 163 million.

The second question is, why isn't the new depreciation -- why are the new depreciation rates not being applied in this calculation of the 2024 revenue requirement?

The third is, ultimately what is -- what Enbridge is seeking to recover from customers on an annual basis in terms of revenue requirement related to the integration capital.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, so collectively we can refer to this is a JT1.12.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.12:  TO RECONCILE THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE 178.5 MILLION AND THE 163 MILLION.  ALSO TO ADVISE WHY ARE THE NEW DEPRECIATION RATES NOT BEING APPLIED IN THIS CALCULATION OF THE 2024 REVENUE REQUIREMENT.  ALSO TO ADVISE WHAT ENBRIDGE IS SEEKING TO RECOVER FROM CUSTOMERS ON AN ANNUAL BASIS IN TERMS OF REVENUE REQUIREMENT RELATED TO THE INTEGRATION CAPITAL.

MS. GIRVAN:  Great.  Thank you.  I just had another question, and this is 1.9 CCC 26, so it is the next one down from the previous one that we were referring to.  Thank you.

It says under the response that the savings in 2023 are the full integration synergy savings forecast to be achieved through to the end of 2023, and then represents the amount that has been embedded in the 2024 test year forecast.

I'm just trying to understand what that means.  Are you saying that as of the end of 2023 there are no potential synergies to be realized related to the merger, that everything's done?

MS. FERGUSON:  Tanya Ferguson.  We took an aggressive approach to integration during the last five years, and we focused largely on those items that would derive the biggest benefit for both the company and the customer.

So by the end of 2023 there isn't -- we are not expecting the any further integration that would drive economic benefit for the company or customers on the longer term.  And what we are doing is as -- there are still systems that are EGD- and Union-related, but we won't be addressing that until those solutions are end of life.

So as a normal course of asset life cycle we will address them at that point and merge when we can.

Economic benefit was targeted in the last five years.

MS. GIRVAN:  So have you undertaken any analysis to say it's better off to keep those systems separate till the end of life, versus trying to create more synergies by combining them?

MS. FERGUSON:  I'd say at a high level we looked at the variety of things that we could merge, and we picked the ones that drove the greatest amount of synergies for the company and for the customers for the last five-year term.

Of the ones that are remaining there is not a lot of benefit left.

MS. GIRVAN:  So you are not -- you are definitely not going to look for more synergies during the rate plan term?

MS. FERGUSON:  Under the merger of the TIS solution, which is what we have been focusing on, there are still systems.  At some point when those become end of life we will address it then, but we are not anticipating any real synergies available for do that.

We took this last five-year term to go as aggressive as we could, to derive as much as we could.

MS. GIRVAN:  So you're saying there is a hard stop?  At the end of 2023 there is no further synergies related to integration?


MS. FERGUSON:  There will not be an integration initiative focussed on driving further synergies within EGI.

MS. GIRVAN:  I just a couple of questions.  With respect to -- you dealt with this with Mr. Rubenstein.  It is 1.9 SEC 90.  This relates to productivity and efficiency measures through to the end of the test year.

So we have -- there you are saying 35-million-point-2.  Is that incremental to the 86 million?

MS. FERGUSON:  Yes it is.

MS. GIRVAN:  How did you differentiate between productivity related to integration and productivity generally as set out in this schedule?


MS. FERGUSON:  So integration really was bringing the two utilities together, what could we eliminate or remove.  Largely that was the exercise.  Whereas these productivity initiatives are more about deriving new ways of doing things, process improvements.


So one of the things that is in here, under customer care, for example, is applying a more aggressive approach to driving e-bill.  That was not an element of bringing the two utilities together.  It was a different approach and process.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, and to be clear, you didn't have anybody, any external consultants?  I think it is in the other answer, assist you in ensuring that -- in looking at these savings and ensuring that there wasn't any, some form of double-counting?

MS. FERGUSON:  We did not have a third party.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.  So just one other area I just wanted to get at.  This is related to customer engagement, so if you could turn to 1.6 CCC 23.

And the nature of this interrogatory is about understanding the relationship between Enbridge Gas customer and market insights team and the Innovative team.

And the way I would read this is it sounds like Enbridge was the -- sort of took the first cut at developing the customer engagement.  Is that correct?


MS. SWEET:  Karen Sweet.  That is correct.  I would clarify that in taking -- in terms of designing and scoping the engagement we did build off the model in past engagements that Innovative has conducted in Ontario.  So we weren't starting from scratch.  And we also had the previous engagement that we had worked with Innovative directly, the 2019 engagement work they did for Union Gas.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, but you really took the lead in terms of the topics and the capital projects that were identified and those kind of things, right?  I think it says that you "identified topics and developed questions and background information at each of each stage of the engagement."

So you had quite a substantial hand in it.

MS. SWEET:  Karen Sweet.  Yes, we took the initial cut in terms of drafting questions to go ahead into the engagement.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, and Mr. Lyle, is this typically how you do things?  Is this, as an independent consultant that's developing a survey for the customers, a customer engagement -- a comprehensive customer engagement plan, do you normally rely on the utility to have the first sort of cut at it, the first sort of identification of the topics and the questions?

MR. LYLE:  Generally utilities in Ontario don't have the market research resources that Enbridge has, and so it requires us spending more time working directly with planners.  But whether we do the initial work with planners or an internal resource, as happened here, all the workbooks depend on the utilities to identify the topics that they care about.  And then utilities will identify, you know, the questions follow on the topics.

The main difference here is the first draft of the questions were drafted by Enbridge staff and not Innovative Staff.

They were drafted based on both of our understandings of the direction of the handbook and the incremental decisions that panels have made about the quality of past engagements.

We talked about the design before they held the pen (ph).  So it didn't end up really changing things, from my perspective, other than we spent less time and probably Enbridge saved some money that way.

MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Ms. Girvan.  I believe that concludes the questions for panel 1.

Pardon me.  Mr. Quinn, why don't I turn it over to you before I excuse this panel.
Examination by Mr. Quinn:


MR. QUINN:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  I appreciate you trying to keep some track.  We are ahead of schedule and I'll try not to get us off schedule.

I want to go back to SEC, if I may, have it turned up.  1.6 SEC-834.

That's where Mr. Pollock left off and was given an undertaking and I tried to clarify the undertaking, but after consulting with some folks, I wanted to just refine it further.

So if we can go down -- sorry, it is attachment 1, page 37 of that attachment so it's on PDF 887 -- I guess I don't know -- you have a sort of different label.

Thank you.  If you could scroll down to the graph that showed the 1.9 percent.

Thank you very much.  As Mr. Pollock left off, he was given an undertaking.  I asked about the assumptions relative to the commodity embedded in this annual forecasted bill impacts.


To be more precise, if we could get the commodity price that was used for those graphs across the different years, I'm assuming it was constant.  And then additionally, and can you take it as a separate undertaking or embedded in the same, as to what, if you applied the April 1st QRAM commodity price, what would this graph look like.

MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Quinn, we will take that under advisement.

We will have to look at it and see if we can respond with the degree of granularity that you are requesting here, but if we can, we will.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  It should be just math, Mr. O'Leary, in terms of -- if I'm clear enough, it's just what was the commodity price at the time for the purposes of creating the graph then and what is the -- what would those graphs have looked like with the commodity price as of April 1st that the Board is in the process of finalizing for April 1st of 2023.

MR. O'LEARY:  Yep, we understand your request.  We'll try and do our best.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Now, before --


MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, Mr. Quinn, is that part of the existing interrogatory, or did you -- pardon me, undertaking, or did you want that marked separately?

MR. QUINN:  I'm in Mr. O'Leary's hands as to how he wants to manage that.

MR. O'LEARY:  I think for consistency the response should all be part of the same undertaking, so I have it as JT1.11.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.

And frankly, I was taking some notes and was a little distracted, Mr. O'Leary, as I understand you went through some instructions as to where I was supposed to ask questions.  I will read the transcript to get those answers, but he said at the outset about an Exhibit 1.8 versus 1.6, and I've missed that understanding.

What is it you were trying to inform?

MR. O'LEARY:  Well, we were not certain of what was the cause of it, but the -- my understanding -- I haven't checked each one, but the evidentiary references in the interrogatories that you took the panel to were actually referring to Exhibit 1.8, rather than 1.6, which is the customer engagement for the evidence.

So it could simply be that the interrogatory citations were not -- you know, numerically incorrect, so we wanted to just draw that to your attention, and I hope if --

[Multiple speakers.]


MR. QUINN:  If I may, though, because I want to make sure we get this right the first time.  If we can pull up 1.6-FRPO 6.

Okay.  So these are third-party transactions.

I wasn't asking about the customer engagement, but from the panel where Ms. Innis had submitted a letter saying panel 1 will answer questions in this area, 1.6 fell under this panel.

So have I got it wrong in terms of the panel, or are we on the right evidentiary record in terms of seeking answers?

MS. INNIS:  So I think that the confusion is the IR is labelled 1.6, and it talks about Exhibit 1, tab 6, Schedule 1.

That's the evidence reference that is in the IR 1.6-FRPO-6, but the evidence in Exhibit 1, tab 6, Schedule 1 is the customer engagement evidence, which doesn't refer to any of the information that's being requested in the IR.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thanks.

MS. INNIS:  Exhibit 1, tab 8.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.

MS. INNIS:  So I think that's maybe where we were at cross-purposes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  That's helpful, Ms. Innis.  I just want to make sure when we're doing it the next time I've got the right references and we can hopefully expedite this.

Mr. Millar, for your and Mr. O'Leary's consideration, I'm thinking of putting some of these questions in writing ahead of time, and so if the panel then can assist by either answering or say we will accept that as undertaking, either way it will hopefully reduce the time for the subsequent panels.

MR. MILLAR:  Great.  Thank you.  And that was all you had for right now, Mr. Quinn?

MR. QUINN:  That's all I have for this panel.  Thank you very much, panel, and thank you, Mr. O'Leary.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, thank you, Mr. Quinn, and thank you to panel number 1.

That is the end of the questions for you, so you are excused, with the Board's thanks.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. O'Leary, is panel 2 here and ready to go?  We can give you a minute or two to switch over.

MR. STEVENS:  Hi, Michael.  It is David Stevens speaking.  Panel 2 is here.  It will probably take us a couple of minutes to get reset.  We have several witnesses [audio dropout]


And additionally, in response to what Mr. Elson was talking about before lunch, we are imminently going to be second out a letter that attaches confidential versions of documents from -- or attaches redacted versions of documents from Guidehouse.  Mr. Elson said he will be speaking to that, so I think it probably behooves us to spend a couple minutes to wait for all those things to happen before --


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you for that.  And that makes sense to me.

I had meant to mention -- to remind folks that a letter had come out from the Board today, but I think that's at least in part what you're referring to.

Is five minutes sufficient?  I don't want to lose more time than we need.

MR. STEVENS:  Sorry, I think ten minutes would be more appropriate.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Let's come back promptly at 25 after 1:00.  We'll see everyone then.

MS. GOYAL:  Mr. Millar, sorry, before we break --


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MS. GOYAL:  -- I just wanted to introduce myself.  Reena Goyal from McCarthys.  We have just been retained by Guidehouse in connection with Procedural Order 3, the letter that you referred to that was issued by the OEB this morning, so we do have a letter in the works to be filed with the Registrar, just notifying all the parties to this proceeding that we've been retained by Guidehouse and to please include myself in the distribution list.  But I just wanted to put it on the record, as a letter hasn't been filed as yet, so...

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Perfect.  Thank you so much, and welcome.

MS. GOYAL:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  And we'll look forward to a further update as the day continues, and we will see everyone in now nine minutes.
--- Recess taken at 1:16 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:27 p.m.


MR. STEVENS:  Before introducing the witness panel I'd mentioned during the break that Enbridge would be filing documents from Guidehouse that we discussed with certain intervenors at a meeting yesterday.  That is in the process of happening I think within the next couple of minutes.  It should show up in people's email boxes.

It is hard to do everything in real time (inaudible) we can.

So those documents should come through very shortly with a letter from Enbridge, as well as a letter from Guidehouse.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.  I know we are going to pass it over to Mr. Elson in just a moment.

Did you want to introduce your in-room panelists as well?


MR. STEVENS:  I would.  I just want to make sure we're up to that point.

MR. MILLAR:  I think we are, unless you had something further.

MR. STEVENS:  There is nothing further from me.

MR. MILLAR:  Kent or Reena, did you want to address that further?   Is there anything that you need to say?


MR. ELSON:  Not I, thank you, Mr. Millar.


MR. MILLAR:  And I see Ms. Goyal shaking her head, so I think we can proceed to introducing the other witnesses, Mr. Stevens.

And Mr. Stevens, just for your knowledge, I am having a little bit of trouble hearing you.  You might be a little further from the mic, or something.  But if you could take care to speak a little bit more loudly.

MR. STEVENS:  I will do that.  One other preliminary matter I should mention is, just in the time over lunch, Mr. Elson sent along a number of documents that he may refer to in his questioning.

Certainly the Enbridge panel including the experts will do the best they can to answer questions, but I just want to make it known that the panel has not had any real chance to look at these documents, and so depending on the nature of the questions we may have to taking things away and review the documents overnight.

MR. ELSON:  I can speak to that, Mr. Stevens.

The two documents that I actually anticipate referring to are both documents that were referred to in the interrogatory responses.  And, you know, back in the distant past they would have been attached as, you know, an appendix or attachment to an interrogatory response, but in this age they were just provided as a link.

So you know, I just provided those documents so that they can be pulled up on the screen but they are actually your witnesses' answers.  So they should be familiar with the documents.  I would expect those two that I'm hoping to put to them, one of them is a US EPA document, and one of them is the Torchlight Bioresources document.

And now I that I think of it, there was a third that we had already put to them in an interrogatory.

So I don't think that should be an issue, but thank you for flagging it and if it comes up we can address it at the time.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  With that I will turn it over to the witnesses, perhaps starting with the Enbridge Gas witnesses, who are together in the panel on your screen.  And I will ask each of the Enbridge witnesses to introduce themselves, along with their title, and to the extent it's helpful, the areas that they may be speaking to.


I will start with the person on the left of the screen, Mr. Wood.


MR. WOOD:  Hi, everybody.  My name is Cody Wood.  I'm the energy transition specialist in the carbon and energy transition planning group.  I'm here to participate and speak to the Pathways study, as far as Enbridge has been involved, as well as some other aspects of the evidence in section 1.10.

MS. MURPHY:  Hi, I'm Jennifer Murphy, the manager of carbon and energy transition planning, and speaking to a wide depth of energy transition topics.

MS. WADE:  Caroline Wade, director of energy transition planning, and also will be speaking to a broad range of energy transition topics mostly focused on 1.10.

MS. MARTIN:  Tracey Teed Martin, director of engineering, and I'll be speaking to more technical aspect (inaudible) nitrogen blending.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you, can I ask please the Posterity witnesses to introduce themselves.

MR. TIESSEN:  Hi.  Alex Tiessen, principal at Posterity group.  I'm here today to speak to our energy transition scenario analysis reports that were filed as 1.10, schedule 5, attachment 1 and schedule 6, attachment 1.

MR. SHIPLEY:  My name is Dave Shipley and I'm a senior consultant with Posterity group.  I'm the principal developer of the models we use for this kind of work so I'm available to answer more technical, detailed questions.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  And finally Guidehouse.

MR. RINGO:  Hi, my name is Decker Ringo.  I'm an associate director at Guidehouse and I willing be speaking to the Pathways to Net Zero Emissions for Ontario study that Guidehouse led.
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MR. STEVENS:  And with that, Mr. Millar, I believe the panel is ready for questions.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you so much for that, Mr. Stevens. And with that, the floor is yours, Mr. Elson.

And Kent, I think we're going to look to take -- we will probably just go with one break this afternoon, given that we have just taken a break, so an hour and a half, hour and 20 minutes, hour and a half, if you can find something in there that's suitable for a break.
Examination by Mr. Elson:


MR. ELSON:  Thank you, Mr. Millar, and feel free to interrupt me if the timing seems right for you.

Thank you, panelists.  My name is Kent Elson.  I represent Environmental Defence and I'm going to start with some questions for Mr. Ringo following up on the Guidehouse documents.

So just to start a couple of housekeeping matters, in a letter of I guess it was March -- March 19th, Enbridge and Guidehouse agreed to provide certain outputs by March 24th and March 31st.  How far along are you on those, and is there any chance that you can provide them sooner than March 31st?


MR. RINGO:  We are progressing on those.  You are right that we had two batches of information, one we committed to by March 24th, one by March 31st.

I don't expect given the other requests that have been put to us this past week, I don't expect to deliver sooner than those deadlines that we had set out in the letter.

MS. GOYAL:  I'm sorry, Mr. Elson, I don't want to interrupt your line of questioning.  I did just want to let you know that until now we weren't sure if our proposal was acceptable to the intervenors that have requested the information, so it may be that we'll need actually an extra day or two than what has been outlined in that letter, particularly with respect to the March 31st date.  But we will let you know as quickly as possible.

MR. ELSON:  Go ahead, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry, I don't understand what proposal you are talking about.  We were one of the intervenors that asked for this.  Did you propose to have a compromise disclosure?  Because I haven't seen a proposal yet that has been accepted by anybody or has been discussed in detail.


MS. GOYAL:  No, I'm referring to the chart on page 2 of the letter from Guidehouse.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Which is information that you offered to provide.

MS. GOYAL:  Exactly.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You didn't offer to provide it instead of complying with the Board's order.

MS. GOYAL:  No, we were proposing to provide it in response to the request that had been made by ED and second -- one of the other intervenors.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you were proposing to provide instead of providing the stuff that we asked for in the IR that the Board ordered you to produce?


MS. GOYAL:  We're proposing that the information that we are suggesting in the chart of the letter would be responsive to the questions that have been asked, rather than the form of models that has -- was discussed at yesterday's meeting.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And you are not suggesting that there's any agreement to compromise on that at this point?

MS. GOYAL:  No, we just wanted confirmation that the information we proposed to provide in the chart is agreeable, if the intervenors in this particular case are agreeable to receiving that information.

MR. SHEPHERD:  There's a difference between being agreeable to receive that information and receive only that information.  So that's...

MS. GOYAL:  Yes, no, it is just the former.  It's just the former.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's fine.  Thank you.

MS. GOYAL:  Thank you.

MR. ELSON:  I'm not quite sure where that landed.  My understanding, Mr. Ringo, is that you are still on track with the original timelines and I don't see any reason that there would have been delay; am I correct in understanding that?

MR. RINGO:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  Okay, could you also undertake to provide the underlying figures and calculations so that we will understand how you came to those numbers listed in the March 19th letter?

MR. RINGO:  I want to be more specific there.

So the figures listed in the March 19th letter include the costs of renewable natural gas, the cost of hydrogen production, the cost of electricity, and the peak impacts of heat pumps, members of households, et cetera.

When you talk about the calculations required to get there, we have already provided the volume of RNG on an annual basis, as our letter mentioned.

We have already provided the total costs of anaerobic digestion in our response to GEC 20.

What further specific calculations are you interested in?

MR. ELSON:  We would be looking for how you came up with the cost per cubic metre, so if that's as simple as, here's the total volume and here's the total cost, one divided by the other equals the cost per cubic metre, then that would be the underlying calculations.

I don't know that we have that information, that level of granularity, to do the calculations ourselves on the record.  I've looked for that, and I don't think we have the cumulative figures, but whatever you come up with, you can say -- however you come to the numbers, we just want to know how you got there so that we can understand that, I would actually say in particular in relation to the questions around the contribution of electrified heating to electricity load.

So if -- what we are looking for is the underlying figures and calculations so that we know how you came to the numbers that you provided in response to the March 19th letter.  Can you undertake to provide that?

MR. RINGO:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  That's JT1.13.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.13:  TO PROVIDE THE UNDERLYING FIGURES AND CALCULATIONS IN ORDER TO UNDERSTAND HOW THE NUMBERS THAT WERE PROVIDED IN RESPONSE TO THE MARCH 19TH LETTER WERE ARRIVED AT.

MR. ELSON:  So the model, I understand, has an input spreadsheet; is that fair to say?

MR. RINGO:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And it has an output spreadsheet?

MR. RINGO:  That's correct.

MR. ELSON:  And both of those spreadsheets are difficult to understand for someone who is not very familiar with the model; is that fair to say as well?

MR. RINGO:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  Would you undertake to provide a copy of the full input spreadsheet and the full output spreadsheet but adjusted so that it is more easy to understand for someone like myself?

MS. GOYAL:  Mr. Elson, can we take that under advisement?  Our firm has just been retained, as you know, overnight and early morning, and we are still being brought up-to-speed.

Can I ask you that you defer the question 'til tomorrow?

MR. ELSON:  I'm a bit confused as to the process here, Mr. Millar.

I mean, this isn't an Enbridge application, and, you know, Ms. Goyal, I understand that you are here representing a witness, which is very unusual, and I don't know who should be providing undertakings or responding to this.  I mean, if -- I'm at a bit of a loss.

MS. GOYAL:  So I can tell you that, you know, Enbridge has filed correspondence together with enclosed correspondence from Guidehouse indicating that it was going to retain counsel with respect to the production issues that are relating to these models.

As we know, the procedural order came out late last week.  We received another letter from the OEB this morning.  So we are still sort of racing against real time, if you will, and, you know, we can -- if I can ask that this line of questioning be deferred until tomorrow.  I don't think that's an unreasonable ask in the circumstances.

MR. ELSON:  Ms. Goyal, we asked for the inputs and the outputs more than six months ago, and so I do think it is an unreasonable ask at this stage.

And, you know, I understand that Guidehouse has particular concerns about confidentiality, and those can be addressed with the, you know, the processes that the Board has in place.

You know, I think it is up to Enbridge to undertake whether to provide it.  If there's an undertaking and you advise your client this is confidential information, then the undertaking is filed confidentially through the Board processes, and that will protect your client.

And I'm just, you know, I'm a bit concerned about a process where there's multiple objections from multiple parties and we're having to rearrange the schedule here.

MS. GOYAL:  Okay.  I don't think there is multiple objections from multiple parties.  I think what we're asking for is the line of questioning to be deferred until tomorrow.

I do think I'm the only one on the record responding to the questions being put to Mr. Ringo.  I don't think -- again, my understanding is that the particular requests for these input and output spreadsheets and the underlying data that these are new requests and they haven't been made months ago.  If I'm incorrect then, you know, so be it, but in any event, we do require some time and I do require some time to consult with our client.

I understand what you said about the confidentiality processes that the OEB has and that we're all familiar with.  As we've expressed in our letters of last week and today, there is reason to think that those processes are not going to be sufficient in these circumstances, and we also have certain licensing issues that we need to deal with as well which are not covered off by the confidentiality process.

MR. MILLAR:  Let me turn to David, and then I see Ian and Jay have their hands up, but David, please go ahead.

MR. STEVENS:  Thanks, everybody.  I'll start by acknowledging that this is indeed an unusual situation.  I think following from the OEB's procedural order last week and extending to today, we have encountered this scenario where an expert witness for Enbridge has its own issues and concerns with disclosure.  And those issues and concerns, frankly, come from that entity.  It's not that Enbridge is unsympathetic or unsupportive, but they are not Enbridge's objections to make. It's not Enbridge's model.  It's not Enbridge's information.

Guidehouse has opted, and, frankly, this is a good choice, to speak for itself in relation to these objections rather than asking Enbridge to convey the reasons for the objections on its behalf.

Again, recognizing that this is, perhaps, unique, different than what we ordinarily see, it is my hope that it is more efficient to have the objections and concerns raised directly by Guidehouse now rather than raised second-hand by Enbridge and then argued by Guidehouse's counsel if and when we had to have a motion on issues.

MR. MILLAR:  Ian, let me turn it to you.  I saw you next.

MR. MONDROW:  Thanks, Michael.  Ian Mondrow, counsel for IGUA.

We deferred to Environmental Defence and SEC on discovery on these studies, but we have an interest, and so I was simply going to ask, could we have a five-minute adjournment so we could read the letter that's just been issued?

We haven't been privy to these discussions, and given our interest in this and the fact that it's being discussed at a broadly attended technical conference, I think the rest of us should be able to read this correspondence so we can understand hopefully more completely what's being discussed before we continue this discussion.

MR. MILLAR:  Jay?

MR. SHEPHERD:  First, that's reasonable, but it's a 35-page letter with attachments, Ian, so you are going to need more than five minutes.  And it's fairly dense.

I guess my concern is simply a matter of scheduling.  We're -- at the rate we were going -- now maybe that's changed right now -- we were going to be up first thing tomorrow morning.  And our first questions were going to be about all this stuff.

So to still have that outstanding would prevent us from asking the bulk of our questions.

And Kent is in a similar situation, I think, except that he's on today, so he's really going to be before we have the information.

So I raise this question:  Is there an appetite to simply move this whole panel to the end or to later in the process, and Guidehouse or Enbridge agreeing that whatever information you are going to provide, we have it before then?

MR. MILLAR:  I'm happy to hear others' thoughts on this.  And Reena, I'll turn to you in just a moment.

Jay, if we were to do something like that -- I have no idea if there is an appetite for it or not -- we would lose the rest of today, for example, and we are already five hours behind in our scheduling, so we would be down another four hours, which I don't know realistically that we would be able to make up, other than just wholesale cuts to people's time, which generally people are opposed to.

A suggestion I have -- and I'll turn to you in just a moment, Ms. Goyal -- is Kent, I don't know, in terms of Ian's request, I'm reluctant to have a second break by 1:45 in the afternoon.

We are going to have a longer scheduled break coming up, so I might ask Kent if he can move to a -- the next area he has of cross-examination.  If he could go through that and that would over the break allow people to some time to read the letter and we may revisit this.  That's just an idea.


I don't know, Kent, if that fits in your -- in the way of -- the flow of your questions or not.  But Reena, could I turn the floor to you.

MS. GOYAL:  Thank you very much.  I support Mr. Shepherd's suggestion for a couple of reasons.

Obviously it would give everyone an opportunity to digest the correspondence that has just come over in the last hour, but more pertinently, it would also give, particularly counsel for the impacted intervenors here, an opportunity to review and digest the information that Guidehouse has committed to provide by March 24th and March 31st.  And after reviewing that information, it may have a direct impact on either the kind of questions that they want to ask or certainly the number of questions that they want to ask.


So that's all to say if we did punt the panel to later in the schedule, it might be that the line of questioning gets truncated in any event.

MR. MILLAR:  David, I see you have been waiting patiently -- Poch.


MR. POCH:  I'm really speaking on behalf of -- I'm speaking on behalf of Green Energy Coalition, but Chris Neme, as a joint witness of ourselves and ED, he's tasked with having to write a report and file it.  We have a number of questions which would be helpful to get answers to now that we can probably proceed with, even if there's some delay in this -- in -- as we've discussed.


So I'm suggesting we proceed with whatever questions we can, both Kent and myself and SEC, and just then -- well, we may have to perhaps recall -- perhaps just -- perhaps Mr. Ringo, I'm not sure who, briefly sometime next week, if there is some follow-up.


But that way we don't waste any time and I don't hold up my witness in terms of preparing his report to the extent possible.  Is that agreeable to everyone?

MR. STEVENS:  If I may, I'd like to convey a couple of thoughts on behalf of the Applicant here.

First of all, I can advise that your guess is correct, Michael, that if this panel is not to proceed today then unfortunately we would be finished for the day.  We can't summons and empanel panel number 3 who weren't expected to be up for some time, immediately.

Secondly, we, like everybody else, see how many hours we need to get through during this technical conference and we're eager to have that happen, so I certainly second Mr. Poch's idea that we move ahead as best we can.

I mean, I would hope that there is the opportunity, if this is the way that we need to go this afternoon, to start with questions that are of parties other than Guidehouse, and then proceed from there.

And I do acknowledge that depending how things play out, it might become necessary for at least Mr. Ringo to re-attend, hopefully briefly, at some point a little later in our eight days together.

MR. MILLAR:  Ms. Goyal.

MS. GOYAL:  Thank you.  And just to be clear, Mr. Ringo is available and prepared today to answer questions relating to the report.  It's just the questions pertaining to the further production requests that we are asking to be deferred, pending the opportunity for intervenor counsel and other parties to review the information to be provided on March 24th and 31st.

MR. ELSON:  Can I suggest a solution, Mr. Millar?


MR. MILLAR:  Please.

MR. ELSON:  This all started with a question and an objection not by the Applicant but by counsel for a witness.  And, you know, maybe a way around that, my understanding is that the witness's concerns are exclusively from the perspective of confidentiality, so Enbridge can provide the undertaking subject to review for confidentiality, and reserve its right to say what it's going to say about confidentiality when it files its undertaking response.

It will have three options.  It can either file it publicly or it can file it confidentially, or it can file it confidentially and say that this is so confidential that no one should be able to look at it, which are the three options available.


And that way, you know, we can stick with the normal process where it's the Applicant that undertakes or doesn't undertake whether to provide materials.

As for proceeding today, I can skip, for now, the set of questions on the document that just got forwarded onto folks until after the break.  That is a little bit awkward for my flow, but that's fine.


If that's -- if that's helpful and I would turn to a couple of questions for Enbridge, a couple of questions for Posterity and then some questions for Guidehouse that are flowing from the interrogatory responses, and then after the break come back to some questions on those specific documents, which are pretty high-level at this stage.


So I propose that we proceed with that, do as much as we can with, you know, what we have today and if we need to recall Mr. Ringo, not next week but the week afterward, or whatever, whenever possible.

MR. MILLAR:  With respect to marking it as an undertaking, I'm not sure it matters one way or another, whether we mark it now.  Enbridge can say they will look into the future, but there is still clearly a dispute as to -- I think it may go slightly beyond confidentiality.  I don't want to put words in Ms. Goyal's mouth, but whether we mark it here now, I don't think anything is going to turn on that in terms of its ultimate production.

So again, I am sort of in Davi and Reena's hands on that.

I do appreciate your offer to continue with your examination and to reorder it a little bit, as necessary.  So I do propose we go forward on that basis.  I really do not want to lose the rest of the day.

Jay, I see you may object to my suggestions regarding the undertaking --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no, I'm not objecting, but I think we do have to mark it as an undertaking, and the reason is that while the witness may object to providing the document to Enbridge, Enbridge is not allowed to object to providing the document to the Board.  They are different obligations, and I want to keep those clear.

Enbridge has an obligation, if it can get the documents, to give them to the Board.

[Multiple speakers.]


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  There is only a question of confidentiality.

Enbridge may answer by saying we can't get the documents because Guidehouse refuses to give them to us.  That's a different question.  That's not what we're dealing with today.


So the undertaking, I believe should stand.

MR. MILLAR:  David, go ahead.  I really don't want to get into a big dispute about this because  I'm not sure much will turn on it, in the end, and Enbridge could in theory object on bases other than confidentiality.

David, do you have a point on this?  I do want to keep moving.

MR. STEVENS:  Two very quick points.  First of all, I think Enbridge is not prepared to give an undertaking that it has some doubt as to whether it can meet.

As a lawyer, I can't give an undertaking saying I will do something when there is doubt in my mind as to whether I can complete it or not.

My suggestion is that the questions get noted.  Where there appears to be some objection from Guidehouse, the questions be noted as having been taken under advisement, and that will allow for an opportunity for Enbridge to determine whether there is -- on the one hand, there is the question that is the appropriateness of the undertaking but on the other hand there is a question as to whether Enbridge will be in a position to be able to satisfy the undertaking.

MR. MILLAR:  I can't require Enbridge to give an undertaking, obviously -- or anyone, for that matter.

Everyone knows what the issues is and the questions are here.  This is not going away, so frankly, whether it is marked or not I think the Board will end up -- either some solution will be reached amongst the parties, or the Board will have to deal with it at some point.

I am going to propose we continue.  Mr. Elson, I do appreciate your efforts to try and -- to rejig your questions to get around this particular issue for now, with the understanding that it will arise again.  I'm sure you will be chatting about it with Ms. Goyal and perhaps Mr. Stevens offline, with Mr. Shepherd, and if necessary we may have to recall Mr. Ringo at a later date.

With all that said, are you prepared to continue?

MR. ELSON:  Yes.  I'm going it going to have to return to that question, so it is going to come up again but maybe it is better to come up after the break.

I still have some concerns from a process perspective, but let's try to arrange those, deal with those over the break.

MR. MILLAR:  If you could try to take us to 2:30 we'll look to break about then.

MR. ELSON:  I'm not sure how we want to allocate the last 20 minutes as to whose time or anyone's time.

MR. MILLAR:  Let's plow on.

MR. ELSON:  And I'll put a pin in that and it may come up later.

I will come back to the set of questions that I was just on after the break, or later on, and move to some other questions.

First, to Enbridge, and in particular, a question further to Environmental Defence 9.  I believe that would be 1.10.ED9.

In particular, on page 2 we had asked a question about the design day demand from gas plant, and you will see that the demand increases between '23 and 2024.  And my question is whether that increase in design day demand corresponds to a procurement of 1,500 megawatts of gas by the ISO or if there is another explanation for it.

MR. WOOD:  Enbridge Gas, Cody Wood.

My understanding of that increase is that it is due to conversations and best guesses from the conversations between the customer contract rate group that interact with the power producers and what their likelihood is of usage into the future, so it is based on market data that's collected in conversations between the customer and our customer representatives.

MR. ELSON:  I guess what I'm trying to determine is whether the potential incremental 1,500 megawatts of gas demand would be in addition to this or would be already captured by this, and maybe that's something that you'd have to take away.

MR. WOOD:  Enbridge, Cody Wood.  Again, I can say that it's in reference to the conversations between our connections folks, our key account representatives, and the power producers themselves as to what their anticipated use would be on a future basis.

Whether or not that includes the reference to increase and capacity requirement or proposed capacity requirement from natural gas fire generation, that is obviously between the power producers and whatever is selected between them and the ISO, insofar as it's built into forecasting here.  Again, that conversation depends on what has been communicated or what has been selected from the ISO and the power producers themselves.

MR. ELSON:  I don't think that quite answered my question, and it may be that you don't know the answer,  but I think I'll just repeat the question and ask you to take it away and talk to the group that is, you know, responsible for determining these numbers, to ask them whether this table in their understanding is inclusive of an increase by 1,500 megawatts or whether that would be in addition to or whether it's part of.

Can you take that away and talk to those folks?

MS. WADE:  Caroline Wade, Enbridge Gas.

We can accept that as an undertaking.  I'm not sure the response will be different than what Cody has given, but we can take that.

MR. MILLAR:  The Undertaking is JT1.14.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.14:  TO ADVISE WHETHER THIS TABLE IN THEIR UNDERSTANDING IS INCLUSIVE OF AN INCREASE BY 1,500 MEGAWATTS OR WHETHER THAT WOULD BE IN ADDITION TO OR WHETHER IT'S PART OF; TO ALSO ASK THEM IF THEY HAVE ANY INFORMATION ABOUT THE LOCATION OF THE GAS-FIRED GENERATION THAT LED TO THE INCREASE.

MR. ELSON:  And if you can shed any light on what this would relate to in terms of megawatts of gas power generation, that would help us discern whether it is a portion or the full amount.

MR. STEVENS:  Just to be clear, Kent.  This is David Stevens speaking.  When you speak about "this" you are speaking about the difference in demand between 2023 and 2024?

MR. ELSON:  The increase in demand between 2023 and 2024, yes.

UNIDENTIFIED WITNESS:  Sorry, to translate that --


MR. STEVENS:  If I understand right, you are asking Enbridge to enquire of the folks who put this forecast together if they have any understanding of how many additional megawatts that additional design day demand would support?

MR. ELSON:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  We can add that to the same undertaking.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.

And I take it because this wouldn't have an increase on the Dawn-Parkway system that these would be facilities located near the Don Hub; is that a fair assessment?

MR. WOODS:  Enbridge Gas, Cody Wood.

I think to characterize it in that manner would not be a fair assessment.

I think that there are numerous gas-fired power plants spread out across the province.

I also believe that this could be representative of gas-fired increases elsewhere in the province and not necessarily localized within the Don Hub area, so to that extent I wouldn't say it would be a fair characterization.

MR. ELSON:  Can you undertake to provide more details then in terms of the expected location of the increase in gas power generation design day demand?

MS. WADE:  Cara-Lynne Wade, Enbridge Gas.

The panel 5 is the panel that would be able to answer that.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  If I could turn to ED-14 please.

Actually, I don't need to turn it up.

Could Enbridge provide its best estimate of the feasible RNG potential in Ontario?

MS. MURPHY:  Jennifer Murphy, Enbridge Gas.

So in ED-14, which is I.1.10-ED-14, we did refer to the studies that we are aware of that have numbers on the potential four RNG in Canada or in Ontario.

Enbridge hasn't independently done any assessment of the market other than reviewing the studies that you see there, so I don't think we could provide anything beyond what's in those studies.

Then the only other thing I would note is that these studies are looking at Ontario, or looking at Canada, and I'll just note that Enbridge would not be constrained to only bringing in RNG that is produced within the province.  We could also have renewable natural gas that is coming in through other jurisdictions, the same way that natural gas comes into Ontario on pipelines.  We're connected to various natural gas production regions.  It would be the same for renewable natural gas.  So from that --


MR. ELSON:  Go ahead.

MS. MURPHY:  From that perspective there is a larger potential than would be noted in these studies, which are focused on what could be produced within the province or within [audio dropout]


MR. ELSON:  Now, I think you would agree with me that it's not necessarily a larger potential.  It could even be a smaller potential, in that the reverse can happen and Ontario consumers could be outbid in other jurisdictions and you could have a flow of RNG out of the province.  That's fair to say, wouldn't you agree?

MS. MURPHY:  I would agree, renewable natural gas could flow in or out of the province, yes.

MR. ELSON:  The challenge with having a large number of studies filed without any indication of Enbridge's view is that, you know, Enbridge itself is saying that there is the possibility that service lives could be lengthened or maintained if low carbon fuels like RNG are viable, sustainable alternatives, and so we really want to hear from Enbridge, what do you think is the RNG potential.

And if you want to provide a range, that's fine, but I don't see how Enbridge can say that RNG is going to be a part of a solution to lengthen the life of your pipes without giving the Board some sort of indication, including the pipes they're putting in the ground for this application, without giving the Board some sort of indication of what the potential is, whether that's a specific number or a range.  And I'm talking feasible potential.

MS. MURPHY:  If you could give me a moment.  I just want to refer to our evidence to see if there was anywhere else that I can direct you.

Jennifer Murphy from Enbridge.  We're just looking at I think I.1.10-ED-31 we provided the amount that's in the Torchlight study which was 224 petajoules of theoretical potential.  I think that's the best estimate that we're able to provide.

This is the amount that we have relied on for the Pathway study as well as for the energy transition scenario analysis.

MR. ELSON:  Ms. Murphy.

MS. MURPHY:  Where we did use the simplifying assumptions that the RNG -- or we used the volume of what could be used in Ontario as a simplifying assumption.  But that is the -- we don't have any other numbers that we could provide.

MR. ELSON:  Now, you will of course realize that the theoretical potential is very different from feasible potential, and if you could actually scroll up the page just by an inch, you will see the figure on the screen from, you know, the entire Canada-wide feasible potential according to the Torchlight Bioresources report is 155 PJs per year.  So you can't be saying that the Ontario feasible potential is higher than the entire feasible potential for Canada?


MS. MURPHY:  What I'm saying is we don't have any better numbers than what is in the report.  I think the difference between feasible -- what's feasible today and what is feasible in the future, that's to be determined.

Over time there will be technological advancements and RNG upgrading and production technologies.  There will be new sources, new types of fuels that are made.


So we've used the theoretical potential for Ontario, and we've made -- in the two studies.  We've used that and used the assumption that that becomes feasible.

It may never be cost-effective.  Net zero may never be cost-effective, but it is what we have been able to find is the best estimate of the potential that's there in Ontario.

MR. ELSON:  Now, in its Pathway study -- I'm sure you are familiar with the IESO Pathway study?

MS. MURPHY:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And in their study, they assumed that the RNG potential is 2.5 percent of the overall gas consumption in Ontario, and that's far, far below the numbers that you are talking about.  Do you have a reason to think that the IESO got it wrong?  And if so, why?

MS. MURPHY:  It I just confer with my panel before I answer that?

MR. WOOD:  Enbridge Gas, Cody Wood.  I think with respect to IESO's approach with respect to assessing the RNG potential in Ontario, I think they took a different approach than what Enbridge did, and I think their approach insofar as it is on the public record is well-stated.

MR. ELSON:  Well, you know, I think I'll leave this with the request for an undertaking.  I'm not sure whether you will be able to do so, but I'm going to ask you to take this back and instead of providing a theoretical or technical potential, to, on a best-efforts basis, come up with your best estimate of the feasible RNG potential in Ontario.  Is that something you can undertake to do?

MS. MURPHY:  (Inaudible) Murphy, Enbridge Gas.  I don't think that we are prepared to take that as an undertaking.

We don't have any other, to my knowledge, we don't have any other information other than what has been provided.  These are the studies that we are aware of and that we have used in both of the studies that have been filed in evidence.  And it is our best estimate of, you know, based on external consultants that have done the work.  This is the best estimate that we have.

MR. ELSON:  I'm going to ask you one more undertaking.


Could you reach out to Torchlight Bioresources and ask them to provide the breakdown of the feasible RNG potential for Ontario?  Just send them an email?

MR. STEVENS:  I don't think that is something that we are prepared to do, Kent.  It would be information without a witness that would be on the record.

I'm sure there is going to an variety of different numbers put forward by people based on documents that are out there, but Torchlight is not being put forward as a witness for Enbridge in this proceeding.

MR. ELSON:  Well, maybe I should clarify, Mr. Stevens.  Your panel is relying on the Torchlight Bioresources report, and in particular, it's relying on the theoretical RNG potential for Ontario.  That report also provides the feasible RNG potential but it is just not broken down for Ontario.

I actually have emailed with them, so if you do email them I'm sure you can get an answer, and it's far better to rely on their estimate.  Either way, you are relying on it -- on a third-party's estimate.

You are relying on their less accurate theoretical potential, or their more accurate feasible potential.


So I'll repeat the question one more time and I'll move on.  Maybe can you take it under advisement.

MR. STEVENS:  We can't take it under advisement.

You'll have heard Ms. Murphy talk about her discomfortable with using the concept of today's feasible RNG potential.

But rather than argue about things, we've noted the undertaking, which is -- we've -- sorry, the request, which is to reach out to Torchlight for the feasible RNG potential in Ontario and we have taken that under advisement, and we either answer it or provide our reasons why we're not answering it.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, I will mark that with the caveat that Mr. Stevens attached too it, JT1.15.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.15:  UNDER ADVISEMENT, TO REACH OUT TO TORCHLIGHT FOR THE FEASIBLE RNG POTENTIAL IN ONTARIO; TO EITHER ANSWER OR PROVIDE REASONS WHY NOT.


MR. ELSON:  I have another question on this topic of RNG, turning to ED-23.  All of the interrogatories that I'll be asking you about are prefaced with 1.10 so it is 1.10 ED-23.

This would be a question for Posterity.

And if you turn down to page 2 on ED-23, it says that RNG as a percentage is increasing up to 13 percent in 2038; do you see that there?

MR. TIESSEN:  Yes.  This is Alex Tiessen from Posterity group.  I see that.


MR. ELSON:  How would it impact the results directionally if RNG potential is 2.5 percent instead of 13 percent?

MR. TIESSEN:  Can you -- so I want to make sure -- thanks, Kent, for that question.  How would it impact the potential impact the RNG for this scenario, if --


MR. ELSON:  No -- no --

MR. TIESSEN:  -- the Ontario potential was 2.5 percent?  Would you mind clarifying the question?

MR. ELSON:  Yes.  If you assume that the maximum amount of RNG would be 2.5 percent of the current natural gas throughput, how would that impact the results of the report that you prepared for Enbridge?


MR. TIESSEN:  Thanks, Kent for your question.  The -- what I can say is the 13 percent we are showing annual RNG demand along the bottom row of the referenced table, 105 petajoules is about 10 percent of the current gas -- RNG on Enbridge's gas system today, roughly.  So it would -- the percentage of total energy would be roughly a quarter of what's shown in 2038.

MR. ELSON:  I believe 2.5 percent of the current gas consumption comes to about 23 petajoules, so why don't we talk about it in petajoules.

MR. TIESSEN:  Sure.

MR. ELSON:  Let's say 24 to round it up.

How would it impact your study if the maximum amount of RNG was 24 petajoules as opposed to what you have here, which is 105?

MR. SHIPLEY:  Did you want me to jump in, Alex?

MR. TIESSEN:  Yeah go, ahead, Dave.

MR. SHIPLEY:  So this is Dave Shipley with Posterity Group.

If we didn't change anything else in the model, then that RNG would be replaced by traditional natural gas.  That's the way our model would work.  But if we increased some other low-carbon fuel like hydrogen or something else, then we would do that instead.

MR. ELSON:  So either it would be replaced with fossil gas, which would be increase the GHG emissions, or you would replace it with a more expensive low-carbon fuel, such as hydrogen.

MR. SHIPLEY:  Or you could change something else in that scenario.

MR. TIESSEN:  Again, Alex Tiessen from Posterity Group.

Just to be clear, we are not saying it would be replaced with a more expensive carbon gas.

I think what we would -- I guess what we're saying is it could be replaced by any gaseous fuel, and it is uncertain what costs are for other low-carbon gas into the future, and so if RNG potential was lower it could be replaced with a different gaseous fuel that wasn't traditional fossil gas, and that way -- so we could model either the replacement with fossil gas or another low-carbon gas.

MR. ELSON:  I mean, your other option is hydrogen, right?

MR. SHIPLEY:  In the -- in the --


MR. TIESSEN:  Go ahead, Dave.

MR. SHIPLEY:  Yeah, that's right, in this particular scenario, that's right.

MR. ELSON:  Or electrification, I guess.

MR. SHIPLEY:  Yeah, or, you know, there is natural gas with carbon capture is another option.

MR. ELSON:  I'm going to turn to Environmental Defence 26, and I will then be referring to a study referred to in that interrogatory, which is how green is blue hydrogen, just to give you a heads-up.  And this is a question for Guidehouse.

And so we had asked some questions about upstream emissions, and we did receive some answers, and, you know, one of the answers that we received is that Guidehouse disagrees with this peer-reviewed paper that estimates the upstream emissions from blue hydrogen.

If we could actually turn to that report, because I have another follow-up question so that we can really narrow into where the disagreement is, and if you turn to page 1679 of this document.

And so here we have the table in this report by Drs. Howarth and Jacobson, where they break out the different elements of the upstream emissions from blue hydrogen, and what we would like an undertaking is for Guidehouse -- or I guess I should say for Enbridge to provide a table that adds a column to the right that that has the assumptions underlying the Guidehouse report with respect to each of these elements of the upstream emissions from blue hydrogen.

MR. STEVENS:  Thanks, Kent.  I'm sure I'm slower on the uptake than others, but I'm just trying to correlate what's on this table to what's in the Guidehouse report and how we -- how we can take each and every row on this table and relate it to the Guidehouse report such that we'd be adding a new column.

MR. ELSON:  And, you know, I can speak to that, Mr. Stevens.  It may be that the information in the Guidehouse report matches perfectly on to each of these categories, or maybe certain elements of them are excluded, and that's what I'm trying to discern.

For example, is the Guidehouse emissions figure counting for not only the methane that escapes during the SMR process but also the methane that escapes in the energy used to drive the SMR process and the methane that escapes at extraction and so on and so forth, and so it is this level of granularity is really the only way that I can compare what Guidehouse has assumed and what this report has calculated are the upstream emissions.

MR. STEVENS:  So just to, again, try to simplify things, are you asking whether the Guidehouse report or the inputs used by Guidehouse consider each of the rows and, if so, whether they use the same values as set out in each of the columns or each of the cells?

MR. ELSON:  I am asking for Guidehouse's figures with respect to each of those rows, and that figure will either be zero or will be Guidehouse's own figures, so it will either match or be zero or be different.  Or it may be that Guidehouse has one figure that would capture multiple rows.

MR. STEVENS:  So with that context and explanation, Decker, is this information that's available to Guidehouse?  Is it something that could be produced as it exists?

MR. RINGO:  Thanks, this is Decker Ringo from Guidehouse, and in our response to ED-26 we enumerated several differences and assumptions between the emissions factor.

We assumed for blue hydrogen production in the emissions factor that is presented in the paper by Howarth and Jacobson.  Those assumptions, you know, I can call up several of them now, you see the note -- if you scroll down two inches you will see the note at the bottom of that table says the methane leakage rate is 3.5 percent.

We provided our assumption on that, which is much lower, I think .5 or 1 percent.

Another assumption in this paper is that the energy to drive SMR into power carbon capture is entirely provided by fossil methane.

You know, we haven't modelled the blue hydrogen production process.  We took an emissions rate from another research paper on the topic, and we've provided that emissions rate.

I don't know that -- you know, we are not privy to the calculations behind that to provide every single row of this table, but there are significant differences between this paper and others that are available, one of which we've cited as a footnote in our response to ED-26.

MR. ELSON:  And I have seen that information, and I was still at a loss in trying to come up with a comprehensive understanding on each of these elements where there is -- where there are differences and why.

And, you know, we had actually originally asked for an additional column to be added so that we can have that greater level of specificity rather than a sort of piecemeal response, so we would very much appreciate recreating this table with a column for the assumptions that were used in the Guidehouse port.  Again, that would either be a zero or the same number or a different number or a number that spreads across multiple rows.

Can you undertake to provide that?

MR. STEVENS:  Well, again, I'm in your hands, Decker, to explain whether what's being asked is something that's achievable [audio dropout]


MR. RINGO:  It's -- you know, the reason we -- I recall that request, Mr. Elson, and the reason we declined it from the initial IR was that we don't have access to the calculations that led to the emissions rate assumed from the report that we referenced.

I mean, we could piece something together but I -- you know, there is no guarantee that it would match the report that we cited.

MR. ELSON:  Well I think all I can ask is that you do it on a best-efforts basis, and being specific about which rows are included in the source that you are using and which ones are not, so that we can have clarity as to what's are what's covered and what's not and what's different.  Can you undertake to produce this table with an additional column on a best-efforts efforts basis?


MR. RINGO:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  That is JT1.16.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.16:  TO PRODUCE THE TABLE WITH AN ADDITIONAL COLUMN ON A BEST-EFFORTS EFFORTS BASIS


MR. ELSON:  Now, in terms of the model that you have, I understand that you have, you know, an input spreadsheet and you run your model and it produces the outputs and the time it takes for that model to be run is, I think, give or take ten minutes.

MR. RINGO:  I should add clarity to that, that is if the demand scenarios -- so there is a whole process.  If one were to develop a scenario from new assumptions and go from that all the way to out puts that are easily interpreted, that involves specifying the demand scenario, calculating the demand -- specifying the assumptions, calculating the demand forecasts for different sectors, applying load shapes to those demand forecasts, compiling those into the input spreadsheet, running the model and QCing and calibrating the model and then interpreting the output.


So when you save five to ten minutes, that's a figure that we gave you assuming that everything else is taken care of, everything is perfectly specified and set up, you hit run and the model does its calculations and it ends.

That is not comprehensive of the full process involved with designing a scenario.

MR. ELSON:  Of course not because that would be -- I'm talking about just clicking -- clicking the compute button once you have set up your input spreadsheet.  And you are saying setting up the input spreadsheet is a lot more time --


MR. RINGO:  By far the most time-consuming part of it, yes.

MR. ELSON:  But if you were to change one variable and then rerun it, that rerun would take about ten minutes, assuming that there is a solvable optimized solution?


MR. RINGO:  Yes, assuming there is a solvable optimized solution.  And if not it could take hours to days.

MR. ELSON:  So we would like to ask for an undertaking to rerun the model with the blue hydrogen emissions factor from the Howarth and Jacobson report.

I understand that that's not the factor that you think is appropriate, but there is a peer-reviewed study that says that it is.

Could you undertake to re-run the model and provide us the outputs?


MS. MURPHY:  It is Jennifer Murphy from Enbridge.  I just want to put my opinion and then Mr. Ringo is free, obviously, to provide his.

In the response at I.1.10 ED-26 (a), Guidehouse has clearly stated that assuming some life cycle aspects and not others isn't -- it would be biased and unbalanced -- to use my own words, it is an unbalanced approach to throw life cycle factors in for hydrogen when we don't have life cycle factors for other fuels or electricity or anything else in the report.

I'm not understanding the value that would be provided to the board in running a scenario that has one number changed when not doing a full life cycle assessment.

And a full life cycle assessment wasn't what was done in this study, so literally that would be the only life cycle number in the report.

MR. ELSON:  Ms. Murphy, you have to acknowledge that life cycle is different when you're talking about taking a fossil fuel, converting it into hydrogen, and then shipping it somewhere else.  You know, you can't just export all of your carbon emissions and then call yourself carbon neutral, can you?

MS. MURPHY:  But what I'm saying is how could we account for the life cycle of hydrogen when we haven't accounted, for example, for the life cycle of natural gas?


There would be avoided emissions, potentially, I'm assuming, that the life cycle emissions of hydrogen are less than that of natural gas so there's a savings.  Instead of seeing that savings you are now going to have a larger bucket of emissions for hydrogen without -- it's just not comparable.  You can't do a study and have one number that's life cycle where nothing else is.

That report wouldn't be valuable, in my mind, to the Board.  But Decker, if you would like to add on to that.

MR. RINGO:  No, no additions to that.

What this would do is -- I'm just giving my interpretation of how the model will respond to this, but I could be wrong -- the demand scenario has specified hydrogen demand for, you know, in the -- by decade, the years, and that hydrogen demand may be met by alternative sources such as green hydrogen from electrolyzers.

That, you know -- that is a process, you know, changing that number and hitting "run" is a process that could take five minutes, like you said, if the model resolves favourably and if instead it runs into constraints about availability or ramp-up rates or things like that, it could take hours or days to process that.  So I want us to be aware of the timeline and expense of that undertaking.

MR. ELSON:  Now, if it takes hours or days, you run this model on a server.  You don't have to watch it for hours or days.  You click run and sometimes it can come up with a solution quickly.  But you are not sitting there watching it for every second as is crunches through the numbers; is that fair to say?


MR. RINGO:  It depends how unique the scenario is.  In some cases we do.


But if the model returns an unsolvable solution, then that requires human interaction intervention to understand what constraints it's encountering and whether -- how flexible that constraint should be considered to be.


So I just want -- if I'm putting this out there for Enbridge's sake to understand the level of effort that could be required to undertake this.

MR. ELSON:  So it's possible that you could put the number in the model and it could compute for five minutes and then give you the output?  Or it's possible that it would come up with an unsolvable solution, and if it comes up with an unsolvable solution it may be, for example, that you can't meet all of your constraints?  For example, you can't achieve net zero under this scenario; would that be an example?

MR. RINGO:  That -- well the model would strive to achieve it, but it might run into a constraint about renewable electricity availability or transmission line installation rates, things like that.  You know, we have imposed limits on those in the model that we would need to be relaxed for the model to resolve.

MR. ELSON:  I see your hands up, Mr. Stevens.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you, Kent.  Perhaps, just to cut to the chase, Enbridge declines to ask Guidehouse to undertake this scenario, primarily for the reasons set out by Ms. Murphy as to the selectivity of it but as (inaudible) practical exigencies described by Mr. Ringo.

MR. ELSON:  Let me ask you another question, Ms. Murphy.

So your concern about the response is that you would include the life cycle emissions of blue hydrogen but not include the life cycle emissions of natural gas; is that fair?

MS. MURPHY:  I think you're partway there.

Natural gas, RNG, electricity production, it's not -- I don't see value in changing the approach.  This was not a life cycle study.

We've clearly, I believe, in the IR responses that Guidehouse has provided a clear picture of which emissions were included and not included, and changing from a not -- non-life cycle approach to a life cycle approach for one fuel would not be a valuable undertaking.

Then, as well, I would bring your attention to I.4.2-ED-125 in response (b), where we've also stated -- this question was also in relation, I believe, to that study that you've provided, Mr. Elson, and we've stated there that we've not undertaken our own life-cycle calculations for blue hydrogen.  We're also not aware of that study and how it would be applicable to our service territory, our customers, and other Enbridge Gas-specific parameters, and therefore, where Enbridge was asked to provide information on life-cycle emissions for hydrogen based on this study, we've declined to provide, because we are not necessarily convinced that that study -- as Mr. Ringo pointed out, there's some differences, and we're not convinced that it accurately represents our jurisdiction.

I'm not saying it doesn't, but I'm just saying we have not good familiarity with that study, so I don't think we would agree to put the life-cycle numbers for hydrogen only into the report, and if we were to do that I don't agree to use the study you've provided, because we're not sure if that is representative of the potential hydrogen emissions that we would be seeing.

MR. ELSON:  In terms of having a more representative, you know, life-cycle perspective, in terms of electricity you already include the gas emissions from gas plants, right, Mr. Ringo?

MR. RINGO:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  In your assessment?

MR. RINGO:  Sorry, I didn't realize you were speaking to me.  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And so from the electricity perspective you already are including those, so the only other thing to include is the -- that is at all significant would be the upstream emissions from natural gas; would that be fair, Ms. Murphy?

MS. MURPHY:  I would think as well RNG, and Decker, you can correct me if I'm wrong.  I don't think we've used the life-cycle basis for RNG either.

MR. RINGO:  That's right.  We assumed the carbon emissions from the combustion of RNG are biogenic and are not counted in the total emissions reported in the study.

MR. ELSON:  And how would the life-cycle emissions be different from that?

MS. MURPHY:  If I could add to that, I don't think we've accounted for the reduction in methane emissions from landfills or digesters.

MR. RINGO:  That's correct.

MR. ELSON:  And that's because landfills have to flare their emissions anyways, right?

MS. MURPHY:  In some cases they do.  There may be some RNG work that we're buying.

MR. ELSON:  Ms. Murphy, it is almost all landfills, isn't it, by volume of gas?

MS. MURPHY:  You are asking us to change one parameter to make one parameter a life-cycle approach, and I am suggesting that is not a full life-cycle study.

If we are to do a full life-cycle study, the Pathway study took us many months to put together, working with Guidehouse, and a life-cycle study that is fulsome and representative of the life-cycle emissions for all of the fuels and energy types in the report is not feasible in a week or two time frame in the scope of the timing for an undertaking.

MR. ELSON:  What I'm getting to, Ms. Murphy, is if you wish to include both the life-cycle emissions for natural gas -- or fossil gas, I should say, and for blue hydrogen, those are the only particularly significant ones, and so I'll ask one more undertaking, which is to rerun the model with upstream emissions for natural gas and upstream emissions for blue hydrogen, both of which you can find in the Howarth report, "How green is blue hydrogen?", and if it comes up with a result in five minutes, then you can provide that result.  If it comes up with an unsolvable solution, then can you let us know and just provide an answer on a best-efforts basis so that we are not consuming too much of your time.

Can you undertake to do that?

MS. MURPHY:  I don't think we could undertake to do that in the time of -- in an undertaking response.

It would take -- you are suggesting we use a report that I'm telling you I'm not sure is representative and the correct numbers to use, so I definitely decline to take an undertaking where we would run a scenario using numbers that we're not sure if they're the right ones.

MR. ELSON:  You see, Ms. Murphy, this is the problem, because then you are the only ones with the model, and you only run it with the numbers that you think are accurate, and intervenors are deprived of the opportunity of using peer-reviewed studies to run it with different assumptions, so if you refuse, then you refuse, but, you know, I think you can see that it creates an uneven playing field if you refuse on the basis of disagreeing about the appropriateness of the assumptions.

MS. MURPHY:  I believe, though, that the consultants could take the volume of blue hydrogen that I believe will have been provided and then do their best estimates at those emissions without rerunning the models, so I don't necessarily agree that there is a disadvantage there.

MR. ELSON:  My concern is that what the model is going to do, Mr. Ringo explained, is substitute blue hydrogen for something else, which I assume is green hydrogen.  That is something that we can't do.

You know, we can calculate how much the emissions are going to be, and according to this study it is going to be very, very high, but whether that comes to an unsolvable solution or a more expensive solution, the only way for us to figure that out is for the model to be re-run, but I'm happy to move on and you can just let me know whether it is something you will take under advisement, something you will undertake to do, or something that you will refuse.

Mr. Stevens?

MR. STEVENS:  I think it's best that we take this under advisement with -- certainly with no promise whatsoever that we will be answering it, but if we have any more reasons to support why the request has been declined, we'll indicate, or else we'll just indicate that the transcript speaks for itself.

MR. ELSON:  Can we turn to ED-29, please.

MR. STEVENS:  I wonder whether, Mr. Millar, now might be an opportune time for a break.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  It's 2:30.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.  I was going to interject.

We are just going to do the one afternoon break today, because we kind of had a mini-break earlier.  So I'm going to suggest we break 'til about three o'clock.  That will give people at least a little bit of time to look at the letter, and to the extent any discussions need to take place we can try and do those, though I recognize time is short.

And just as a scheduling matter, I should note, I am going to -- my colleague Mr. Richler is going to replace me for the rest of the day, so I will say goodbye to everyone, but I will be back tomorrow morning.

So let's take our break for about 15 minutes, and we'll see you all just after 3:00 by my clock.
--- Recess taken at 2:45 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:00 p.m.


MR. RICHLER:  Let's go back on the record now, and David, I'll turn it over to you.  Welcome back from the break, everyone.  Kent Elson, you are going to be back up in a second, but I understand that Mr. Stevens, you have a couple of housekeeping matters to speak to.  Please go ahead.
Preliminary Matters:


MR. STEVENS:  I do.  First, can we assign an undertaking number to the lengthy exchange that was taken under advisement just before the break?


MR. RICHLER:  Sure, so if I recall correctly that was the request to rerun the model using certain inputs from the Howarth study; is that a good summary?

MR. STEVENS:  I think that's a very high-level fair explanation of what's encapsulated within the report.

It is noted that Enbridge takes it under advisement.

MR. RICHLER:  We will call that JT1.17.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.17:  UNDER ADVISEMENT, TO RERUN THE MODEL USING CERTAIN INPUTS FROM THE HOWARTH STUDY.


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  The other housekeeping matter is the undertaking JT1.14.  where you (inaudible).  There was a table that shows design demand in Ontario and there is a relationship to gas-fired generation.

One of the questions that was asked was where are the locations of any gas-fired generation that led to the increases on the table.  The suggestion was made that another panel might answer that question.

Having discussed it a little bit further, I think Enbridge Gas believes it will be more efficient, once we're asking the person or the group that put together these forecasts, among other things, to also ask them if they have any information about the location of the gas-fired generation that led to the increase.

MR. ELSON:  So that will be part of the same undertaking response; is that correct, Mr. Stevens?


MR. STEVENS:  Correct, that's part of JT1.14.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.

MR. STEVENS:  That's it.

MR. RICHLER:  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.  Mr. Elson, over to you to resume your questions.
Examination by Mr. Elson (cont'd.):

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  If we could turn up the report "How Green is Blue Hydrogen" again, and turn to page 1683.

And Mr. Ringo, you had talked briefly or alluded an intuition about what the rerun model like look like.

I want to bring your attention to this figure which shows that overall, the emissions of blue hydrogen per unit of heat energy are actually greater than natural gas when you include the greater methane emissions, the CH4 emissions arising from losses in the carbon capture, emissions from running the carbon capture, emissions from the greater amount of methane that needs create the same energetic value of blue hydrogen, and so on and so forth.

And just further to your comment about an intuition, what would you think this would to the model, if you were to put it into the model, these assumptions in terms of emission factors?


MR. RINGO:  This is Decker Ringo from Guidehouse.  I'll state at the outset that Table 1 of this paper notes an emission -- a leakage rate of 3.5 percent, which might be typical in Russia, but I know the typical assumed emission rate, at least in the U.S. in the EPA, is on the order of 2 to 2.5 percent.

And I know --I referred I think in our response to this IR that Enbridge has committed to lower emissions, leakage rates in the future.

With that said at the outset, accepting that I don't believe that these are the correct emission rates to assume for blue hydrogen, if you use them, if you assumed a very high emissions rate for blue hydrogen, then the model may choose to -- invest more in emissions offsets.  It may supply hydrogen via green hydrogen, instead blue hydrogen, which would require more electrical generation to power the blue -- the green hydrogen production.  Those I think are the two potential outcomes.  That's not an exhaustive list of potential outcomes.

It may substitute blue hydrogen with green hydrogen earlier in the deployment process, or earlier in time.

I think that's the best estimate I can provide.

MR. ELSON:  And another option is that it comes up with an unsolvable solution because you can't achieve net zero with the constraints that are built into the assumptions?

MR. RINGO:  That's another potential outcome.

MR. ELSON:  Okay, so I'm going to go back to our initial discussion earlier this afternoon about the inputs and the outputs and just try to put a bow on that.

I was looking back at the OEB procedural order and the letters that have been exchanged, and my understanding is that there has been a commitment to provide the full set of inputs and full set of outputs in a way that's understandable.  I don't believe there has been a commitment as to whether that will be done confidentially or not, but that it would be done one way or another and confirmed by way of an undertaking.

Are you able to confirm by way of undertaking that the full set of inputs and the full set of outputs would be provided?

MR. RINGO:  You are talking about the input spreadsheet that goes into (audio dropout) Pathways model and the output spreadsheet that results from it.

MR. ELSON:  Yes.

MR. RINGO:  Expressing those in terms of native units and organizing them a fashion that's readable to you and me.

MR. ELSON:  Yes.

MR. RINGO:  Yes.  We discussed this.

MR. RICHLER:  So let's call that JT1.18.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.18:  TO CONFIRM THAT THE FULL SET OF INPUTS AND THE FULL SET OF OUTPUTS WOULD BE PROVIDED.


MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  Just to understand how the model works, my understanding is that it calculates the capital investments for different energy solutions each decade, so in 2020, 2030, 2040, and 2050; is that right, Mr. Ringo?


MR. RINGO:  Capital expenditures to construct the capacity required to meet the energy demand specified in the input, yes.  It includes operating expenses as well.

MR. ELSON:  When I say a decade I mean literally not for the whole year but that actual year, the 2020, 2030, 2040, 2050.

MR. RINGO:  I don't understand the question.  I can put it in my own words, if that's helpful.

MR. ELSON:  That would be better.

MR. RINGO:  So the model takes as input a demand forecast for different fuel types, different energy types, electricity, hydrogen, methane, and it has the constraint that hourly supply must meet hourly demand.  And if it, you know, it increases the amount of supply available until demand is met, in all hours of the analysis.


And it does that on a -- we have configured it on a decade basis, so it looks at four points in time, 2020, 2030, 2040 and 2050.  And it looks at the demand in each of those points in time and designs an overnight cost for the capital investment required to expand the supply capacity sufficient to meet that demand.

MR. ELSON:  So when we received the outputs, will they be figures for those four points in time, 2020, 2030, 20240, 2050?

MR. RINGO:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  If we wanted to calculate the cumulative amounts by decade, would we take the amount, for example, from 2020 and multiply that by 10 to get the cumulative, for example, cost for 2020 to 2029?

MR. RINGO:  I believe so.

MR. ELSON:  This program, I understand is written in R-Code?


MR. RINGO:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And in order for someone to run that they would have to download and install R-Code environment on a computer.  They would have to have a computer with sufficient resources, sufficient technical specifications, to run the model.  They had have to have an account with a third-party software provider.  You are talking -- you referred to -- and they'd have to understand how the model works.  Is that the gist of it?

MR. RINGO:  That's a non-exhaustive list of the things you would have to do.

We also have our own Guidehouse development environment, which has its library of code, not databases, but libraries of code functions that are installed in specific places in our environment that the code refers to.

So, you know, it's really not designed to run outside of that environment, because if you had it on your local machine it would be looking for function named whatever in this directory, and you wouldn't have that directory because you are not in our environment, so you would have to recreate the development environment, would be another requirement.

MR. ELSON:  Got it.  Got it.

And so that means, in essence, having -- being able to refer to the other pieces of code that you have in your development environment?

MR. RINGO:  Right.

MR. ELSON:  So when you run the model, you log on to a server, which is another computer?

MR. RINGO:  Yes.  Mm-hmm.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  Your model is a scenario comparison tool; is that a right way to describe it?

MR. RINGO:  It's a KOPESTI (ph) expansion model that we use to comparison areas, yes.

MR. ELSON:  And it doesn't, for example, determine the optimal amount of fuel switching from gas furnaces to cold-climate heat pumps, right?

MR. RINGO:  That's correct.  Those -- when we compare scenarios, those parameters are set as part of the scenario definitions, and they are not optimized by the model.

MR. ELSON:  And the model has a number of limitations and simplifications, and one of those is that it doesn't optimize for demand response technologies, right?

MR. RINGO:  That's right.

MR. ELSON:  And it doesn't include technologies that could in effect shift the hourly demand profiles specified for individual scenarios.

MR. RINGO:  That's right.

MR. ELSON:  And it doesn't calculate the resource needs on an annual basis, it calculates it once a decade at four points in time?

MR. RINGO:  It has the capacity to calculate resource needs on an annual basis or an even more granular time frame.

Often for long-range scenario studies such as this one, we find there is a balance to be struck between the number of time samples and the, you know, the degree of granularity, because you are balancing computation time and, you know, time spent specifying things, so in summary, you know, we could do it every year.  For this study we chose to do it on a decade basis.

For many studies like this we choose decade bases, but it could be specified more granularly.

MR. ELSON:  So in this case you never ran it on an annual basis for this project?

MR. RINGO:  That's right.

MR. ELSON:  And you couldn't, because you didn't have the inputs to run it on an annual basis?

MR. RINGO:  I mean, if we had spent the time developing those inputs we could do it, but that significantly, as you understand, multiplies the level of effort involved in developing that input workbook and the computation time.

MR. ELSON:  Got it.  So if you are examining it on points in time, when you come to, let's say, 2040, for example, the model will assume that it builds the resources necessary, whether they be pipelines, power lines, or power generation facilities, or RNG facilities in 2040 to meet the 2040 needs, correct?

MR. RINGO:  It also has the option to take imports and actually sell exports, so it can draw imports and exports from neighbouring jurisdictions as well, but, yes, everything else you said is correct.

MR. ELSON:  But the resource facilities are held constant between, say, 2030 and 2040?

MR. RINGO:  I wouldn't frame it that way, because we're not modelling those interim years.

They are what they are in 2030.  They are what they are in 2040 and 2050.

MR. ELSON:  But if in reality something would need to be built in 2035, your model, in the way that it's used in this particular case, captures that only in 2040, right?

MR. RINGO:  That's right, our demand forecast that we put into the model would not have that 2035 granularity because it would be specified on a decade basis.

MR. ELSON:  Your spreadsheet that you provided has a tab for fuel import costs, and I actually would prefer not to pull it up, because the PDF that we received is very small print, so it might be easier to ask this question without pulling it up, although you are free to.

And in there are -- go ahead, Mr. Stevens.

MR. STEVENS:  Just wonder, for the clarity of the record, Kent, does it make sense to introduce the letter and attachments from today as an exhibit for this examination?

MR. ELSON:  It does, and while this document is up on the screen, "How green is blue hydrogen?", we should probably mark that as an exhibit too.

So if we could start with "How green is blue hydrogen?", a study by Dr. Howarth and Dr. Jacobson.

MR. RICHLER:  Okay, so we'll mark that as Exhibit KT1.1.
EXHIBIT NO. KT1.1:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED "HOW GREEN IS BLUE HYDROGEN?" BY DR. HOWARTH AND DR. JACOBSON.

MR. ELSON:  And then Mr. Stevens, would you like to mark the entire letter that you filed as an exhibit or each element of it?

MR. STEVENS:  I would suggest it may be most useful to file each of the two redacted exhibits or attachments to the letter as exhibits.  I'm not -- unless you are speaking -- planning to speak to the substance of the letters, I'm not sure they need to be exhibits for the technical conference, but I'm in your hands.

If you are planning to speak to the substance of those letters, then they should be included also, but easiest, I believe, to do it in a disaggregated way.

MR. ELSON:  Okay, so let's say for our first exhibit to have the document entitled Appendix A, I believe.

MR. STEVENS:  This is the guide prepared by Guidehouse for the LCP model?

MR. RICHLER:  I'm a little bit lost.

This is an appendix to what, a letter filed today?

MR. ELSON:  A letter filed today, and perhaps we could put it up on the screen so we could all see.

I believe the words at the top of the page are "Appendix A", but...

MR. RICHLER:  Okay.  So if I understand correctly, there is agreement to call Appendix A to today's letter KT1.2.
EXHIBIT NO. KT1.2:  APPENDIX A TO TODAY'S LETTER.

MR. ELSON:  Yes.

MR. RICHLER:  All right.

MR. STEVENS:  I believe it is a little bit further down than what we're looking at.  Following these tables.

MR. ELSON:  If we turn down one more page, that is the start of the document, which is titled "Appendix A:  The Guidehouse Low-Carbon Pathways Model Methodology"?

So that would be KT1.2?

MR. RICHLER:  Correct.

MR. ELSON:  And then Exhibit B to this letter is a spreadsheet with, you know, some of the inputs.  Partial input spreadsheet; would that be fair, Mr. Stevens?

MR. STEVENS:  That's a fair descriptor.

MR. RICHLER:  Could we just scroll down to that just to make sure we are all literally on the same page.

Okay.  So it is Exhibit B to the same letter, and we'll call that KT1.3.
EXHIBIT NO. KT1.3:  EXHIBIT B TO TODAY'S LETTER.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.

In KT1.3, one of the -- one of the tabs from the spreadsheet are hydrogen costs, and I would just ask for an undertaking, probably to -- actually, to Enbridge, to prepare a table comparing those hydrogen costs to the hydrogen cost figures in ED-131, on a best-efforts basis.

MR. STEVENS:  Sorry, to compare the numbers within this spreadsheet with numbers that are set out in the response to ED-131?

MR. ELSON:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  And just for my edification, can you describe what's in ED-131?  I assume it's an Enbridge answer as to something to do with hydrogen costs?

MR. ELSON:  Yes, that's correct.  It is an Enbridge answer relating to the hydrogen costs.

It actually refers back to Enbridge answers on hydrogen costs in a previous proceeding and saying that it's estimates haven't changed.  We're asking for a table comparing those hydrogen cost figures from ED-131 to those used in the Guidehouse study.  I think that would really be best put to Enbridge.

MS. MURPHY:  Jennifer Murphy from Enbridge.  I believe we could do that.  I don't have a copy of the original -- the exhibit that's listed there from the other proceedings.  I'm not -- I don't quite recall what's on there, but I think under best efforts we could do that if there's numbers on that that we could compare.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.

MR. RICHLER:  So that's JT1.19.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.19:  TO PREPARE A TABLE COMPARING HYDROGEN COSTS SHOWN IN KT1.3 TO THE HYDROGEN COST FIGURES IN ED-131 ON A BEST-EFFORTS BASIS.

MR. ELSON:  Great.  Now back to you, Mr. Ringo.  In this spreadsheet that's at KT 1.3, one of the tabs is an electricity hourly demand tab.  I'm wondering how you came up with those numbers.

MR. RINGO:  Sure.  We began with the ETSA forecast of gas consumption over time for the two scenarios that are being modeled as part of this study.

We observed the decline in gas demand over time associated with fuel conversions and electrification.  We used scenario assumptions about the percent of homes that convert, you know, from gas-fired heating to air-source heat pumps, ground source heat pumps.  Those are, I believe, listed in appendix to our report.

We calculated the associated increase in electric consumption annually, associated with those conversions, also conversions of water heating and other end uses.  That's just for the building sector.

We also calculated expected adoption of electric vehicles to include buses, cars, trucks, et cetera, to estimate the future electric consumption from the transportation sector.

Same for the industrial sector, conversion of, you know, historical methane usage to electric and hydrogen and RNG usage.


And so then we have the annual electric consumption for those different sectors.  We used load shapes hourly for those sector-specific load shapes for buildings, transportation and industry, to distribute those annual consumption values over the hours that we modeled in our representative days in the analysis.

Then we summed them up.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you, now all of the calculations you just discussed are exogenous to the LCP model, correct?  It is upstream of your input spread; is that correct?


MR. RINGO:  That's correct.

MR. ELSON:  And what did you use to calculate those?  Was that done in a spreadsheet?

MR. RINGO:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  Could you file a copy of that spreadsheet, please?

MR. RINGO:  There are several spreadsheets that feed together and calculations from one feed into the other.  I would have ask if you have a specific date of request.

Do you want the kilowatt hours or megawatt per year for space heating?  We can break down the buildings -- we can break down these hourly profiles into sectors.

We can estimate, pull out the data for end uses in the building sector, if that's of interest.  The format of the spreadsheet is, you know, I think you would get more use out of the data that we could take from it and provide, or assumptions that go into the spreadsheet.

MR. ELSON:  I'll have some particular questions but for now we'd like the actual spreadsheet so that we could double-check the calculations.

Could you undertake to provide the actual spreadsheets, please.

MS. GOYAL:  Mr. Elson, let us take that under advisement.

MR. RICHLER:  So for consistency with the practice we've been following today, even though that's taken under advisement we will give it a number JT1.20.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.20:  UNDER ADVISEMENT, TO PROVIDE THE SPREADSHEETS FOR THE LCP MODEL.


MR. ELSON:  And I'm going to take that as an undertaking taken under advisement by Enbridge.

MR. STEVENS:  That's acceptable, Kent.

I mean as I explained when we had our conversation a little while ago, Enbridge is comfortable taking these questions to Guidehouse under advisement, until such time as we can evaluate whether Guidehouse is prepared to provide the information and -- at the same time as we're determining depending on the question of relevance.

MR. ELSON:  And Mr. Stevens and Ms. Goyal, we would really appreciate an answer ASAP, because we need to get back to the Board tomorrow at noon with respect to the still-in-force order to release some materials and it will be relevant to know what undertakings have been provided.

So the sooner you can let us know whether it is going to be an undertaking versus a refusal, the better.

Even if the actual undertaking response isn't forthcoming until undertaking responses are due, we would appreciate knowing -- actually today, if possible, whether those are be undertaking first and refusals.


MR. STEVENS:  I think to be fair to Ms. Goyal, she did indicate that she'd be ready by tomorrow so I don't imagine that the answer will be forthcoming today.

MR. ELSON:  Tomorrow would be fine.  Before we need to get back to the Board.  Thank you.

This is a question for Enbridge Gas.  What documents did you receive and what efforts did you take to test the results that you received from Guidehouse, other than the report itself?


MR. WOOD:  Enbridge Gas, Cody Wood.  In the course of developing the report, Guidehouse has provided some high-level estimates or interim results.  We used those to assess at face value what was represented, so it was the inputs, say on the demand side, match what the expected results would be on the supply side, to ensure that, you know, it equaled out.

MR. ELSON:  Was there anything else that you did to test the results?

MR. WOOD:  Could you provide an example of what it is that you are suggesting?

MR. ELSON:  I'm just asking what else you did to, you know, verify that the results were accurate?

MS. WADE:  We're just going to take a moment to confer with the panel.

[Witness panel confers.]


MR. ELSON:  While that's happening, can we turn up KT 1.2 because that will be what I'm asking about next.

MR. WOOD:  Enbridge Gas, Cody Wood.  So back to what I previously referred to.  We used the information provided in the report to validate that the inputs matched the outputs with respect to how the supply was presented and how the demand was presented.

MR. ELSON:  Okay, on the screen here we have Exhibit KT1.2, and it says it's Appendix A.

Mr. Ringo, what is this an appendix to?

MR. RINGO:  So that's attachment to the letter we've provided.  It's not an appendix to anything.

MR. ELSON:  So it was labelled as Appendix A on the assumption that it would be attached to a letter.  This didn't come from another document?

MR. RINGO:  That's right.

MR. ELSON:  And who drafted this document and why?

MR. RINGO:  Mr. Jason Lai (ph), who is our lead developer for the low-carbon pathways model.  He drafted it for the last three days.

MR. ELSON:  If we could turn to part A.4.

Part A.4, as we turn it up, refers to model limitations, and you are probably familiar with it.

Where does that wording come from?

MR. RINGO:  The word "limitations?"

MR. ELSON:  No, the text in this section 8.4.

MR. RINGO:  Mr. Jason Lai and I drafted it ourselves.

MR. ELSON:  Are there any other limitations?

MR. RINGO:  I mean, everything has limitations.

Is there a specific area you'd like to probe?

MR. ELSON:  No, I'm wondering if there's other limitations other than the ones that are listed here, perhaps one that you and Jason discussed?

MR. RINGO:  Off the top of my head, I can't name any.

MR. ELSON:  Got it.

So I understand this model doesn't have a final and complete user guide, because that's still being developed; is that correct?

MR. RINGO:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And the interrogatories requested a copy of the user guide, and that request was declined on the basis that it contains proprietary information?

MR. RINGO:  I don't recall that one specifically.

MR. ELSON:  I take it what the user guide does in its draft and incomplete form is describe how the model works and that kind of thing; is that right?

MR. RINGO:  We have internal notes that are embedded in the R-code.  We have notes on topics like what you see here that -- you know, you speak about a user guide.  There's no instruction manual.  There's no -- you know, this is the compilation of the notes that we provided to you about how the model is formulated and how it runs.  What you're looking for doesn't exist.

MR. ELSON:  Well, I thought we had discussed yesterday a document that was being developed that was -- I mean, I'm going to call it a draft user guide.

You can call it whatever you want, but a draft document that was in the process of being developed.

MR. RINGO:  Okay.

MR. ELSON:  What would you like to call that document?

MR. RINGO:  Sure, we can continue calling it a user guide.

MR. ELSON:  And that document -- we would like to request an undertaking that you provide a copy, and if there's any proprietary information that it be provided confidentially.

MS. GOYAL:  We'll take that under advisement.

MR. ELSON:  Now, I understand there's --


MR. RICHLER:  Sorry, Mr. Elson.  Let's --


MR. ELSON:  Right.  Thank you.

MR. RICHLER:  -- just record that as JT1.21.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.21:  TO PROVIDE A COPY OF THE DRAFT USER GUIDE.

MR. ELSON:  Now, the one material that I understand is complete is a training video on the model; is that correct?

MR. RINGO:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And the training video, among other things, describes the model, what it does and how it works?

MR. RINGO:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And I understand that it includes information like a discussion of possible future improvements to the model?

MR. RINGO:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  Could you undertake to provide a copy of that training video?

MS. GOYAL:  We'll take that under advisement.

MR. RICHLER:  JT1.22.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.22:  TO PROVIDE A COPY OF THE TRAINING VIDEO.

MR. ELSON:  If we could turn to 1.10, ED-29.  And on page 2 of this document you will see that the emissions by scenario and the diversified scenario have the emissions in the building sector going from 33.41 in 2020 to 30.53 in 2030; do you see that there?

MR. RINGO:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And subject to check, that's a decline of about 9 percent?

MR. RINGO:  About that, yes.

MR. ELSON:  Now, Canada's emissions reduction plan calls for a decline of 41 percent in the emissions from buildings by 2030, and this diversified scenario is only about a quarter of those emissions reductions that are called for.

So my question is why you didn't model a future that's consistent with Canada's emissions reduction plan.

MR. RINGO:  We, in developing the assumptions that go into the demand forecast, assumes there are limitations to the amount of conversions and electrification that can occur over time.

I'll leave it there.

MS. MURPHY:  I can add, Mr. Elson, if you don't mind.  It's Jennifer Murphy from Enbridge.

I also just want to note that the -- what the federal government has put out, I believe, is on a 2005 baseline year, so I don't think you can say a 40 percent -- you are drawing the conclusion between 2020 and 2030, but you'd have to look back to 2005.

MR. ELSON:  I don't actually believe that it is.  I believe it's from 2019.  So maybe you can take that away, subject to check, so that we don't have a disagreement of it.

Can you undertake to confirm what the emissions reductions from buildings are under Canada's 2030 emissions reductions plan?

MS. MURPHY:  Could I just say subject to check?  I believe it's based on the information that I have at my fingertips, but I would say I don't have the actual strategy.

The Canada Green Building Strategy, to my knowledge, requires a federal reduction Canada-wide of 53 megatonnes by 2030, which is a 37 percent reduction from 2005 --


MR. ELSON:  Now, I'm talking about Canada -- [Multiple speakers] -- I'm talking about Canada's 2030 emissions reduction plan, which is different from the Green Building Plan.  The emissions reduction plan is the plan that the federal government is required to make under its climate legislation.  You're familiar with that, I assume?

MS. MURPHY:  Yes.  And I believe that any emissions reduction targets the federal government has set is based on a 2005 baseline, but I'm happy to say subject to check, and I'll check that later this evening.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  Why don't we put a number attached to that check just so that we can have it clear on the record and you can provide a response.

MR. RICHLER:  JT1.23.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.23:  TO CONFIRM WHAT THE EMISSIONS REDUCTIONS FROM BUILDINGS ARE UNDER CANADA'S 2030 EMISSIONS REDUCTIONS PLAN.

MR. STEVENS:  Just to be clear, Kent, you know, likely that Enbridge will simply answer that question at the start of our proceedings tomorrow rather than answering it in writing.

MR. ELSON:  Sure.  In terms of the -- my question to you, Mr. Ringo, was consistency with Canada's emissions reduction plan.

Would it be fair to say that that actually wasn't your choice, because you were provided inputs in terms of how much natural gas was going to be used.  And so that results in emissions that your model can't eliminate.

MR. RINGO:  No, in fact this study and the majority of its conclusions were ramped up in June of 2022, and I
see -- I looked up the plan that was published in July of 2022 so the information we provided in our report that would -- may have hit the web afterward was finalized prior to the publication of that plan.

MR. ELSON:  Got it.  But what I am trying to say is are the emissions per sector something that the model decides, or something that is largely determined by the inputs, namely the gas consumption?  Because the gas consumption was an input into the LCP model, correct?

MR. RINGO:  Yes.  That's a fair question.

So the scenarios that we developed, diversification and electrification here were modeled off of scenario -- gas demand forecast that we received from the ETSA study.

The emissions produced here are from that gas consumption are informed by those gas forecasts; that's right.

MR. ELSON:  Okay, if we could turn to ED-31, please.

MR. WOOD:  Mr. Elson, do you mind if I add something to that.  It's Cody from Enbridge.

MR. ELSON:  Sure.

MR. WOOD:  I'd just like to add that at the time of the ETSA the scenarios that were used to develop the Pathways scenarios that we are talking about right now were on trajectory to achieve net zero in absence of any particular guidance from the federal government with respect to the emissions reduction plan that you are talking about for what the targets for a particular sector would be, and that both scenarios within the Pathways study do achieve a net zero emissions result for the province of Ontario.

MR. ELSON:  With negative emissions and excluding about 10 percent of the emissions from other sectors, right?

MR. WOOD:  As noted, it does create -- sorry, it does achieve the net zero emissions for the province of Ontario.  Ten percent of the emissions associated with certain sectors were outside of scope and assumed to, in the scenario, be carbonized in step with what was presented in the report.

MR. ELSON:  And those other scenarios, to be fair, are very hard to decarbonize scenarios, like agriculture, correct?

MS. MURPHY:  Jennifer Murphy from Enbridge.  I would say that we don't have anyone on the panel that is a specialist in how to decarbonize the agricultural industry.

What the report endeavoured to look at was an energy-sector perspective, so from that perspective we did not include some more minor sources of emissions in the scope.  And not to say that they're not important or they don't need to decarbonize, but we limited the scope, did not include for example, waste or agriculture.

Though I would note that if there are -- you know, we've included RNG in the report.  There could be some emissions from agriculture that instead of being emitted are captured and turned into renewable natural gas.


So there could be through some of the renewable natural gas in the study, there could actually be a reduction in agricultural emissions or waste emissions.  We just did not endeavour to include that in the scope of the study.

MR. ELSON:  I'm going to have some questions on ED-31, and in the response, if you turn a little bit down the page in A it notes an error in the report.  And I understand there was two errors.  One is that it listed the potential as 240 PJs per year, and in fact the value is 224 PJs per year.

And the other is that it referred to it just as the potential instead of specifying that there was -- that this is just a theoretical conventional RNG potential; have I captured that correctly?

MR. RINGO:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And are you going to update the report to fix those errors?

MR. RINGO:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  Now, if you turn up the page a little bit, scroll up a little bit you will see that the feasible RNG potential for the entire country is 155 PJs per year, according to the Torchlight Bioresources report, which is the report that you rely on with respect to RNG potential; is that correct?

MR. RINGO:  I see that, yes.

MR. ELSON:  And in your diversified scenario, you are assuming that the RNG by 2050 that's consumed is 171 PJs, right?

MR. RINGO:  I don't have the number at my fingertips but that sounds in the ballpark.

MR. ELSON:  So that's roughly 10 percent greater than the feasible RNG potential in all of Canada?

MR. RINGO:  As assessed by Torchlight, yes.

MR. ELSON:  And so are you going to update your report to address that discrepancy?

MR. RINGO:  No.  The feasible RNG potential that is determined in the Torchlight study is based on an economic analysis with present-day gas prices, and the, you know, economics regarding the production of gas in the future.  You've seen in Appendix A, I think Table A2 the carbon prices that will come into effect that will, you know, vastly increase the cost of consuming conventional natural gas, and I take the same position that was expressed earlier by Jen and the panel that the consumption of RNG in Ontario is not limited to the RNG that can be produced within the province.  It can be imported from neighbouring jurisdictions.

Modelling that as in-province production was intended to capture the cost associated with generating RNG and it was, like Jen said, a simplifying assumption.

MR. ELSON:  Your report hasn't all been generated in Ontario, right?

MR. RINGO:  That is how it's reported, yes.

MR. ELSON:  And you don't have a study that says that you can generate 171 PJs of RNG on Ontario, nor do you have a report saying that Ontario's going to be able to out-bid all the other jurisdictions looking for RNG and import that quantity, do you?

MR. RINGO:  We have not provided that, no.

MR. ELSON:  I would like to ask you to re-run the model with different constraints, and in particular, to re-run it with an RNG potential of 30 PJs.

The reason I say 30 PJs is it's higher than the number that the IESO assumed in its Pathways report, which was 2.5 percent of the -- of the current gas consumption.

Can you re-run the study with that one constraint changed?

MS. MURPHY:  Mr. Elson, I'd like to jump in and then Mr. Ringo can provide his response as well, if he has something that he'd like to add.

I just wanted to, I guess, question -- you know, you've asked for the life cycle hydrogen, there's this aspect.  I'm just wondering -- and I think there is more, obviously, in the IRs that were asked by yourself and other intervenors.  There was interest in varying different amounts of different assumptions.

I'm just wondering the value in doing that when we know that the province is currently undertaking a study.  The Ministry of Energy has kicked off a study and has consultants that are looking at doing a number of Pathways.

I'm just not sure that I understand the value to the Board in this proceeding in running additional scenarios and changing, you know, in this run one way and this another assumption.

I'm just not sure that we understand the value of that.


MR. ELSON:  So, Ms. Murphy, if I understand you correctly, the only thing that has value is running the report with the assumptions by the folks on this panel and there's no value running it with alternative assumptions that, for example, may reflects what the IESO thinks.

MS. MURPHY:  Well I was just going to say and I'll let Cara-Lynne jump in as well.

I did not say that that's the only thing of value.  Enbridge undertook this work and looked at two scenarios.

We don't think these are, you know, this is the hard and fast way that net zero will be achieved is in one of these path ways.  We believe these are just two possible scenarios.


So while I agree there are other scenarios, I'm just not sure that in this proceedings is the place for those to be modelled when we know that the government is currently undertaking a modelling exercise and ultimately is the right party to be looking at the best way for Ontario to reach net zero, and that work is under -- being undertaken right now.

But I'll let Ms. Wade -- if there's anything you'd like to add?

MS. WADE:  No, I think Ms. Murphy has captured it.

I would just add that the panel is going to be looking for short-term, medium term, and long-term opportunities, and they will be looking at a Pathway similar to this.

So I think we could come up with an endless list of scenarios to run.  We are just trying to determine what's of the most value to the Board in making their decision, and we believe that the Ontario Energy Transition Panel and the Pathway, that report is going to provide guidance on policy and long-term planning, and that that is the best place to see the next scenario that's run.

And we would also note that, you know, as highlighted in 1.10, section 6, within our plan and safe bets, we believe, you know, the next best scenario also, you know, post a provincial Pathway study that is being run is together with the electric industry and doing a joint study that takes into consideration what you've noted in probably many more.

MR. ELSON:  I'm not asking that a different scenario be run.  The report has an error in it.  It mistakenly refers to the theoretical potential as being the RNG potential, and the study that it relies on has a drastically lower number for the feasible RNG potential.

That isn't broken up into how much the feasible potential is for Ontario.

What I'm asking is that the model be rerun, which I understand takes ten minutes of computational time as long as there is a solvable result, with a figure of 30 PJs of RNG, which is a very -- it is a higher estimate than what the IESO assumed in its potential result.

So if there is any value in this proceeding of the Guidehouse report, then there would also be value for this response.

I would just appreciate either you let me know whether you can provide that undertaking or provide a refusal so that we can move on.

MR. STEVENS:  Kent, it is David Stevens speaking on behalf of Enbridge.

Enbridge Gas is not prepared to run these various scenarios with various inputs, and it's not prepared to ask Guidehouse to run the different RNG scenario which you have put forward.

MR. ELSON:  Could you turn to ED-36, please.

MS. MURPHY:  Could I just also add something, because I am just a bit concerned with how that was characterized, and I did want to address.

You indicated there that the models have been run with an error.  There was an error in the report only where the number -- and it's been corrected in the updated version of the report that's been filed -- that -- the 224 versus 240.

That error was not in the modelling.  It was in the -- it's the typo in the report.  That's been corrected.  The model was run with the correct amount that's indicated as the potential from the Torchlight study.

So I just wanted to clarify that that number was not used in the -- the incorrect number was not used in the model.

MR. ELSON:  Ms. Murphy, I don't know how you can say that it's not an error to use a theoretical potential instead of the feasible potential.  And I believe there was, you know, two issues.  One is the number 224 instead of 240, but the other issue is calling it the potential when it's a theoretical potential.  I shouldn't have said anything.  I am now getting into a debate, and I should move on to my next questions which are on ED-36.

I understand that Guidehouse's RNG costs are based on a study.  In particular, if you scroll down in this response here on page 3, it says that the costs for anaerobic digestion are provided at Table A11, and Guidehouse derived these costs from a 2021 U.S. EPA report.

Could you turn up that U.S. EPA report.  I provided it earlier today.

So Mr. Ringo, I assume you are familiar with this report?

MR. RINGO:  I'm familiar with the assumptions that we gathered from it.

MR. ELSON:  And this is a landfill gas energy project development handbook, correct?

MR. RINGO:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And the figures that you cite come from page 4-3 and 4-10 of this report?

MR. RINGO:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And those are figures for landfill gas, not for an anaerobic digestion facility, correct?

MR. RINGO:  They are figures that describe the capital cost of collection of methane, collection and processing of methane at a landfill site.

MR. ELSON:  And you'd agree that that's different than the cost of an anaerobic digestion facility?

MR. RINGO:  There are similarities and differences between those types of projects, yes.

MR. ELSON:  Well, anaerobic digestion costs more than landfill gas, right?

MR. RINGO:  I don't know off the top of my head.

MR. ELSON:  Could we turn to ED-35.

MR. STEVENS:  Kent, this is David Stevens speaking.  Before we move on, should we mark what we just looked at as an exhibit?

MR. ELSON:  Sure, good idea.  Thank you.

MR. RICHLER:  So we'll mark this as KT1.4, and it's now been taken off the screen, but Kent, would you mind just reading out the title of that report again?  Oh, I see it now.  LNG --


MR. ELSON:  It is the landfill gas energy project development handbook, and it is referred to in the response to ED-36 as the source for the anaerobic digestion costs.
EXHIBIT NO. KT1.4:  THE LANDFILL GAS ENERGY PROJECT DEVELOPMENT HANDBOOK.

MR. ELSON:  If we could turn to ED-35.  And if you scroll down the page in the question here back up to that table.

This is a table from an Ontario Energy Board report, and it lists the costs of RNG from different sources, and you will see that landfill gas is significantly cheaper than other sources, including the other sources that would be secured through anaerobic digestion.

Mr. Ringo, do you have any reason to disagree with the findings of this OEB report in terms of the differential between landfill gas costs and anaerobic digestion?

MR. RINGO:  I haven't -- no.

MR. ELSON:  Lastly, you know, we talked about RNG potential, and one of the things that we discussed is that the potential goes up the more you are willing to pay for it; is that fair to say?

MR. RINGO:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And -- [Multiple speakers] -- but I understand the inverse of that is that as you secure more and more RNG your price is going to go up as you are accessing more and more expensive feed stocks; is that fair to say?

MR. RINGO:  I haven't done an in-depth supply cost curve analysis of RNG, so...

MR. WOOD:
Mr. Elson --


MR. ELSON:  Yes.

MR. WOOD:  -- Cody Wood.

May I just add that I think that that assumption would be barring any technological developments in the ability of the processing of other feed stocks that are more expensive to process today.

MR. ELSON:  Could we turn to ED-40, please, and page 3.

There's a number of tables in response to this interrogatory.  Could you undertake to provide these tables on an annual basis as they would be reflected in your model, and it may be that all the years from 2020 to 2029 are the same numbers, but confirmation of that on an annual basis would be appreciated.

MR. RINGO:  You're asking us to provide demand forecast for years that we haven't modeled?

MR. ELSON:  No, not demand forecasts, but these -- (inaudible) frankly inputs -- they may be inputs as they're assumed or outputted from your model.  I believe it may be that the numbers between 2020 and 2030 are the same as 2020, but confirmation of that would be appreciated.

MR. RINGO:  As we discussed earlier, we modeled four points in time and didn't consider the consumption that happens in between those points.  So for the RNG production that is required for this capacity in 2030, that's an overnight cost incurred in 2030, I just don't think we have what you're looking for.

MR. ELSON:  Got it.  So the 2025 number that is implicitly assumed in your model is the same as the 2020 number?


MR. RINGO:  Our model doesn't use a 2025 number.  It is specified on a decade basis.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.

MR. RINGO:  If you have a demand forecast that says in 2025 there will be an RNG consumption, that's not captured in this analysis.

MR. ELSON:  Got it.

MR. RINGO:  I think that's included in the response.  I think I think it was part (a) of ED-40.

MR. ELSON:  Could you undertake to provide the cumulative figures for each decade, please?

MR. RINGO:  You are looking for the cumulative petajoules or million cubeds of RNG for the --


MR. ELSON:  Not just RNG, for the tables in ED-14, to provide versions that show the cumulative figures by the end of each decade.

MR. RINGO:  Okay.

MR. STEVENS:  Is that something that can be provided, Decker?

MR. RINGO:  I don't think we have that.

MR. STEVENS:  Is it more complicated than multiplying the previous -- the previous decades there by ten?

MR. RINGO:  I would have to check with our analysts who run the model to confirm how complicated that request is.

MR. ELSON:  Was that a best-efforts basis?

MR. RINGO:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  Is there anything sensitive about the information, Decker?


MR. RINGO:  No.

MR. STEVENS:  On a best-efforts basis we will provide the cumulative numbers for -- is it a particular table, Kent, at...?


MR. ELSON:  All the tables in ED-40.


MR. STEVENS:  And is it cumulative numbers by decades or cumulative numbers as of each of the listed years?

MR. ELSON:  They would be cumulative numbers by 2030, 2040, 2050.

MS. INNIS:  For all of the fuel types listed in those tables, you're saying?


MR. ELSON:  Yes, please.

And Mr. Ringo, you have provided --

MR. RICHLER:  Just -- I take that as having been given on a best-efforts basis so we'll number that JT1.24.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.24:  ON A BEST-EFFORTS BASIS, TO PROVIDE THE CUMULATIVE NUMBERS FOR THE TABLES IN ED-40.


MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  Mr. Ringo, you've provided other cumulative figures; correct?

MR. RINGO:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  If we could turn to ED-44.  So in ED-44 we asked for the average and marginal cost of different resources and Guidehouse's response was, well, we didn't use our model that way and so we're not going to provide the figures.  But what we're asking for is the implied values, and so we would request that you undertake to fill out those tables.

In our view, just because you didn't expressly calculate it as part of your model doesn't mean that it has no value.

And the reason we're looking for these figures is so we can compare them to other known figures, with any caveats that you may provide in terms of the cost of different electricity resources and facilities.

MR. STEVENS:  Can you repeat the reasoning there, Kent as to why Guidehouse would be producing things that it doesn't have and hasn't used?

MR. ELSON:  Yes, can you turn back to the...

[Multiple speakers.]


MR. ELSON:  Can you turn back to the table?

This is in ED-44, please, the question.  There we go.

So I we had asked for energy cost, capacity cost of electricity, so on and so forth, so that we could use those to assess the reasonableness of the results and the reasonableness of the assumptions.

And Guidehouse said, well, that's not how we calculated and ran our model.


That wasn't our question.  What we're trying to do is have the implied values, the word that I'm using, so that we can compare the outputs of this model with other known sources for energy cost and capacity cost as they are usually reported.

The values that are used in the Guidehouse model, the underlying assumptions are in values that are less -- much less frequently verifiable.  And so we're asking that the model results be put in terms of the figures in this table.

MR. STEVENS:  Your suggestion is that each of those values can be derived from information that's in the report?

MR. ELSON:  Yes, on a best-efforts basis.  I understand that Mr. Ringo may need to confirm with his team.

MR. STEVENS:  Before turning to Mr. Ringo, I'm going to ask for an indulgence just to speak to a couple of my regulatory colleagues.

[Mr. Stevens confers with colleagues.]


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  I just want to confirm, Mr. Ringo, that some or all of these numbers can indeed be derived from information that's in the report.

In other words, it wouldn't be just a separate, independent, new exercise for you to create those numbers.

I believe you're on mute.

MR. RINGO:  It would be a separate, independent, new exercise to create these numbers.

One of them -- I'm looking halfway down, commodity costs of fossil gas and fossil gas with CCS.  As we stated in our response, the commodity cost is not simply the cost of capex and opex and the amount of energy supply; there are other costs:  associated cost of financing, taxes, et cetera, those things that we have not modeled.

There are, you know, other factors that may be included in the future, including government subsidiaries for different fuel types, you know.


Those things -- this whole -- the report is not intended to take a position on whether those policies come in, or, you know, what the competitive market price of, you know, gas with CCS is in the future.

The report is intended to say, as we stated in our response, if you are going to supply this amount of fuel in the future, fuel or energy, here is the production capacity you're going to need to meet it, hourly demand and every hour that we've modeled.

Here's how much you're going to have to pay to run that production capacity, and you can stack up the costs and put a price tag on this scenario or that scenario.

MR. ELSON:  Mr. Ringo and Mr. Stevens, we would be happy for a response that only includes the costs accounted for in the Guidehouse model, so that if the Guidehouse model excludes financing taxes, government subsidiaries, that's still a helpful figure.

MR. RINGO:  Right.  And in our letter from, I think March 19th, the section on costs of energy that we said we would help provide to you covered that, did it not?  Have we not already agreed to provide that?

MR. ELSON:  You haven't agreed to provide the information that are in -- that are in these tables.

There were some specific requests that we had asked for, you know, prior to the technical conference.  And what we had actually asked for was all of the outputs, including some examples.

So this is separate from the March 19th letter.  So, you know, again, we just request the undertaking that you calculate these costs, these units' costs in the tables in ED-44, on a best-efforts basis, including only those costs covered by the Guidehouse report.

MR. STEVENS:  Does that raise concerns about confidentiality, Decker?

MR. RINGO:  No, it's concern over whether the data available will allow that -- will enable that calculation.

MR. STEVENS:  Is it possible, Kent, for this to be provided on a best-efforts basis, and with explanation as to why some or all of this information can't be provided, as well as cross-reference where appropriate to the information already been -- that's already been promised in the March 19th letter?

MR. ELSON:  Yes, thank you, Mr. Stevens.

MR. RICHLER:  All right.  Let's call that JT1.25.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.25:  TO CALCULATE THE UNITS' COSTS IN THE TABLES IN ED-44, ON A BEST-EFFORTS BASIS, INCLUDING ONLY THOSE COSTS COVERED BY THE GUIDEHOUSE REPORT.

MR. ELSON:  Right.  And I'm going to turn now to ED-51 just to confirm.

So the model didn't analyze the capacity of electric thermal storage units to cost-effectively reduce the coincident peak demand of fully electrified heating systems, and I'm just confirming that you didn't do that because -- and you can't do it now -- because the model doesn't account for demand-side factors; is that right?

MR. RINGO:  The model is capable of modelling behind-the-meter energy storage.  That's -- so it's not the lack of capability that prevents storage, local storage calculations.

MR. ELSON:  Got it.  So electric thermal storage wasn't modelled because that wasn't part of your scenario that you were given?

MR. RINGO:  That's right.  Electric thermal storage, the resistance heaters through piles of bricks, it was not in our scenario.

MR. ELSON:  You say resistance heaters through piles of bricks.  You also didn't model, of course, the electric thermal storage that works with heat pumps?

MR. RINGO:  That's correct.

MR. ELSON:  If we could turn to ED-54.

MR. WOOD:
Sorry, excuse me, I would just like to interject on that.

As part of Guidehouse's response, I think it is important that as indicated in their response to ED-51 that they focused on modelling interventions that reduced annual demand and annual consumption and not interventions that displaced the peak impacts but still provided the same amount or similar amount of annual demand.

MR. ELSON:  Yeah, that's a good point.

Mr. Ringo, why did you take make that decision to focus on annual and not on interventions that reduce the peak?

MR. RINGO:  The goal of the study was to achieve emissions of net zero, and to achieve emissions of net zero you need to reduce consumption that reduces emissions.

That was our kind of objective function there.  The --


MR. ELSON:  But you also want to do it as cheaply as possible.

MR. RINGO:  Right.

MR. ELSON:  So wouldn't you also want to look at interventions that reduce the peak, or --


MR. RINGO:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  -- was that not part of your scenario that you were given?

MR. RINGO:  Well, as you noted, our model lacked the capability to select demand response as a supply resource, but, no, it just -- it was out of scope for the analysis that we conducted.

MR. ELSON:  Got it.  And when you say it was out of scope of the analysis, that was out of scope of what you were asked to do by Enbridge.

MR. RINGO:  In discussing the scenario definitions with Enbridge, demand response was not a supply technology that we considered.

MR. ELSON:  So it was more --


MS. MURPHY:  Sorry, Jennifer Murphy from Enbridge.

I just want to -- just the way you're characterizing it, Kent, I just want to point out that it wasn't -- you know, Enbridge didn't define something, give it to Guidehouse, they modelled it.

We worked collaboratively.  So I just wanted to correct that on the record.  It wasn't the scenario that Guidehouse was given, it was the scenario that we cooperatively put together.

MR. ELSON:  I'll turn to ED-54, please.

There is a question in ED-54 about the costs of batteries versus the costs of hydrogen and how they changed over time.

And this is another question where we would appreciate you calculating the implied values, and similar to the previous question, you declined to provide the answer on the basis that this wasn't one of the assumptions that you used to generate your output, but the reason that we are looking for these values is so that we can test the outputs, as opposed to determining what the inputs were.

And so we would ask that you complete the chart in ED-54 on a best-efforts basis, including only the costs that the Guidehouse study covered.

MR. STEVENS:  It is David Stevens speaking for counsel for Enbridge.

Decker, is it possible to complete this table on a best-efforts basis with the same sort of caveats and conditions as were set out [audio dropout] --


MR. RINGO:  My concern here --


MR. STEVENS:  -- JT1.25?

MR. RINGO:  My concern -- and I appreciate where you're going with this, Kent, and I understand why the information would make a good comparator for you -- is that -- my concern is that our model -- you know, within the model electricity is -- and, you know, conventional natural gas are consumed to produce hydrogen in both, you know, a green hydrogen and a blue hydrogen process.

That hydrogen is lumped together, and some of it is put into storage, some of it is consumed, some of it is used for power generation, drawing upon storage or not, and then, you know, that power generation is part of all the power generation that's going on in the model, so tracking those individual streams of energy in the conversion processes they go through is not something the model's configured to do, because the cost, you know, if you look at, for instance, row 2 of your table here, energy dollars per megawatt hour of hydrogen power generation, that, you know, requires tracking the cost of, you know, the gas that was consumed to produce the blue hydrogen to -- you know, it's just, there aren't interim steps specified in the model that would make this a calculation that can be completed on the time frame we have for undertakings.

It is a more complex question, so it's not a --


MR. ELSON:  The capacity question, I guess, would be more simple.  It is the energy question that is more complex, because for the energy question you need to determine the operating cost plus the cost of blue hydrogen.

Actually, I don't understand why that's complex.  I mean, can you not calculate the cost of blue hydrogen and then have that be part of your variable costs?

MR. RINGO:  We can -- so on a best-efforts basis we can attempt it.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.

And so the under -- go ahead.

MR. RICHLER:  JT1.26.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.26:  TO COMPLETE THE TABLE IN ED-54 WITH IMPLIED VALUES ON A BEST-EFFORTS BASIS COVERING ONLY THE COSTS ACCOUNTED FOR IN THE GUIDEHOUSE REPORT.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  And just to restate it, because we've had a couple of backs and forths, it would be to complete the table in ED-54 with implied values on a best efforts basis covering only the costs accounted for in the Guidehouse report.

MR. STEVENS:  To the extents that it's relevant, Kent, it is David Stevens speaking, any of the caveats that applied to 1.25 would apply here also in terms of what Guidehouse can do or can't do.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  Can we turn to ED-56.  ED-56 includes a number of parameters in a table and where they were sourced from.

Can you run through those now, Mr. Ringo, and let us know which ones were determined upstream of the model?


And by upstream of the model, I mean determined by Guidehouse but upstream of the model.

MR. RINGO:  Determined by Guidehouse upstream of the model?

MR. ELSON:  Yeah.

MR. RINGO:  So I'm limiting my determinations to those that say determined by Guidehouse.

MR. ELSON:  Yes.

MR. RINGO:  So natural gas price forecasts, that first row, is not determined in the model.

The overall scenario definitions and high-level implications determined by Guidehouse, and as Jen noted, this was a collaborative effort with Enbridge Gas subject-matter experts.

Skipping, then, to forecasts of economy wide and for gas hydrogen demand, those are upstream of the model.

Electric -- the next row, annual electric consumption and peak electricity demand, that's upstream of the model.

Forecasts of conversions of space conditioning and water heating technologies, that's part of the scenario definitions and is upstream of the model ultimately.

MR. ELSON:  That's enough, Mr. Ringo, and it is enough upstream of the model for me just to see if I can get an undertaking which is to reproduce this table and add a column listing of the parameters that Guidehouse determined which parameters were determined upstream of the model or downstream of the model, and how.

MR. RINGO:  Separate from the previous undertaking you requested about the demand forecasts calculation?  They seem tied together.

MR. ELSON:  To me the demand forecast calculations are one of the elements that you determined upstream, and it seems to me like there are a number of other elements that were determined upstream.  And so what I'm looking for a copy of this table with an additional column, which indicates for all of the elements determined by Guidehouse which were determined upstream of the model, in the model, or downstream of the model, and how you did that.

MR. STEVENS:  Is that something that can be prepared, Decker?

MR. RINGO:  Yes.


MR. STEVENS:  Just to be clear, Kent, we're limiting ourselves to the rows that indicate determined by Guidehouse?

MR. ELSON:  Correct.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.

MR. RICHLER:  That will be JT1.27.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.27:  TO REPRODUCE THE TABLE IN ED-56 ADDING A COLUMN LISTING OF THE PARAMETERS THAT GUIDEHOUSE DETERMINED WHICH PARAMETERS WERE DETERMINED UPSTREAM OF THE MODEL OR DOWNSTREAM OF THE MODEL, AND HOW.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  We would also ask for an undertaking for all of those parameters that were produced upstream of the model or downstream of the model to provide the underlying calculations and assumptions, and to do that with the actual spreadsheets that were used.

MR. STEVENS:  Again, I would ask two questions, whether that could be done considering the time, and secondly, whether there is any confidentiality concerns.


MR. RINGO:  Time involved is a definite concern and formulation of some of those spreadsheets is internal Guidehouse structures that we use for that.  So I'm concerned about that request.

MR. STEVENS:  Just to break those two things down, are you concerned about both the assumptions and the spreadsheets?

MR. RINGO:  I'm concerned about -- the assumptions -- -- the assumptions I think were fair to provide this.  The spreadsheets used to calculate them, hesitant.

MR. ELSON:  Would.

MR. STEVENS:  Would be acceptable, Kent, to provide simply the assumptions?

MR. ELSON:  I think we're looking for something which is different from the assumptions, which are the elements that are calculated upstream or downstream and really how they were calculated.

So we would like the spreadsheets, because that gives us the greatest line of sight, and also there is benefit for Guidehouse is in that they don't need to produce new materials.


So our undertaking request, subject to any objections that may occur in relation to confidentiality, would be for the spreadsheets used to calculate the upstream figures and the downstream figures outside of the model itself.

MR. STEVENS:  I think it's fair to say that this will be taken under advisement.

MR. RICHLER:  We'll record that as JT1.28.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.28:  WITH REFERENCE TO THE TABLE IN ED-56, FOR ALL OF THOSE PARAMETERS THAT WERE PRODUCED UPSTREAM OF THE MODEL OR DOWNSTREAM OF THE MODEL TO PROVIDE THE UNDERLYING CALCULATIONS AND ASSUMPTIONS, AND TO DO THAT WITH THE ACTUAL SPREADSHEETS THAT WERE USED, (UNDER ADVISEMENT.)


MR. RICHLER:  And Mr. Elson, just a reminder that you are approaching the end of your allotted time.

MR. ELSON:  My understanding is that I still have until 4:45 from Ms. Walter, but I am nearing the end of that.


So if I could turn to ED-62 and item (b), and can I probably ask this question of you, Mr. Ringo, without pulling up the actual interrogatory response.


It talks about using levellized costs, and I understand you used levellized costs for a new generation resources and for new T&D, transmission and distribution; is that correct?


MR. RINGO:  Transmission, that is correct.  Not distribution.


MR. ELSON:  Not distribution?  Did you not use levellized costs for distribution?

MR. RINGO:  Let me see where it is that we're talking about this.  It is in -- what subsection of ED-62?  I don't see where we're seeing the levellized costs on the screen.

MR. ELSON:  Yeah, I have it in my notes as being discussed in ED-62(b) but, you know, I may have the wrong cite here.

Maybe you could take away as an undertaking to confirm whether you used levellized costs for generational resources for electricity and gas transmission, electricity and gas distribution, and for customer energy-efficiency retrofits.  Can you speak to any of those?

MR. RINGO:  Customer efficiency retrofits were assumed to be at one time overnight expense.  Those were not levellized costs.  I think we explained that in the response.

For -- I mean, we have two elements of the -- of the generation resources that we cost out in the model.  It's the capital -- sorry, three elements.  It's the capital associated with installing the resource, the fixed O&M costs of having the resource irrespective of how much it's used, and then the variable O&M costs.

And when you are asking what are the levellized costs, those three cost categories are counted when we are summing up the total cost of the scenario.


So I'm not clear on the question.

MR. ELSON:  You did use levellized cost for new generation electricity resources, right?

MR. RINGO:  We used cost of capacity, so that's, you know, listed in, I think it's Table A7 of the report or A-11.

MR. ELSON:  Did the capital cost arise a hundred percent in, you know, one of the four years?  Or are they assumed to be spread out on an annualized, levellized basis?


MR. RINGO:  They -- the capital costs are incurred as an overnight cost in the year in which the capacity is required.

MR. ELSON:  So they are not levellized for electricity generation and resources?

MR. RINGO:  The operating costs are assumed to progress annually into the future, once those capacity costs are incurred and the resources assumed to be installed.

MR. ELSON:  The capital costs are not levellized for electricity-generation resources?

MR. RINGO:  I don't want to give you the wrong answer.  I'm just not sure I understand the question.  I think I've summed up how we handle costs.

We handle --


MR. ELSON:  Yeah.

MR. RINGO:  -- the costs of putting the resource in, which is --


MR. ELSON:  Mm-hmm.

MR. RINGO:  -- the cost per capacity, dollars per megawatt capacity, for electric, or dollars per gas, you know, gas capacity, and that, you know, is -- you know, we sum up the present-value costs and the cost tables we've reported that does also include the O&M costs, which have fixed and variable components.

MR. ELSON:  The capital costs are incurred 100 percent as an overnight cost in one of the four years?

MR. RINGO:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  Got it.

And is that also the case for electricity transmission and distribution?

MR. RINGO:  I'll have to check with our modelling analysts on that.  I don't have that off the top of my head.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  If you could undertake to provide confirmation about whether the capital costs of generation resources and transmission and distribution assets were levellized -- i.e., annualized or not -- that would be appreciated.

MR. RINGO:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.

MR. RICHLER:  Mr. Stevens, you're all right with that?

MR. STEVENS:  It sounds like it's information available to Guidehouse, so, yes.

MR. RICHLER:  So that will be JT1.29.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.29:  TO PROVIDE CONFIRMATION ABOUT WHETHER THE CAPITAL COSTS OF GENERATION RESOURCES AND TRANSMISSION AND DISTRIBUTION ASSETS WERE LEVELLIZED; I.E., ANNUALIZED OR NOT.

MR. ELSON:  And I think you'd agree, Mr. Ringo, if you didn't levellize them, then the costs that you incur in 2050 are incurred entirely in 2050, even though the benefits would accrue, you know, 2050, 2060, 2070, 2080, if you don't levellize the costs, right?

MR. RINGO:  Where resourced, long-lived resources, whose lifetimes extend past the end of the study, we've accounted for the remaining life in 2050 by assessing a salvage value of the resource and discounting that, so this was a question that came up several times in the IR responses.  I feel like we addressed it there.

MR. ELSON:  Got it.  Got it.  Okay.

So do you use a salvage value for generation resources and new transmission and distribution resources?

MR. RINGO:  Generation and transmission, distribution was not modelled in this study.

MR. ELSON:  Got it.  Okay.  And you don't use a salvage value for retrofits?

MR. RINGO:  That's right.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  Got it.

If we could turn to ED-64, page 3, and the response, which I thought was at page 3.

If you could turn down.  There is a table.

Sorry.  It is actually on page 4, my apologies.

So according to your model, the requirements for methane pipes decrease by roughly 17 percent between 2020 and 2030, subject to check, in the diversified scenario, you know, the high-gas scenario?

MR. RINGO:  Okay.  I haven't calculated the percentage, but --


MR. ELSON:  And --


MR. RINGO:  -- okay.

MR. ELSON:  -- I just want to make sure that I've understood this correctly.

MR. RINGO:  What can I clarify?

MR. ELSON:  That the methane pipe capacity requirements are declining by 17 percent in 2030, and by 2040 they're declining by 41 percent.

MR. RINGO:  I mean, I don't have a calculator, but they decline.  I can see that -- the numbers that you're sharing --


MR. ELSON:  The number's there?  Okay.

And so when your report talks about the overall pipeline capacity going up in the diversified model, that's because you have new dedicated hydrogen pipelines that are needing to come into -- into play?

MR. RINGO:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  Could we turn to ED-74.

MR. RINGO:  Well, hang on.  I need to check on that.  There's no new methane pipeline capacity assumed in the report.  Hydrogen pipeline capacity, I know there are conversions from methane to hydrogen into regional pipelines.  I retract what I said, but, yes, about dedicated hydrogen.  I need to check that.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  Could we turn to ED-74.

MR. RICHLER:  Is that something you wanted an undertaking for, Mr. Elson?

MR. ELSON:  I don't think I need it.  In the interests of time we should just move on.

In ED-74 on the next page, I believe it is, you have -- sorry, if you could keep going, you have the demand getting peakier, and I'm just wondering why the demand gets peakier in your model.

MR. RINGO:  You're talking about in which scenario?

MR. ELSON:  I believe in both scenarios the demand gets peakier.

MR. RINGO:  In both scenarios there is the conversion of gas-fired heating equipment to electric-powered heating equipment and the uptake of electric vehicles.  The electric vehicles don't contribute much to the peak, as we've assumed that they're optimized for off-peak charging, but the amount of electricity required to heat all of the homes that have heat pumps installed is substantial.

MR. ELSON:  All right, could we go to GEC 20.

In GEC 20, if you scroll down, there is -- I think it's on the fourth page, or maybe it's an attachment.  You have a table -- yes, that's the table I'm looking for.

What is this document?

MR. RINGO:  This is a breakdown of the costs by decade that are incurred in a different scenario, so this is -- there are cost tables reported in the Pathways report.  Those tables are reproduced at the top there.

Intervenors asked for more detail on what's included in those costs for the line items, you know, when we say electric system or gas system costs, what comprises that, so this is a breakout.

MR. ELSON:  Got it.  Got it.  So you made this especially for this proceeding?  It is not part of the standard output from the model?

MR. RINGO:  That's right.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  I believe I am just coming to the end of my time, and luckily to the end of my questions.

I just had one more question going back to the discussion of hydrogen emissions.  Could you undertake to provide a response detailing whether anyone on your team is an expert in blue hydrogen emissions, rates, and, yes, to provide the basis of their expertise in determining what those emissions factors should be?

MR. STEVENS:  This, I assume, Kent -- it's David Stevens speaking -- this is a question for Guidehouse?

MR. ELSON:  Yes.

MR. RINGO:  Let me be clear what the question is.  You want to understand if anyone on our team is an expert in calculating emissions rates from hydrogen production, specifically blue hydrogen, and do you want -- what would fulfill that?  Do you want their resume or do you want publications or --


MR. ELSON:  Why --


[Multiple speakers.]


MR. RING:  -- involved with?

MR. ELSON:  Yeah, why you would say some of your project team members are experts in calculating blue hydrogen emissions rates.

Maybe you say none of them are experts in it, but if you are saying that some are experts in that area, then explain why.

MR. RINGO:  So the blue hydrogen emissions rates that we discussed earlier are cited to a third-party report.

MR. ELSON:  That's fine.  It may be that you say that nobody is an expert, nobody needs to be an expert because we are citing a third-party report, but I am just looking for confirmation as to whether anyone on your project team is an expert in that area and if yes, to provide that expertise.

MR. STEVENS:  Is that something you'd prefer to take away, Decker?


MR. RINGO:  We can take that, yeah.

MR. RICHLER:  So that will be JT1.30.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.30:  TO CONFIRM WHETHER ANYONE ON THE TEAM IS AN EXPERT IN THAT AREA, AND TO PROVIDE THAT EXPERTISE.


MR. ELSON:  Could I have the same undertaking from the Enbridge panel?


MS. MURPHY:  I am going to take a moment to confer

MS. WADE:  Jennifer Wade.  We will take that as an undertaking.

MR. RICHLER:  JT1.31.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.31:  TO CONFIRM WHETHER ANYONE ON THE ENBRIDGE PANEL IS AN EXPERT IN THAT AREA, AND TO PROVIDE THAT EXPERTISE.


MR. ELSON:  For the sake of completeness from Posterity as well, please.

MR. TIESSEN:  Alex Tiessen from Posterity Group.  I can confirm we do not have an expert that would meet those qualifications.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  Thank you for your answers.  Subject to the need to possibly ask further questions to Guidehouse when we receive more details, those are our questions for today.  Thank you very much.

MR. RICHLER:  Thank you, Mr. Elson.  We are scheduled to run today until 5:00, and every minute counts so let's turn to the next intervenor and that is Green Energy Coalition.  Mr. Poch, I believe that's you.  Are you ready to go?
Examination by Mr. Poch:


MR. POCH:  Good afternoon, everyone.  David Poch for Green Energy Green Energy.

Chris Neme will be asking a lot of questions and I have a few at the end, but I wanted to start off with a couple of follow-up questions, if I may.

You mentioned how you -- your program optimizes on the supply side dispatch on this -- once every decade.

Is it clear it does not optimize anything on the demand side?  At least in this application for -- on behalf of Enbridge you didn't have it optimize anything on the demand side?

MR. RINGO:  That's correct.  The demand-side consumption was determined by the scenario definitions.

MR. POCH:  Okay, so I know there's been a lot of discussion, not in this hearing but more generally, that resources like hydrogen or RNG may be best reserved for certain uses which don't have a good alternative, so for example, heavy transportation or particular industrial situations that require the gaseous input as opposed to home heating, what have you.

Is it fair to say then you just took --you just ran one scenario, in that regard, and that was the one given to you by Enbridge and the (inaudible) scenarios, and you didn't -- again, you didn't try to optimize or run scenarios there, alternative scenarios there?


MR. RINGO:  Two scenarios, so the electrification and the diversified scenario.

MR. POCH:  Right.  But apart from that you didn't try shifting the allocation, you didn't reserve any of these resources for these particular sectors?  That wasn't part of your analysis?

MR. RINGO:  Correct.

MR. POCH:  Thank you.  Now, you talked about how you do -- it is simplifying matter, you just did a once-every-ten-years dispatch on the supply side, and you've indicated that you then took those capital costs as an overnight cost and plugged them in from there going forward.

On the OM&A side, on the opex side, I take it you start them then if -- if the resources needed by say 2030, at some time when you tested at 2030 it was needed, resource was put in place.

From then on, you would have captured OM&A costs each year and included those not just every tenth year; right?


MR. RINGO:  That's right.

MR. POCH:  And if that resource in fact in the real world, let's say was needed in 2025, there would have been operating costs in the prior five years.  I take it those would be left out in that example, if that were, in fact, the case?  Is that fair?

MR. RINGO:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  Okay, and I think you've just answered this but I just wanted to confirm.  On the -- you do include customer retrofit costs, and I think Mr. Elson put it to you that you don't have a salvage value for that, so in other words, they are treated as sort of like capital costs that are an overnight cost, but the full cost date in your summation of costs for your two scenarios, even though they might out live the 2050 term?

MR. RINGO:  That's right.

MR. POCH:  Is that fair?  Thank you.  Those are my follow-up questions.

I think Mr. Neme will have some detailed stuff now, and then I'll come back with a few more, tomorrow presumably.
Examination by Mr. Neme:


MR. NEME:  Thanks, Decker.  I just wanted to follow up a little bit more about this issue of levellizing costs and the salvage value.  I was a little confused about the discussion you had with Kent about it.

Maybe we can pull up GEC 25.  As that is coming, in that interrogatory we asked about levellizing, and in the response in part (a), you said that -- you confirmed that a levellizing approach was used for electric system capital costs and gas system capital costs.

But what I think I just heard you say in response to Kent was that you actually didn't levellize them.

You -- if the model said in 2040 that you had to build a new nuclear plant, it would have shown that entire cost of the new nuclear plant in 2040, but then would have applied a salvage value in 2050 to account for the last 40 years of its life, or whatever the remaining life was.

Am I understanding -- which one of those did you do or does your model do?

MR. RINGO:  I -- I think it's the former.

No, I'm sorry, I think it's the overnight cost is assessed in the decade in which cost is incurred.  And then a salvage value is assessed at the end of the study period.  The capital cost is not levellized and annualized over the lifetime of it but -- I think I should take this one away an confer with our analysts.

MR. NEME:  That would be really helpful because part of where I was going to go next is if that was true, wouldn't you have, like, negative costs showing up in 2050, because everything that you've purchased, that your model said would be purchased in 2030, 2040 and -- well, in 2030 and 2040 or for that matter 2020, that had life beyond 2050 would have had a -- should have had a negative cost showing up in 2050?  And I would have thought that that that would -- since many of the measured lives for generating capacity and pipelines and all the rest of it are 50, 60, 70 years, that that would be a quite substantial number.

MR. RINGO:  I understand your concern, yeah.

MR. STEVENS:  If I may, it is David Stevens, counsel for Enbridge.

Just for clarity of the record it sound like we're prepared to give an -- we're able to give an undertaking, Chris.  Can you just describe so we have it encapsulated what information it is that Guidehouse will be providing?

MR. NEME:  Yes.  I would like Guidehouse to clarify for gas system costs and electric system costs if the costs show up in their entirety in the year in which the model determines that they need to be built; like kind of an overnight cost, with a salvage value then applied for the remaining value that is post-2050, that's option 1.

Or alternatively, whether they are levellized or annualized, which the response to GEC-25 would seem to suggest they were, such that if they were built in 2030, for example, where did the overnight capital cost for this 50-year measure into, you know, that they levellized 50-year value and then multiplied it by 10 for the 2030s and then presumably included again in 2040s multiplied by 10.

I think over a multi-year analysis period you would end up with the same result regardless of which approach was taken, but I think -- but the difference would be a significant -- significant in terms of when your model said the costs were incurred or when the salvage value was incurred.  Is that -- is that clear?

MR. STEVENS:  Is that something that can be provided, Decker?

MR. RINGO:  Yes.

MR. RICHLER:  That will be JT1.32.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.32:  GUIDEHOUSE TO CLARIFY FOR GAS SYSTEM COSTS AND ELECTRIC SYSTEM COSTS IF THE COSTS SHOW UP IN THEIR ENTIRETY IN THE YEAR IN WHICH THE MODEL DETERMINES THAT THEY NEED TO BE BUILT; LIKE KIND OF AN OVERNIGHT COST, WITH A SALVAGE VALUE THEN APPLIED FOR THE REMAINING VALUE THAT IS POST-2050, THAT'S OPTION 1.  OR ALTERNATIVELY, WHETHER THEY ARE LEVELLIZED OR ANNUALIZED, WHICH THE RESPONSE TO GEC-25 WOULD SEEM TO SUGGEST THEY WERE, SUCH THAT IF THEY WERE BUILT IN 2030, FOR EXAMPLE, WHERE DID THE OVERNIGHT CAPITAL COST FOR THIS 50-YEAR MEASURE INTO, YOU KNOW, THAT THEY LEVELLIZED 50-YEAR VALUE AND THEN MULTIPLIED IT BY 10 FOR THE 2030S AND THEN PRESUMABLY INCLUDED AGAIN IN 2040S MULTIPLIED BY 10.

MR. NEME:  Right.  Now, regardless of which of those approaches you took, whether you annualized/levellized it or whether you incurred it all at once in a given year and then had a salvage value in 2050, can you speak to why you would have done one or the other, at least one of those two approaches?  What's the point of either levellizing or having a salvage value?

MR. RINGO:  Well, we are capturing the costs that are incurred within the study period for the benefits that are received within the study period.

I think this was one of the concerns with -- expressed in the IR questions, was that, what -- are you counting the cost of a resource that continues providing benefit past 2050 and you are not capturing that benefit.

So the intent of limiting the cost consideration to the costs that are beneficial for the study period is to put the scenarios on an even playing field, you know, recognizing that there are different lifetimes for the different types of capacity that are being considered:  Pipelines versus generating plants.  We wanted those to be comparable.

MR. NEME:  Okay, that's helpful, and that makes a lot of sense to me.  But I'm wondering why that logic doesn't apply to capital costs incurred by customers, by end-users, so if your model said that in 2050 100,000 homes had to have a deep retrofit, weatherization job, and you show the entire cost of 100,000 homes with a $20,000 weatherization job or whatever it is, you are only getting -- you are getting 100 percent of the cost showing up for a measure that lasts 30 years, but only one year of the benefit.

Why is there a different logic for the way you treated residential capital investments or commercial building capital investments and user capital investments from the way you treated capital investments in the electricity or gas system?  Don't you have the same end-effects problem?

MR. RINGO:  Understood.  Yeah, they were handled by different cost calculations, and I recognize there is an inconsistency there.

MR. NEME:  So does that mean you have an end-effects problem, do you think?

MR. RINGO:  I think the way you stated it that there are investments in end-user equipment and retrofits that are fully costed with benefits that last beyond the study period.

Those costs are captured -- the full cost of those is included, yes.

MR. NEME:  And would you agree that to the extent that you have more end-user capital costs, especially in the latter part of the analysis period in one scenario relative to another, that that would distort the relative difference in total costs between the two scenarios, in terms of the way the report was reporting them?

MR. RINGO:  I see what you're saying.  There were more retrofit costs and equipment costs incurred in one of the scenarios, and, yes, that would have an effect.

MR. NEME:  Okay, thanks.

I'm going to change tacks briefly here and have a question for our friends at Posterity.

Can we pull up GEC-57.

So in this -- in your response to this question you provided two tables, the first table that shows annual gas sales by sector, and the second table down below it, which shows peak demand -- hourly peak demands by sector.

I'm wondering if you could explain how you define the residential sector for the purposes of how these tables are put together?  Is it residential -- is it sales and peak demand from customers that Enbridge considers residential because they're residential accounts, or does it include apartments in, for example, master metered multi-family buildings that Enbridge might consider commercial accounts?

MR. SHIPLEY:  Subject to check, I believe what we did was consistent with the definitions of the APS, which means that apartments were in residential.

MR. NEME:  Okay.  So it may be it's more than what Enbridge would call a residential account?

MR. SHIPLEY:  Yeah, I think that's correct.  I could check that.

MR. NEME:  It would be great if you could confirm.

MR. NEME:  So my second question is, can you tell us --


MR. STEVENS:  Can we just get an undertaking of that so we don't lose track of that?

MR. RICHLER:  Yes, let's call that JT1.33.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.33:  TO EXPLAIN HOW THE RESIDENTIAL SECTOR FOR THE PURPOSES OF HOW THESE TABLES ARE PUT TOGETHER WAS DEFINED.  ALSO TO PROVIDE ANOTHER COLUMN TO ONE OF THE TABLES THAT SHOWS THE NUMBER OF RESIDENTIAL HOUSEHOLDS THAT IT IS BELIEVED THE RESIDENTIAL SECTOR SALES AND PEAK DEMAND VALUES ARE CONNECTED TO.

MR. RICHLER:  And we are two minutes from five o'clock.

MR. NEME:  Great.  I'll just try to finish this question on these -- on this interrogatory, and then we can stop.

So my next related question is:  Could you tell us or provide another column to one of these tables that shows the number of residential households that you believe the residential sector sales and peak demand values are connected to?  How many housing units, for example, the -- in terms of what's on the screen right now, you've got in 2030 9.215 million cubic metres, how many housing units is that associated with and, you know, the same thing for each one of the values in the residential column of the table.

MR. STEVENS:  It's David Stevens, counsel for Enbridge.

Is that information, Dave and Alex, that's available to you?

MR. TIESSEN:  Yes, we could pull that out of our model.

MR. NEME:  And that could be part of the same undertaking, if that's helpful.

MR. SHIPLEY:  Okay.

MR. STEVENS:  That's fine, Chris.

It will be part of JT1.33.

MR. NEME:  Great.  That's the last question I have on that interrogatory.  Do we want to pause or stop for the day, or do we want to go through one more?

MR. RICHLER:  I think we need to pause, because we're scheduled to end at 5:00.  So thank you, Mr. Neme, and thank you to all the witnesses.  We're going to adjourn for the day.

We made it through Day 1, and we'll see everyone back here again tomorrow morning.  Thank you.

MR. NEME:  Thank you.
--- Whereupon the conference adjourned at 5:00 p.m.
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